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TYLORHICKEY FLUCKE HICKLIN NORMAN HICKLIN IV ALLEN L HICKMAN COREY HICKMAN  PATRICK HICKMAN  PHILIP HICKMAN  KEITH HICKOX BRADLEY D HICKS BRANDON D HICKS BRIAN KHICKS  BRICE HICKS
CAROLYN HICKS CHERYL HICKS DARYL RHICKS DONAVON RAY HICKS HURSHEL JOSEPH HICKS JASON HICKS JASON ERIC HICKS JIMMY WAYNE HICKS JR KENNETH HOWARD HICKS MARSHALL K HICKS MATTHEW J HICKS
PATRICK J HICKS PAUL N HICKS RICHARD HICKS ROBERT HICKS RYNE L HICKS SAMUEL JASON HICKS TANGIA M HICKS WILLIAM JASON HICKS WOODROW W HICKS JEREMY HICKSON KURT L HIEBER NICHOLAS HIETT
CHRIS MICHAEL HIGGINBOTHAM FRANK JASON HIGGINBOTHAM JOHNNY GENE HIGGINS ROBERT L HIGGINS TIMOTHY HIGGINS BRIAN SCOTT HIGGS BRITTANY LYNN HIGGS MATHEW G HIGH TY JHIGH CHRISTOPHER M HIGHAM
BRENT S HIGHLAND DYLAN T HIGHTOWER JEFFREY ALLEN HIGHTOWER STACY A HIGHTOWER JOSE HILARIO TRUJILLO JOE WILSON HILBURN SAMANTHA LYNN HILBURN SHANE HILDEBRAND BRENT L HILDEN CHAD HILDRETH
BRADLEY J HILFIKER BART AHILGE LEANN F HILGERT TYLERL HILGERT AMBERHILL ANTHONY BLAKE HILL BERTISHILL BRADHILL CASEY ALLENHILL CHRISTOPHER KHILL COLT ALEXANDERHILL DALE L HILL
DANIEL KHILL DERRICKELLIEHILL DONALDHILL DONALD JOSEPH HILL DUANEHILLJR DYLANHILL DYLANWHILL EMILY DANIELLEHILL FRANKWHILL GREGLHILL HUNTERLYNNHILL JACKALEXANDER HILL
JAMES AHILL JAMES LAWRENCE HILL JAXON CHILL JEREMY KHILL JIMLHILL JOHNCHILL JOHN MATTHEW HILL JOSHUAHILL KEITHWHILL LISAWHILL MARCO JEMEL HILL MARTIN O HILL MICHAEL ANDREW HILL
MITCHELL HILL NATHAN L HILL NICHOLAS HILL NORMAN HILL ROBERT LANKSTERHILLJR ROGERLHILL ROSEVICTORIAHILL RYANHILL SETHHILL SHAWNDHILL TIMOTHY WILLIAM HILL TINAMHILL TODD RHILL
TYLERHHILL WILLIAM ALLEN HILL  ZACHARY HILL AUSTIND HILLE TROY HILLEBRANDT NICHOLAS HILLER MITCHELL B HILLEY SHARON KHILLEY TERRY EHILLIARD JOHN HHILLIGES BRIANJ HILLS GARY HILLS
GREGORY JAMES HILTBRAND  GEORGE HILTON Il ROBERT HILTON  ANDREW B HILTY  JACOB A HIMBURG CHRISTOPHER J HIMELICK  BRADLEY KHIMES  JANET M HIMSTEAD MATTHEW HINCH RAYMOND HINCHCLIFF
JOHN D HINCHMAN ADAM HIND DEVAN HINDMAN MATTHEW F HINDMAN  KAILA HINDS HARRY EDWARD HINEMAN Ill  ADAM V HINES ANTHONY S HINES CHRISTOPHER AHINES JR DREW A HINES JOEL EDWARD HINES JR
JOHN HINES LANGSTON P HINES Il RASHAAD J HINES COREY LYNN HINKLIN  GILBERT HINOJOS  VICTOR JAVIER HINOJOSA  JUSTIN ERIC HINSON KENNETH HINSON  CHRISTOPHER P HINTERSCHER  CATHERINE HINTON
KALEB D HINTON RONALD J HINTON ALEXANDER D HINZ STEVEN L HINZMAN THOMAS WILSON HIOTT Il BENJAMIN HIPKINS MITCHELL HIPWELL MATHEW G HIRE TOSHIYUKI HIROSE JAYSON HIRSCHI DANIEL HIRSCHKORN
MATTHEW E HIRSCHL SARAH HIRSCHY SHANE N HIRST JOSEPH M HIRT TAD HISCOCK JAMES ALLEN HISNANICK HUNTER HISSOM JOHN P HISTED HEATHER HITCH IAN HITCHINS JACK D HITEJR KEONTE MARQUARN HITE
STEVEN LHITZ MARCUSHIX VINCENTHO DAVID HOAG STEPHEN KHOAGLAND MARC HOAGLUND KATHLEEN HOANG LANTHOANG JARYDHOAR CHARLES JASON HOBBS DEBORAHOBBS JAMES ISAAC HOBBS




JEREMY HOBBS MICHAEL KHOBBS STEVEN HOBBS TALONJHOBBS JASON EHOBER TRAVIS JAMES HOCHSTEIN DANIEL HOCK JEFFREY RHOCKEY JOSEPHAHOCKEY LONNIETHOCKSTRA NUMAAN HODEKAR
ANTHONY D HODGE EDWARD HODGE ERROL HODGE JR JAMES M HODGE JUSTIN THOMAS HODGE WILLIAM HODGE DAVID C HODGES DENNIS C HODGES DUREE GENE HODGES JEREMEY HODGES
JOHNATHON BRADLEY HODGES RICHARD E HODGES ROBERT WILLIAM HODGES TIFFANY DAWN HODGES TIMOTHY S HODGES WILLIAM N HODGES ANITA HODGIN SKY A HODGKIN JENS RHODGSON MARYANN S HODGSON
CHAD T HODNETT DAVID HODORY WILLIAM D HOEFT LYNN M HOEKSTRA JONATHAN HOEPNER JORDAN DM HOEPNER COLLIN M HOEPPNER WILLIAM HOEPPNER JEFFREY HOERING VIVIAN THOERTH PETER HOEY
SCOTTAHOF ADAM JHOFF ANDREW J HOFF DANIEL J HOFF JR GERALD S HOFF KERRY J HOFF MICHAEL P HOFF  WILLIAM A HOFF BERNARD D HOFFEDITZ CASEY HOFFEDITZ RYAN G HOFFIE BILL S HOFFMAN
DOUGLAS A HOFFMAN E ALEX HOFFMAN JAMES M HOFFMAN JAY D HOFFMAN JEFF A HOFFMAN JIMMY R HOFFMAN JONATHAN HOFFMAN KURT HOFFMAN MARK W HOFFMAN ROBERT HOFFMAN ROBERT A HOFFMAN
STEVEN G HOFFMAN TODD H HOFFMAN  TIMOTHY MICHAEL HOFFMANN  MICHAEL C HOFMANN  TRAVIS R HOFMANN ANTHONY AHOGAN JOSHUA AHOGAN KRISTI O HOGAN THOMAS HOGAN JORDAN A HOGEBOOM
MATTHEW HOGEL JONATHAN SCOTT HOGELAND ERIC HOGENCAMP MAX T HOGGARD Il NICHOLAS HOGGARD TRAVIS BRENT HOGGARD MICHAEL W HOGLE SHARON HOGUE JAMIE A HOHENBERGER AMANDA J HOHENSTEIN
RUDY R HOHENSTEIN AMY HOHL HANS C HOHN AMANDA H HOIT CHRISTEL HOKENSON CODEY HOLBERT ISAAC J HOLBERT DALLAS RHOLBROOK JURELL L HOLBROOK WENDY D HOLBROOK JACOB SHAWN HOLCOMB
BENJAMIN ALEX HOLCOMBE CHARLES A HOLCOMBE TRACEY LYN HOLCOMBE CALEB L HOLDAWAY RICHARD HOLDCRAFT BRUCE W HOLDEN COURTNEY HOLDEN JOHN HOLDEN JEFF HOLDER CLAIRE PAULINE HOLKENBRINK
MARIE P HOLKENBRINK THOMAS M HOLKESVIG DOUGLAS R HOLLADAY ADDIE BETH HOLLAND GAYLON HOLLAND JR JARELL HOLLAND LOREN JAY HOLLAND NATHAN M HOLLAND GERMAINE MICHELLE HOLLAND MOSHER
JOHN J HOLLATZ JASON VANN HOLLAWAY CHARLES HOLLEN JOHN HOLLENBACH JESSICA HOLLENBECK CRESSIE JEMAL HOLLEY DORSEY HOLLEY THOMAS MELVIN HOLLEY NICHOLAS R HOLLIDAY KENNETH HOLLIE
JAMES NOEL HOLLIMAN JEFFREY L HOLLIMAN JEFFREY HOLLINGSEAD KRISTEN B HOLLINGSEAD ANTHONY HEATH HOLLINGSWORTH BETSY COLLEEN HOLLINGSWORTH JAMES D HOLLINGSWORTH
JORDAN COLE HOLLINGSWORTH LUKE A HOLLINGSWORTH MICHAEL HOLLINGSWORTH TRISTON WADE HOLLINGSWORTH WILLIAM E HOLLINGSWORTH AARON HOLLIS CHRISTOPHER A HOLLIS DALE HOLLIS
JASON RUSSELL HOLLIS PAUL W HOLLIS TERRENCE HOLLORAN JOSEPH S HOLLOWAY JOSHUA ADAM HOLLOWAY LAWRENCE HOLLOWAY ROCKY HOLLOWAY VIVIAN L HOLLOWAY SANDY HOLLOWELL
JAMES BRUCE HOLLYWOOD MATTHEW D HOLLYWOOD BRUCE HOLM BRUCE C HOLM COURTLEY A HOLMAN DAVID GRAHAM HOLMAN JAY HOLMAN ADRIENNE D HOLMES BENJAMIN ISIAH HOLMES BRADLEY D HOLMES
BRENDA G HOLMES  CORY NICHOLUS HOLMES  DANIEL J HOLMES  GARY D HOLMES  HARLAN HOLMES  JACKIE HOLMES  JASON E HOLMES  JOSHUA RAKEEM HOLMES  KEVIN HOLMES  KIMBERLY W HOLMES
NATHAN R HOLMES RODNEY RAYSHON HOLMES ROGER D HOLMES WARREN HOLMES SAVANAH JADE HOLMES OSBORN BRODEE HOLMGREN ALLEN MICHAEL HOLMQUIST ROBERT HOLMWOOD NICHOLAS HOLNESS
CHRISTOPHER MICHAEL HOLOMAN BRANDON E HOLSAN ANTHONY R HOLSTEIN MICHELE HOLSTROM BRANDON DEAN HOLT CHRISTOPHER T HOLT DAVID L HOLT DENNISJALLEN HOLT JEDRHOLT JOEY HOLT
JOHN AHOLT JOSHUAEHOLT KEVINHHOLT MATTHEW S HOLT MELISSA ANN HOLT RYAN HOLT RANDALL EHOLTKE MARKA HOLTMAN CLAYTON HOLTON CHRISTOPHER C HOLY CHRISTOPHER LANE HOLYFIELD
KIMBERLY HOLZER DIANA HOMAN  ERIC JOSEPH HOMEIER MATTHEW HOMENEY CHAD SHON JOSHUA HONAKER LARRY HONAKER SCOTTEHONAKER DANIEL HONCHELL BRYANJHONCIK SONG-JUN HONG
SCOTT D HONKONEN BRIEN HONN MATTHEW JAMES HONNOLL JOSHUA HOOD MATTHEW HOOD RYAN C HOOD STEVEN LEE HOOD TIM HOOD TIMOTHY WHOOD BRYON HART HOOK GORDON HOOK MICHAEL HOOK
DELBERT HEATH HOOKER GWENDOLYN A F HOOKS DYLAN CHRISTOPHER HOOPER KELVIN HOOSANIE DAVID EHOOSOCK DAVID HOOTEN BRYAN RHOOVER LOWDEN HOOVER MARKHOOVER RAYMOND R HOOVER
SCOTT HOOVER TERRY LEE HOOVER LUKE N HOOVLER RODNEY FHOPE KEVIN HOPF AARON JAMES HOPKINS ANTHONY N HOPKINS ASHLEE NIKOLE HOPKINS BARBARA HOPKINS BRUCE HOPKINS CHASE J HOPKINS
CHRISTOPHER L HOPKINS DUSTIN R HOPKINS EARL RAY HOPKINS JAMES E HOPKINS LEO J HOPKINS 11l MARY W HOPKINS OLANDO HOPKINS OLANDO R HOPKINS PATRICK B HOPKINS RICHARD A HOPKINS
SHAWN C HOPKINS SHELBY BEARD HOPKINS TIMOTHY J HOPKINS AMANDA JEAN HOPP DOYLE G HOPPERJR DUSTIN ROBERT HOPPER JOHN HOPPER WALTER L HOPPER JR TRAVIS ISIAH HOPPS ROBERT T HORAN JR
MICHAEL J HORBEY SEAMUS M HORGAN  KATSUAKI HORIKIRI  BRIAN KHORN  DENNIS CARLILE HORN DUSTIN MHORN JACKILHORN JEFFREY MHORN PATRICKMHORN TIMOTHY ERIC HORN  TRAVIS HORN
TRENTON HORN  VINCENT L HORNBOSTEL  BRANDON ALLEN HORNE  BRETT THOMAS HORNE =~ GARRETT ANDREW HORNE = MICHAEL RHORNE = TAURSUS ONEIL HORNE  JAMIE HORNER KENNETH R HORNER JR
LAWRENCE LEE HORNER ~ MICHAEL RHORNER  JAMES HORNSBY  JERRY D HORNSBY  WILLIAM C HORNSBY  WILLIAM SHANE HORRELL = ADAM Z HORREX  ERIC HORRILLENO  ADAM HORSEMAN  AMY L HORTON
CONSTANCE S HORTON  JAMES HORTONJR MATTHEW RYAN HORTON ROBERT HORTON STEVE HORTON TONEY HORTON TRAVIS C HORTON  WILLIAM M HORTON JOSEPH HORVATHJR RONALD DWAYNE HOSCH
DIRK HOSEIN IDREES F HOSEIN RANDY HOSEIN RONNIE HOSEIN KEVIN L HOSEY ISAIAH HOSKINS RS HOSKINS JEREMY JAY HOSKINSON ALEX HOSTERS JEFFERY HOSTETLER TIMOTHY J HOSTY SHAWN HOTALING
CHAD HOTARD CHAD J HOTARD KYLE W HOTCHKIN JUSTIN D HOTH JOHN VICTOR HOUART JR NICHOLAS SHEA HOUDE JESSICA J HOUGHTALING MARTIN HOULE STEPHEN HOULE MATTHEW P HOURIHAN ADAM HOUSE
COREY DARNELL HOUSE DANIEL HOUSE ERNEST BRANDON HOUSE JEFFREY RHOUSE LAUREN MELANE HOUSE RICKY D HOUSE TERRIL HOUSE THOMAS W HOUSE TONIRHOUSE KEVIN DOYLE HOUSER TOD N HOUSLEY
BRIAN B HOUSTON DONALD RAY HOUSTON JAMES EDWARD HOUSTON JASON W HOUSTON JODI HOUSTON LYNWOOD SENTELL HOUSTON NATHANIEL HOUSTON PATRICK W HOUSTON TYLER HOUSTON
DIONNA HOUSTON-SMITH JONATHAN A HOVE EUGENE E HOVIS ADAM T HOWARD BRUCE HOWARD CHRISTOPHER D HOWARD CHRISTOPHER W HOWARD JR CLIFFORD K HOWARD DANIEL HOWARD DWIGHT F HOWARD JR
JOSEPH HOWARD  KENNETH EHOWARD  MARCUS L HOWARD  MARTIN HOWARD  MATTHEW L HOWARD  MICHALE HOWARD  NATHAN TEDDER HOWARD = NEAL HOWARD  NORMAN HOWARD JR  PAUL HOWARD
STEPHEN D HOWARD TERRY L HOWARD THOMAS E HOWARD TIMOTHY L HOWARD TITUS E HOWARD TYRONE E HOWARD VICKI JEAN HOWARD JEFFREY HOWARTH JAY HOWAT JOSHUA HOWCROFT DOUGLAS E HOWE
MICHAEL A HOWE MOLLY J HOWE SAMUEL HOWE ALEXANDRIA HOWELL BRADLEY HOWELL CARLTON WESLEY HOWELL CODY SCOTT HOWELL DUSTIN W HOWELL JAMES W HOWELL JAMIE C HOWELL JOHNATHON HOWELL
KENNETH L HOWELL  PHILIP KHOWELL ROBERT ERIK HOWELL ROY LHOWELL TONICE LATABLIS HOWELL  TRAVIS JHOWELL CHARLES WAYNE HOWLE = DANNY RHOWLE TAMMY KHOWLE  WILLIAM R HOWLE
MARK P HOWLEY FRANKIE L HOWZE DAVID HOYE ROBERT L HOYLE RICHARD A HOYNES MARKHOYT HOPEV HRABOWY ERIC D HRDLICKA NICHOLAS J HROMALIK GHASSAN HROUT MILAN HROVAT NESTOR HRYCUN
CHEAU-CHUN HUANG  WEIYI JASON HUANG  TRISTAN HUARD-BRISSETTE =~ ROBERT FHUBA  ALLEN HUBBARD JOHN MHUBBARD RICHARD AHUBER JEFFREY J HUBERT ROBERT AHUBLER SAMUEL E HUCKS
LEE AHUCKSTEP TYLER S HUDACH J SCOTT HUDDLESTON JESS N HUDDLESTON JD HUDGENS SAMUEL JOSEPH HUDNALL STEPHEN ELMER HUDNALL KIMBERLY HUDNELL BRYAN HUDSON CHRISTIAN S HUDSON
JAMES HUDSON JAMES E HUDSON JEFFERY L HUDSON JOHN P HUDSON JOSHUA KYLE HUDSON LAURA HUDSON MARK ALAN HUDSON MICHAEL R HUDSON OREN T HUDSON PAUL SHAWN HUDSON
SHAMIKA DANYELLE HUDSON WINSTON B HUDSON KELLY M HUDZINA KURT W HUELSMAN MATEO HUERTA LUCIA HUERTA FRANCO MARY HELEN HUESCA DAVID R HUESMAN MELANIE R HUESMAN WILLIAM K HUESTESS
AARON J HUFF ANDREW J HUFF ASHTON N HUFF AUSTIN LEWIS HUFF BRIAN R HUFF CONNOR HUFF FRANK HUFF HEATHER M HUFF JIMMY S HUFF KENNETH HUFF MATTHEW J HUFF PAIGE HUFF PHILLIP KEITH HUFF JR
RYAN HUFF SCOTT H HUFF STEVEN C HUFF STEVEN G HUFF TAYLOR R HUFF TRACY D HUFF BENJAMIN L HUFFMAN DERECK T HUFFMAN GARY D HUFFMAN JOHN W HUFFMAN MATTHEW HUFFMAN MICHAEL A HUFFMAN
RYAN B HUFFMAN  CASEY HUFFSTETLER  JASON HUFFSTUTLER = ZACHERY CLEO HUG  ERIC HUGGARD BRADFORD HUGGINS DAVID C HUGGINS ELLEN THUGGINS HEATHER B HUGGINS SHAWN HUGGINS SR
SPENCER E HUGGINS TROY HUGGINS TRAVIS J HUGHART AMANDA HUGHES ANGELA M HUGHES AUSTIN BRIAN HUGHES BRENTON HUGHES CALEB HUGHES CHRISTINA HUGHES CRYSTAL S HUGHES DANIEL HUGHES
ERIK HUGHES GREGORY J HUGHES HAMILTON CHANCE HUGHES HUNTER HUGHES HUNTER HUGHES JACOB HENRY HUGHES JAMES HUGHES JAMES HUGHES JEREMY HUGHES JOHN C HUGHES JOHN R HUGHES
JOSHUA M HUGHES JUSTIN HUGHES KENNETH W HUGHES KIRK HUGHES KYLE J HUGHES LYNNE HUGHES NELSON T HUGHES NOAH T HUGHES PHILLIP L HUGHES STACY HUGHES STEVE HUGHES
STEVEN LEE BENNETT HUGHES STEVEN R HUGHES NARANJUS JACOBIHUGHLEY BRADLEY THUGO SHARON HUGO ANTHONY HUHN ANDY HUI MIGUEL A HUICHAPA AVILA BLAKE ANDREW HUISMAN TYLER J HUISMAN
CHRISTOPHER S HULBERT CRAIG L HULGAN ERICA RENEE HULL JAMES RHULL MICHAEL HULL REBECCA HULL AMY LEA HULLINGER STONE M HULLINGER BRANDON MURRAY HULSE MARK HULSER TRISTAN KYLE HULSEY
MARK AHUMMEL  KEITHAHUMPHRES  BILLY WHUMPHREY  DAVID HUMPHREY ERIKRHUMPHREY FREDERICK DEXTER HUMPHREY  LATRYCE MICHELLE HUMPHREY  NICKOLAS L HUMPHREY  RYAN HUMPHREY
TRAVIS EHUMPHREY BRANDON HUMPHRIES  NICHOLAS HUNDLEY  ROBERT HUNINGTON MARC HUNN  GERALD HUNSAKER  RANDALL L HUNSAKER TYLER HUNSBURGER BRANDON CHRISTOPHER HUNSINGER
CHRISTOPHER M HUNSINGER JASON W HUNSINGER JOSHUA D HUNSINGER BRIAN A HUNT DYLAN R HUNT HAROLD HUNT HEATH HUNT JARED HUNT JONATHAN HUNT KENNETH HUNT KENNETH HUNT KENNETH R HUNT
KYLE HUNT MARK HUNT NATHAN HUNT SEAN M HUNT WENDELL HUNTE BRANDEN HUNTER CHARLES E HUNTER CHARLES ED HUNTER COLIN M HUNTER DARRELL KHUNTER DUSTIN DUDLEY HUNTER JAMARR HUNTER
JAMES DANIEL HUNTER JR JERNEIL LEON HUNTER JOSHUA MORGAN HUNTER JULIUS ANDREW HUNTER MARIAH HUNTER MARK JORDAN HUNTER MICHAEL HUNTER MONTRELE D HUNTER ROBERT HUNTER Il
ROBERT O HUNTER SAUNDRA E HUNTER SCOTT HUNTER SEAN M HUNTER SHANNON H HUNTER THOMAS N HUNTER CRAIG HUNTLEY JR KYLE ALAN HUNTLEY LUCAS AHUNTLEY SUSAN K HUNTOON JOSHUA A HUNTSMAN
RANDALL HUNTSMAN  CHAD HUNWARDSEN  MYLES HUNWARDSEN RICKAHUOT JOSHUA MICHAEL HUPP  JORDAN HURD KYLERHURD MICHAEL GHURD RHENWHURD TYSONJHURD ANDREW HURDLE
MATTHEW HURDLE = CODY L HURLBERT = GARET L HURLBERT TREVORJHURLBERT JOSHUA D HURLEY THOMAS M HURLEY TREVORHURLEY JEFFREYLHURNI AL DARRIUS DEWAYNE HURST  JOHN C HURST
JOHNNIE E HURST JOSEPH HURST JOSHUA KENTRELL HURST EFRAIN A HURTADO GASPAR HURTADO SAIN HURTADO SAIN HURTADO JR DAVID E HURTADO GONZALEZ ANDREW S HURTIG MITCHELL WADE HUSKEY
KAIHUSO BRIAN HUSS ANGELENA HUSSAIN  SYED HUSSAINYMOINUDEEN BABETTE HUSTED HAROLD JHUSTED ANTHONY JHUSTON MADISON HUTCHERSON  JASON J HUTCHESON  MICHAEL D HUTCHESON
ZACKERY WAYNE HUTCHESON JANTZEN F HUTCHINGS ALVIN DELEONARD HUTCHINSON JOHN HUTCHINSON Il RONALD HUTCHINSON ERIC L HUTCHISON JONIHUTCHISON JOSEPH HUTCHISON KENNETH HUTCHISON
MICHAEL L HUTCHISON RYAN JOSEPH HUTCHISON TERRY C HUTH ALLEN HUTHER MICHAEL J HUTNAK JEREMIAH J HUTSON KENT M HUTTON LAURIE HUTTON WILLIAM M HUTTON JONATHAN L HUX BENJAMIN HUXTABLE
NAM D HUYNH GEUMHO HWANG ANTHONY C HYATT CAMERON HYATT JOHN PAUL HYATT  NICHOLAS AARON HYATT JONATHAN HYDE = JUSTIN EDWARD HYDE KENNETHW HYDE LARRY JHYDE LAURA HYDEN
STEPHANIE P HYDRICK  TIMOTHY MARK HYER = CHASE EDWARD HYLAND  KEITH JHYLAND ERIC RAYMOND HYMAN JAMES W HYMAN  RANDAL SHYMAN ROWLAND G HYMAN  TIMOTHY HYMAN  JAMES C HYMAS
CATHERINE M HYTEN ALFREDO IATONNA ISAAC JACOB IBANEZ IGNACIO IBANEZ BATRES FRANCISCO J IBARRA RENE IBARRA SERGIO IBARRA BOLIVAR ALEJANDRO IBARRA-FERRER KELLY LOUISE IBLE
BASILA BARVIN IBRAHIM RAHMA IBRAHIM ABDUSALAM IBRAHIM YUSUF RICHARD IDANGO RICHARD A IDLETT JR MARIA IDROVO DOUGLAS L IFFERT CHAD M IFLAND ROY M IGNACIO AGNIESZKA IGNACIUK JACK A ILER
WENDY ILNICKI FARRELL IMLER MARK IMLER KIMBERLY CULLIS IMM ELIJAH PAUL INABINET TRAVIS INAY JAEME INAY-KEKAHUNA LOUIS RINCROCCI BUCKINDERMUHLE PATRICK W INDERWISH BANE LEE INFINGER
RENITA S INGAL TERRY INGERSON Il JAMES VERNON INGLE PAUL INGLE GEORGE S INGLIS KIP SINGMANSON CHRISTOPHER P INGRAHAM JACOB L INGRAM KYLE RINGRAM MARION INGRAM STEVEN S INGRAM
DAVID Y INMAN  ZACHARY D INMAN  SHELBY ELIZABETH INSLEY = GORDON AINVERNO  NAYYARIQBAL  ANDREW JIRELAND  ANTHONY IRELAND  CHRISTOPHER IRELAND  JAMES M IRELAND  JOSEPH IRELAND
LORENZO IRIGOYEN KEVIN IRISH NICOLE P IRISH HORACIO IRLANDEZ ALICIAIRONEAGLE BRIANJIROZ CHRISTOPHERRIROZ CRISTOBAL IRRIBARRA CHAD IRSCHICK MOHAMMAD IRSHAD PAULRAJ IRUDAYARAJ
BARRY KIRVIN FOSTERLIRVING SPENCERC IRVING CHRISTOPHERISAAC DELONTA JAMES MARTEZ ISAAC GREGORY ISAAC ANN MARIE ISAACSON  JULIO ANTONIO ISABELES MORAN  NOWLIN ISAIA  SHANE ISAM
JOEY YOUNG ISBELL  LUCAS DANIEL ISBELL ZACKERY AISBELL MARK S ISENBERG JAMESCISH CLAUDIAISOLA CALVIN BARNARD ISOM DEREKISON KEANUISRAEL KAWTHARISSA BRADLEY K IVERSON
JUSTAN KIVERSON  SYLVIA G IVERSON DANIEL IVES HOWARDRIVES KURTAIVES COREYDIVEY QUINTONIVEY LYNDEEIVIE DONNAMARIEIVY FRANKJIVY JAMES HUBERTIVY SCOTTYWIVY MOHAMAN IYA
DANIEL JABAAY SHAGUFTA JABEEN PATRICK L JABLONSKI RYAN D JABLONSKI CURTIS JABUSCH ANDRZEJ JACEWICZ ROY LEON JACKMAN BRITTANY EILEEN JACKS ADRIAN DEMARCUS JACKSON ALISHA JACKSON
ALLEN DEVON JACKSON ANDREW C JACKSON ANTHONY TYRONE JACKSON BILLY RJACKSON BOBBY RJACKSON BRENT ALAN JACKSON BRETT M JACKSON BRIAN G JACKSON CARLYLE JACKSON CHAD D JACKSON
CHAD M JACKSON  CHRISTAL JACKSON  CODY JACKSON  CODY L JACKSON  COREY MARCEL JACKSON  COY RJACKSON DAMIEN A JACKSON  DANIEL L JACKSON  DAVID ANDREW JACKSON  DERRIK JACKSON
DEVIN DURAN JACKSON  DEVON JACKSON  DONALD KJACKSON  GABRIEL JACKSON  JARED JACKSON  JEFFERY A JACKSON  JEFFREY J JACKSON  JEFFREY L JACKSON  JEREMY JACKSON  JEREMY JACKSON
JEREMY A JACKSON JESSIE JERMAINE JACKSON JOE NATHAN JACKSON JOHN JACKSON JORDAN JACKSON KENZEL DELANO JACKSON KEVIN JACKSON JR LEON THOMAS JACKSON JR LINDA L JACKSON
LISA MILLER JACKSON LORENZA JACKSON MICHAEL JACKSON MICHEAL A JACKSON MICHAEL JOE JACKSON OTIS JACKSON JR PAUL JACKSON RAYMOND JACKSON REGINALD D JACKSON RICHARD E JACKSON
RODNEY L JACKSON SCHLONDIA S JACKSON SHEREE L JACKSON STEPHEN GEORGE JACKSON STEVEN JACKSON STEVEN B JACKSON STEVEN DEVON JACKSON STEVEN L JACKSON JR  TIMOTHY WAYNE JACKSON
TODD JACKSON WAYNE A JACKSON WILLIAM JACKSON WILLIAM A JACKSON WILLIAM M JACKSON ANIEFIOK JACOB MAURILLE JACOB SURESH JACOB CHRISTOPHER R JACOBIK ROBERT JACOBIK JOSEPH A JACOBIN JR
FERMIN JACOBO JOSEL JACOBO BRIAN JACOBS CHAD JACOBS DAVID JACOBS ERIC M JACOBS JAMESRJACOBS JAMESRJACOBS JERRYLJACOBS JOHNNYEJACOBS KENTON M JACOBS NICHOLAS JACOBS
RICKY GLENN JACOBS JR ROBERT JACOBS ROBERT N JACOBS  WILLIAM P JACOBS BAILEY JACOBSEN  BRIAN KEITH JACOBSEN  MATTHEW JACOBSEN ROGER JACOBSEN  SEAN JACOBSEN  DAVID A JACOBUS
JOSHUA D JACOT JOSEPH JACQUART JOSEPH L JACQUART KENNETH JACQUAY CALEB G JACQUES LUKE JACQUES JASON JACQUEZ JUAN JACQUEZ WILLIAM BRODY JACQUEZ FILIBERTO JACUINDE SHUBHAM JADHAV
DAVID E JAEGER SHORON D JAEGER ZACHARY K JAEGER DAVID JAEGGLE MICHAEL J JAEKE ABHINASH JAGAI VIGNESH HARIHAR JAGANATHAN RICARDO JAGDEO KLAYTON JAGER VISHAL JAGESSAR WILLIAM E JAHN
AMBER L JAHNKE =~ ALEXJAHOOR  JOSE JAIME ZEPEDA  VICTORH JAIMEZ  JAISURYA J JAISANKAR  ALLAN KJAMES  ANDREW P JAMES  ANDREW RYAN JAMES  ANGELO JAMES  BILLJAMES  BRYAN R JAMES
COREY DEMERTI JAMES DENNIS JAMES ERIC JAMES ETHAN JAMES EVAN S JAMES GEORGEL JAMESJR HALJAMES KATHERINE G JAMES KEITHJAMES KEVINJAMES MAGEN LESHAWN JAMES REUBEN JAMES
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(dollar and share amounts in thousands, except per share data)

2020 2019 % CHANGE
Net sales $20,139,658 $22,588,858 -11%
Earnings:
Earnings before income taxes and noncontrolling interests 835,538 1,782,807 -53%
Provision for income taxes (490) 411,897 -100%
Net earnings 836,028 1,370,910 -39%
Earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests 114,558 99,767 15%
Net earnings attributable to Nucor stockholders 721,470 1,271,143 -43%
Per share:
Basic 2.37 4.14 -43%
Diluted 2.36 4.14 -43%
Dividends declared per share 1.6125 1.6025 1%
Percentage of net earnings to net sales 3.6% 5.6%
Return on average stockholders’ equity 6.8% 12.6%
Capital expenditures 1,527,116 1,512,070 1%
Depreciation 702,110 648,911 8%
Acquisitions (net of cash acquired) 88,071 83,106 6%
Sales per average employee 761 849 -10%
Working capital $6,860,802 $5,762,596 19%
Property, plant and equipment, net 6,899,110 6,178,555 12%
Long-term debt and finance lease obligations (including current maturities) 5,282,674 4,320,565 22%
Total Nucor stockholders’ equity 10,788,665 10,357,866 4%
Per share 35.70 34.32 4%
Shares outstanding 302,245 301,812 —
Employees 26,400 26,800 -1%

Certain statements made in this annual report are forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties.
The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “expect,” “project,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “could” and similar expressions are intended to identify those forward-looking
statements. These forward-looking statements reflect the Company’s best judgment based on current information and, although we base these statements
on circumstances that we believe to be reasonable when made, there can be no assurance that future events will not affect the accuracy of such forward-
looking information. As such, the forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance, and actual results may vary materially from the
projected results and expectations discussed in this report. Factors that might cause the Company’s actual results to differ materially from those anticipated
in forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to: (1) competitive pressure on sales and pricing, including pressure from imports and substitute
materials; (2) U.S. and foreign trade policies affecting steel imports or exports; (3) the sensitivity of the results of our operations to prevailing steel prices and
changes in the supply and cost of raw materials, including pig iron, iron ore and scrap steel; (4) the availability and cost of electricity and natural gas
which could negatively affect our cost of steel production or result in a delay or cancellation of existing or future drilling within our natural gas drilling
programs; (5) critical equipment failures and business interruptions; (6) market demand for steel products, which, in the case of many of our products,
is driven by the level of nonresidential construction activity in the United States; (7) impairment in the recorded value of inventory, equity investments,
fixed assets, goodwill or other long-lived assets; (8) uncertainties surrounding the global economy, including excess world capacity for steel production;
(9) fluctuations in currency conversion rates; (10) significant changes in laws or government regulations affecting environmental compliance, including
legislation and regulations that result in greater regulation of greenhouse gas emissions that could increase our energy costs and our capital expenditures
and operating costs or cause one or more of our permits to be revoked or make it more difficult to obtain permit modifications; (11) the cyclical nature of the
steel industry; (12) capital investments and their impact on our performance; and (13) our safety performance; and (14) the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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- TO OUR STOCKHOLDERS

Dear Fellow Stockholders:

This past year has been one of the most difficult years many of us have ever experienced,
with challenges and hardships in our professional as well as personal lives. Despite these
challenges, | am pleased to report that the Nucor Team stepped up to deliver a strong
performance during a difficult year. Our teams adapted to the challenging environment we
all faced and continued to exceed the needs of our customers and partners. Through it all, our
team stayed focused on delivering value to our stockholders, customers and our communities.

At the beginning of the year, | challenged our team to become the Safest Steel Company
in the World. And the Nucor team responded, making 2020 the safest year in our history.
We look forward to building on that success in 2021. Nucor teammates also worked to take
care of the communities where we live and operate during the pandemic. Teammates donated
personal protective equipment (PPE) to first responders, marshaled 3-D printers to make
PPE, and collected food for neighbors who needed a meal. | could not be prouder of how
our team took the initiative to help. Thank you for your dedication and commitment to Nucor
and your communities during this unprecedented year.
Leon J. Topalian
President and Chief Executive Officer FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

At the start of the year, it was difficult to forecast our expectations for our financial performance
given the volatile economic conditions. In the end, our team delivered strong financial results despite the impacts of the pandemic. In
2020, Nucor earned $721.5 million, or $2.36 per diluted share.

Consolidated net sales in 2020 decreased by 11% to $20.14 billion compared with $22.59 billion in 2019. We shipped 25.5 million
tons of steel, steel products and scrap to outside customers, for a decrease of 4% from the previous year, while the average sales price
per ton decreased 7% compared to 2019. Capacity utilization rates at our steel mills averaged 82%. The average scrap and scrap
substitute cost per gross ton used decreased 8% to $290 from $314 in 2019.

At the end of 2020, the Board of Directors increased the regular quarterly cash dividend on our common stock from $0.4025 to $0.405
per share. The base cash dividend has been increased by the Board every year since the Company began paying dividends in 1973.
Nucor has made 191 consecutive quarterly cash dividend payments.

Company operations continued to generate strong cash flows with operating cash flow of approximately $2.70 billion for the year. Cash
and cash equivalents, short-term investments and restricted cash and cash equivalents totaled $3.16 billion at year end. Adding to
Nucor’s strong liquidity, our $1.50 billion unsecured revolving credit facility is undrawn and does not expire until April 2023.

2020 WAS OUR BEST YEAR EVER FOR SAFETY PERFORMANCE.

RESILIENT TEAM, RESILIENT MARKETS

When the pandemic hit in early March and states shut down, we began to prepare for the worst, expecting a significant hit to the
economy. And while that did happen in the second quarter, the economic recovery that began in the summer was more rapid than we
had anticipated. Our teammates and business model proved to be resilient, as did many of the end-use markets we serve.

| cannot say enough about how quickly the Nucor Team adapted to the operational changes we made in response to the pandemic. Our
facilities were deemed essential businesses in every state where we operate that imposed Stay-At-Home orders. We continued to make
steel and steel products throughout the pandemic. Because our team kept our mills running safely and reliably throughout the volatility
that characterized 2020, we were able to take advantage of the unexpected demand from many of our customers. Our commercial team
leveraged our broad product portfolio and operational reliability to grow our relationships with new and existing customers in ways that
will benefit Nucor going forward.

Several end-use markets proved to be resilient as well, most notably construction and automotive, which together account for nearly
two-thirds of steel consumption. In the non-residential construction market, data centers and distribution centers were particularly
strong subsectors. We have worked to build relationships in these markets, ensuring that we are providing the best value-add across
steel making and steel products solutions to serve those customers.

We will continue to work with President Biden and the new Administration to make passing a significant infrastructure spending bill
a priority. We are still driving on roads and bridges designed and built during the Eisenhower Administration. Our nation is relying on
the past instead of building for the future. That’s just wrong for America. Congress and the Administration need to get this done. With



approximately 50% of our steel used in construction sector, there is no company more poised and ready to meet the needs of rebuilding
our country
than Nucor.

The automotive market took a significant hit in the second quarter as many of its manufacturing facilities shut down in response to the
pandemic. However, by the third quarter the market improved and was particularly strong in the fourth quarter as automakers resumed
strong production rates in response to low inventory. We expect vehicle production will rebound in 2021. Despite the market volatility,
we feel good about our prospects for continuing to gain share in this important market.

Demand in other markets was more mixed. The oil and gas sector was quite weak, as increased utilization of remote work and the
ongoing concerns around all forms of travel have significantly impacted demand for oil products, resulting in a decrease in production.
The renewable power sector was a much stronger segment of the energy market. Our steelmaking segment orders related to these
markets grew by double digits compared to 2019. This market is one we are targeting, and many of our steels and steel products are
essential to its continued buildout.

As we head into 2021, our team’s focus remains on continuing to deliver an unrivaled value proposition to our customers on quality,
reliability, and competitive pricing.

REALIZING THE BENEFITS OF OUR STRATEGIC GROWTH PROJECTS

During the year, we focused on executing nine growth projects that represent over $4 billion in investments to expand our reach and
capabilities. We are already seeing the benefits from several of these projects that started operations.

Our new galvanizing line at Nucor Steel Gallatin had an excellent first full year of operations — shipping 39% more tons than we
projected. Profitability in the first year was also ahead of plan. The new galvanizing line benefited from the strong flat-rolled market
conditions that emerged in the second half of 2020.

The performance of our new cold mill at Nucor Steel Arkansas has also been excellent, with shipments almost 30% ahead of our initial
plan. Strong customer acceptance rates following trials we conducted throughout 2020 mean that the mill is now booked out for 2021
at 85% of its nameplate capacity for contract customers.

Our new rebar micro mill in Sedalia also exceeded expectations. The team in Missouri generated a solid operating profit during the
fourth quarter and its spooled rebar product continues to be well received by the market. Our second rebar micro mill in Frostproof,
Florida started up operations at the end of the year.

We made excellent progress on other growth projects as well, including our expansion project at our Nucor Steel Gallatin sheet mill
and the new Gen 3 galvanizing line at our Nucor Steel Arkansas sheet mill. In October, we broke ground on our new steel plate mill in
Kentucky and the team there is still on track to start-up operations late in the fourth quarter of 2022.

All of these projects are helping us to build new capabilities to better serve our customers well into the future. They are moving us up
the product value chain and cementing our position as the most diversified steel and steel products company in North America.

SUSTAINABLE STEELMAKING

We are not only well positioned to meet our customers’ product needs, but also
to be the supplier of choice as we see sustainability and product transparency
becoming a more important factor in product sourcing decisions. Our sustainable WE INTEND TO CONTINUE
steelmaking will also be important as we expect to see governments at all levels

continue to take policy actions aimed at addressing climate change. TO RAISE THE BAR FOR

WHAT IT MEANS TO BE A

As North America’s largest recycler, we have a great sustainability story to share LEADER IN ENVIRONMENTAL
with policymakers. Nucor’s steelmaking CO2 emissions are half of the global SUSTAINABILITY.

average on a per ton basis, and the energy intensity of our steelmaking process

is about one-quarter the global average. This reflects our status as a leading EAF-
based steel producer. Our environmental footprint will continue to shrink as the U.S.
energy grid becomes greener. If there is significant legislative action to address
carbon emissions, we feel very well positioned given our efficiency level.

At Nucor, we are also looking beyond our mills to support the development of new renewable energy sources. We signed a Virtual Power
Purchase Agreement to enable the construction of 250 megawatts of new solar energy in Texas, which is enough electricity to power
about 50,000 homes across the state. This is the largest agreement of its kind for the steel industry. We intend to continue to raise the



bar for what it means to be a leader in environmental sustainability.
EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM CHANGES

As 2020 came to a close, we announced several changes to our executive team. Dave Sumoski was promoted to Chief Operating
Officer. During his career with Nucor, Dave has led multiple steel product groups and strategic initiatives, most recently combining our
domestic rebar steel mill and fabrications businesses. His experience and knowledge of our steel-making capabilities, markets and
customers will allow him to drive the successful execution of our plans.

MaryEmily Slate has taken on a new role as Executive Vice President for Commercial. This is the first time we have had an EVP level
leader in this role at Nucor. We have built numerous market leading positions across our broad and diversified product portfolio. This
new role will help us leverage this competitive advantage and deliver more integrated solutions to our customers going forward.

We also welcomed five new teammates to our executive team - Al Behr, Doug Jellison, Greg Murphy, Rex Query and Dan Needham.
Each of these executive management team promotions will enhance our ability to serve our customers and our shareholders.

REFLECTIONS ON A CHALLENGING YEAR

The challenges our nation faced in 2020, from the pandemic to our reckoning with racial injustice, caused our company to think more

broadly about our concept of safety. Safety cannot simply be about preventing iliness and injury, but must also be about the health and
well-being of our entire team.

SAFETY CANNOT SIMPLY BE ABOUT As we look at ways to ensure racial justice, safety must also include how we treat
PREVENTING ILLNESS AND INJURY,

one another. It means making sure every one of our 26,400 team members feels
valued and a part of this amazing company, and that every team member feels
BUT MUST ALSO BE ABOUT THE safe and free from discrimination based on the color of their skin, their age, their
HEALTH AND WELL-BEING OF OUR sexual orientation, or their religious or political views. We have begun an internal,
ENTIRE TEAM. organizational-wide effort to examine how we can become a more inclusive
company. | am proud of the work our team is doing to execute on all aspects

of safety. But we have so much more to do. Safety will always be our most
important value as a company.

Thank you for choosing to invest in Nucor. We appreciate the trust you put in us to effectively use the capital you provide. Thank you
as well to our customers for choosing to do business with us. We are committed to finding new and better ways to meet your needs for
steel and steel products.

| said to our team repeatedly throughout the year that | believed we would come out of the challenges of 2020 a stronger company, and,
by living our culture each day, we have. We look forward to building on our strengths in 2021.
Sincerely,

e len

Leon J. Topalian
President & Chief Executive Officer



John H. Walker
Non-Executive Chairman

Dear Fellow Stockholders:

This past year presented the Nucor Team with many unprecedented challenges, but | am
pleased to report that the Company achieved excellent financial and safety results despite
the impact of Covid-19. Guided by Nucor’s culture, the Executive Team and every Nucor
teammate quickly adapted operations and commercial activities to the new realities of
working in a pandemic. Congratulations to the entire team for rising to meet the many
challenges our country and company faced in 2020.

This year’s performance demonstrated how the company’s growth strategy and product
diversification are helping Nucor generate strong financial results in both the up and down
cycles of the steel market. With competitors taking capacity offline in response to the pandemic,
Nucor’s broad product portfolio, reliability, and on-time delivery allowed our team to capitalize on
opportunities to better serve existing customers and build relationships with new ones.

Our focus on growing our long-term earnings power and the company’s financial strength
continue to benefit our shareholders. At the end of the year, the Board increased the regular
quarterly cash dividend on our common stock from $0.4025 to $0.405 per share. This is Nucor’s
191st consecutive quarterly cash dividend. Nucor has increased our regular cash dividend for 48
consecutive years — every year since the company first began paying dividends in 1973. In 2020,
dividends and share repurchases totaled $531 million or 74% of net income.

At the start of 2021, retired General Lloyd Austin resigned from Nucor’s Board in order to serve as our nation’s Secretary of Defense.
General Austin served on Nucor’s Board since 2017 and was a valued member. For those of us who had the privilege of working with
General Austin, we know that he will be an exceptional Secretary of Defense. While it is a loss for Nucor, our nation will benefit from his
willingness to answer President Biden’s call to serve once again. We wish General Austin the best in this important role.

On behalf of the Board, Executive Team, and our nearly 26,400 teammates, we appreciate the investment you have made in Nucor and
we are looking forward to another strong year in 2021.

Sincerely,

John H. Walker
Non-Executive Chairman
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STEEL MILLS SEGMENT

In the steel mills segment, Nucor produces sheet steel (hot-rolled, cold-rolled and galvanized), plate steel, structural steel (wide-flange
beams, beam blanks, H-piling and sheet piling) and bar steel (blooms, billets, concrete reinforcing bar, merchant bar and engineered
special bar quality (“SBQ")). Nucor manufactures steel principally from scrap steel and scrap steel substitutes using electric arc furnaces
(“EAFs”), continuous casting and automated rolling mills. The steel mills segment also includes Nucor’s equity method investments in
NuMit LLC (“NuMit”) and Nucor-JFE Steel Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. (“Nucor-JFE”), as well as international trading and distribution
companies that buy and sell steel manufactured by the Company and other steel producers.

BAR MILLS

Nucor has 15 bar mills strategically located across the United States that manufacture a broad range of steel products,
including concrete reinforcing bars, hot-rolled bars, rounds, light shapes, structural angles, channels, wire rod and
highway products in carbon and alloy steels. Four of the bar mills have a significant focus on manufacturing SBQ and
wire rod products.

O BARMILLS Steel produced by our bar mills has a wide usage serving end markets, including the agricultural, automotive,
construction, energy, furniture, machinery, metal building, railroad, recreational equipment, shipbuilding, heavy truck
and trailer market segments. Considering Nucor’s production capabilities and the mix of bar products generally
produced and marketed, the capacity of the bar mills is estimated at approximately 9,560,000 tons per year.

[] sheer mis

Reinforcing and merchant bar steel are sold in standard sizes and grades, which allows us to maintain inventory levels
<> BEAMIMILLS of these products to meet our customers’ expected orders. Our SBQ products are hot-rolled to exacting specifications
primarily servicing the automotive, energy, agricultural, heavy equipment and transportation sectors.

/\ PLATE MILLS SHEET MILLS

Nucor operates five strategically located sheet mills that utilize thin slab casters to produce flat-rolled steel

for automotive, appliance, construction, pipe and tube and many other industrial and consumer applications.

ﬁ{gglgIEgRATE Considering Nucor’s production capabilities and the mix of flat-rolled products generally produced and marketed,
OFFICE the capacity of the sheet mills is estimated at approximately 11,300,000 tons per year. All of our sheet mills are

equipped with galvanizing lines and four of them are equipped with cold rolling mills for the further processing of

hot-rolled sheet steel.

Nucor produces hot-rolled, cold-rolled and galvanized sheet steel to customers’ specifications. Contract sales

within the steel mills segment are most notable in our sheet operations, as it is common for contract sales to
account for the majority of sheet sales in a given year. We estimate that approximately 70% of our sheet steel sales in 2020 were
to contract customers. The balance of our sheet steel sales were made in the spot market at prevailing prices at the time of sale.
The amount of tons sold to contract customers at any given time depends on a variety of factors, including our consideration
of current and future market conditions, our strategy to appropriately balance spot and contract tons in a manner to meet our
customers’ requirements while considering the expected profitability, our desire to sustain a diversified customer base, and our
end-use customers’ perceptions about future market conditions. These sheet sales contracts are noncancellable agreements that
generally incorporate monthly or quarterly price adjustments reflecting changes in the current market-based indices and/or raw
material cost, and typically have terms ranging from six to 12 months.



STRUCTURAL MILLS

Nucor operates two structural mills that produce wide-flange steel beams, pilings and heavy structural steel products for
fabricators, construction companies, manufacturers and steel service centers. Nucor owns a 51% interest in Nucor-Yamato Steel
Company (Limited Partnership) (“Nucor-Yamato”) located in Blytheville, Arkansas. Nucor-Yamato is the only North American
producer of high-strength, low-alloy beams. Common applications for the high-strength, low-alloy beams include gravity
columns for high-rise buildings, long-span trusses for stadiums and convention centers, and for all projects where seismic
design is a critical factor. Nucor also owns a steel beam mill in Berkeley County, South Carolina. Considering Nucor’s production
capabilities and the mix of structural products generally produced and marketed, the capacity of the two structural mills is
estimated at approximately 3,250,000 tons per year. Both mills use a special continuous casting method that produces a beam
blank closer in shape to that of the finished beam than traditional methods.

Structural steel products come in standard sizes and grades, which allows us to maintain inventory levels of these products to
meet our customers’ expected orders.

PLATE MILLS

Nucor operates three plate mills that produce plate for manufacturers of barges, bridges, heavy equipment, rail cars, refinery
tanks, ships, wind towers and other items. Our products are further used in the pipe and tube, pressure vessel, transportation
and construction industries. Considering Nucor’s production capabilities and the mix of plate products generally produced and
marketed, the capacity of the plate mills is estimated at approximately 2,925,000 tons per year.

In January 2019, Nucor announced that it will be investing approximately $1.70 billion to build a state-of-the-art plate mill, to be
located in Brandenburg, Kentucky. Nucor Steel Brandenburg will be located on the Ohio River and well placed to serve the U.S.
midwest, which is the largest plate-consuming area in the United States. The new plate mill will enhance our ability to serve our
customers and will produce cut-to-length, coiled, heat-treated and discrete plate in widths and thicknesses that are not currently
offered by Nucor. The mill is expected to have an annual capacity of approximately 1,200,000 tons and is expected to be
completed in 2022.

STEEL JOINT VENTURES

Nucor owns a 50% economic and voting interest in NuMit, a company that owns 100% of the equity interest in Steel Technologies
LLC (“Steel Technologies”), an operator of 26 strategically located sheet processing facilities in the United States, Canada and
Mexico. Steel Technologies transforms flat-rolled steel into products that meet the exact specifications for customers in a wide
range of industries, including the automotive, agricultural and consumer goods markets.

Nucor owns a 50% economic and voting interest in Nucor-JFE, a joint venture with JFE Steel Corporation of Japan that operates a
galvanized sheet steel plant in central Mexico that is expected to supply the country’s automotive market with an annual capacity of
approximately 400,000 tons.
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Nucor data is comparable to the methodology established by the World Steel Association (“WSA”). Global data is sourced from WSA’s “Sustainable Steel:
Indicators 2020 and Steel Applications.” For more information, visit www.worldsteel.org.

*The 2020 global average information is not yet available.







STEEL PRODUCTS SEGMENT

In the steel products segment, Nucor produces hollow structural section (“HSS”) steel tubing, electrical conduit, steel joists and joist
girders, steel deck, fabricated concrete reinforcing steel, cold finished steel, steel fasteners, metal building systems, steel grating and
expanded metal, and wire and wire mesh. The steel products segment also includes our piling distributor. These products are sold

primarily for use in nonresidential construction applications.
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TUBULAR PRODUCTS

The Nucor Tubular Products (“NTP”) group has eight tubular facilities that are strategically located in close
proximity to Nucor’s sheet mills as they are a consumer of hot-rolled coil. The NTP group produces HSS steel
tubing, mechanical steel tubing, piling, sprinkler pipe, heat-treated tubing and electrical conduit. HSS steel
tubing, mechanical steel tubing and sprinkler pipe are used in structural and mechanical applications, including
nonresidential construction, infrastructure, agricultural, automotive and construction equipment end-use markets.
Heat-treated tubing and electrical conduit are primarily used to protect and route electrical wiring in various
nonresidential structures such as hospitals, schools, office buildings, hotels, stadiums and shopping malls. Total
annual NTP capacity is approximately 1,365,000 tons.

REBAR FABRICATION PRODUCTS

Harris Steel (“Harris”) fabricates, installs and distributes rebar for a wide variety of construction work classified
as infrastructure (e.g., highways, bridges, reservoirs, utilities and airports) and various building projects, including
hospitals, schools, stadiums, commercial office buildings and multi-tenant residential construction. We sell and
install fabricated reinforcing products primarily on a construction contract bid basis.

Reinforcing products are essential to concrete construction. They supply tensile strength, as well as additional
compressive strength, and protect the concrete from cracking. In many markets, Harris sells reinforcing products
on an installed basis (i.e., Harris fabricates the reinforcing products for a specific application and performs the
installation). Harris operates nearly 70 fabrication facilities across the United States and Canada, with each facility
serving a local market. Total annual rebar fabrication capacity is approximately 1,650,000 tons.

VULCRAFT/VERCO

The Vulcraft/Verco group is the nation’s largest producer and leading innovator of open-web steel joists, joist girders
and steel deck, which are used primarily for nonresidential building construction. Steel joists and joist girders are
produced and marketed throughout the United States by seven domestic Vulcraft facilities. The Vulcraft/Verco
group’s steel decking is produced and marketed throughout the United States by nine domestic plants. Six of these

plants are adjacent to Vulcraft joist facilities. The Vulcraft/Verco group also has two plants in Canada, one in Eastern Canada and one
in Western Canada, that produce both joist and deck. The annual joist production capacity is approximately 745,000 tons and the
annual deck production capacity is approximately 560,000 tons.

Sales of steel joists, joist girders and steel decking are dependent on the nonresidential building construction market. The majority
of steel joists, joist girders and steel decking are used extensively as part of the roof and floor structural support systems in

warehouses, data centers, manufacturing buildings, retail stores, shopping centers, schools, hospitals, and, to a lesser extent, in
multi-story buildings and apartments. We make these products to the customers’ specifications and do not sell these finished steel
products out of inventory. The majority of these contracts are firm, fixed-price contracts that are, in most cases, competitively bid
against other suppliers. Longer-term supply contracts may or may not permit us to adjust our prices to reflect changes in prevailing

raw material costs.




PILING PRODUCTS

Skyline Steel LLC and its subsidiaries (“Skyline”) are primarily a steel foundation distributor serving the North American market.
Skyline distributes products to service marine construction, bridge and highway construction, heavy civil construction, storm
protection, underground commercial parking and environmental containment projects in the infrastructure and construction
industries. Skyline also manufactures a complete line of geostructural foundation solutions, including threaded bar, micropile, strand
anchors and hollow bar. It also processes and fabricates spiral weld pipe piling, rolled and welded pipe piling, cold-formed sheet
piling and threaded bar.

COLD FINISH

Nucor Cold Finish (“NCF”) is the largest and most diversified producer of cold finished bar products for a wide range of industrial
markets in North America, with assets in Canada, Mexico and throughout the United States. The total capacity of the Nucor cold
finished bar and wire facilities exceeds approximately 1,069,000 tons per year.

Nucor’s cold finished facilities are among the most modern in the world, producing cold finished bars for the most demanding
applications. NCF obtains most of its steel from the Nucor bar mills, ensuring consistent quality and supply through all market
conditions. These facilities produce cold-drawn, turned, ground and polished steel bars that are used extensively for shafting and
other precision machined applications. NCF produces rounds, hexagons, flats and squares in carbon, alloy and leaded steels. These
bars are purchased by the appliance, automotive, construction equipment, electric motor, farm machinery and fluid power industries,
as well as by service centers. NCF bars are used in tens of thousands of products. A few examples include anchor bolts, hydraulic
cylinders and shafting for air conditioner compressors, ceiling fan motors, garage door openers, electric motors and lawn mowers.

Nucor owns a fully integrated precision castings company, Corporacion POK, S.A. de C.V. (“POK"), with a facility in Guadalajara,
Mexico. POK produces complex castings and precision machined products used by the oil and gas, mining and sugar processing
industries. POK produces a wide array of precision castings using steel, bronze, iron and specialty exotic alloys. POK complements
NCF’s businesses and Nucor’s cold finish facility in Monterrey.

BUILDINGS GROUP

Nucor produces metal buildings and components throughout the United States under the following brands: Nucor Building Systems,
American Buildings Company, Kirby Building Systems and CBC Steel Buildings. In total, the Nucor Buildings group currently has nine
metal buildings plants with an annual capacity of approximately 360,000 tons, as well as an insulated metal panels company in Laurens,
South Carolina whose products are utilized in metal buildings made by the Nucor Buildings group as well as other applications.

The sizes of the buildings that can be produced range from less than 1,000 square feet to more than 1,000,000 square feet. Complete
metal building packages can be customized and combined with other materials such as glass, wood and masonry to produce cost-
effective, energy efficient, aesthetically pleasing buildings designed to the customers’ special requirements. The buildings are sold
primarily through independent builder distribution networks in order to provide fast-track, customized solutions for building owners. The
primary markets served are commercial, industrial and institutional buildings, including distribution centers, data centers, automobile
dealerships, retail centers, schools and manufacturing facilities.

STEEL MESH, GRATING AND FASTENERS
Nucor produces mesh at Nucor Steel Connecticut, Inc. and Nucor Wire Products Utah. Nucor also produces mesh in Canada at the
Harris operations of Laurel Steel. The combined annual production capacity of the steel mesh facilities is approximately 128,000 tons.

Our grating business manufactures and fabricates steel and aluminum bar grating products at facilities located in North America
and serves the new construction and maintenance-related markets. The annual production capacity for our grating business is
approximately 80,000 tons.

Nucor Fastener’s bolt-making facility in Indiana produces carbon and alloy steel hex head cap screws, hex bolts, structural bolts, nuts
and washers, finished hex nuts and custom-engineered fasteners. Nucor fasteners are used in a broad range of markets, including
automotive, machine tool, farm implement, construction and military applications. The annual production capacity of this facility is
approximately 75,000 tons.
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RAW MATERIALS SEGMENT

In the raw materials segment, Nucor produces direct reduced iron (“DRI”); brokers ferrous and nonferrous metals, pig iron, hot
briquetted iron and DRI; supplies ferro-alloys; and processes ferrous and nonferrous scrap metal. The raw materials segment also
includes our natural gas drilling operations. Nucor’s raw materials investments are focused on creating an advantage for its steelmaking
operations, through a global information network and a multi-pronged and flexible approach to metallics supply.

SCRAP RECYCLING AND BROKERAGE OPERATIONS

Nucor’s subsidiary, The David J. Joseph Company (“DJJ”) and its affiliates operate six regional scrap recycling companies across the
United States that together have shredders capable of processing approximately 5,000,000 tons of ferrous scrap annually. DJJ’s scrap
recycling operations use industry-leading expertise and technology to maximize metal recovery and minimize waste.
DJJ also operates 11 self-serve used auto parts stores called U Pull-&-Pay that complement its recycling operations.

DJJ is the leading broker of ferrous scrap in North America and is a global trader of scrap metal, pig iron and other
SCRAP metallics. In addition to sourcing steel scrap for Nucor’s mills, DJJ is a global trader of ferro-alloys and nonferrous
PROCESSING metals. DJJ’s logistics team owns and operates one of the largest independent fleets of railcars in the United States
dedicated to the movement of scrap and steel and also offers railcar leasing and railcar fleet management services.
S These activities have strategic value to Nucor as the leading and most diversified North American steel producer.
OFFICES

Our primary external customers for ferrous scrap are EAF steel mills and foundries that use ferrous scrap as a raw
material in their manufacturing process. External customers purchasing nonferrous scrap metal include aluminum

can producers, secondary aluminum smelters, steel mills, and other processors and consumers of various nonferrous
metals. We market scrap metal products and related services to our external customers through in-house sales forces.
CO" OTHER In 2020, approximately 9% of the ferrous and nonferrous metals and scrap substitute tons we brokered and processed

were sold to external customers. We consumed the balance in our steel mills.

QO oRIPLANTS

NUCOR
CORPORATE DIRECT REDUCED IRON OPERATIONS

OFHcE DRI is a substitute material for high-quality grades of scrap and pig iron. Nucor operates two DRI plants with a
combined annual capacity of approximately 4,500,000 metric tons of material with world-class metallization rates
and carbon content. Nucor’s wholly owned subsidiary, Nu-Iron Unlimited, is in Trinidad and benefits from a low-cost
supply of natural gas and favorable logistics for inbound iron ore and shipment of DRI to the United States. Nucor’s
second DRI plant in Louisiana (“Nucor Steel Louisiana”) also benefits from favorable logistics and proximity to its steel

mill customers.

Nucor’s DRI production capabilities provide our steel mills flexibility to quickly adjust the metallic mix to changing market conditions and
to maintain competitiveness in the sometimes-volatile scrap market. With the potential for high-quality scrap becoming scarcer, coupled
with the risk of third-party supplier disruptions, Nucor’s DRI facilities provide a greater degree of certainty over its metallics supply.

NATURAL GAS DRILLING PROGRAMS
Nucor owns leasehold interests in natural gas properties in the Piceance Basin in the Western Slope of Colorado.

Nucor’s access to a long-term, low-cost supply of natural gas is a component in the execution of Nucor’s raw material strategy. Natural
gas produced by Nucor’s drilling operations is being sold to third parties to offset our exposure to changes in the price of natural gas
consumed by our DRI plant in Louisiana and our steel mills in the United States.
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STEEL CAPACITY AT DECEMBER 31, 2020

Product Thousands of Tons
Bl Sheet 11,300
Bar 9,210
B Structural 3,250
A Plate 2,925
Total 26,685

STEEL PRODUCTS CAPACITY AT DECEMBER 31, 2020

Product Thousands of Tons
W Rebar Fabrication 1,650
4 Tubular 1,365

Cold Finish 1,069
i Joist 745
4 Deck 560
M Buildings Group 360

Steel Mesh 128
M Grating 80

Fastener 15

Total 6,032
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1915 Rexford Road This graphic comparison assumes the investment of $100
Charlotte, North Carolina 28211 in each Nucor Corporation common stock, the S&P 500 Index
Phone 704/366-7000 and the S&P 1500 Steel Group Index, all at year-end 2015.
Fax 704/362-4208 The resulting cumulative total return assumes that cash

dividends were reinvested. Nucor common stock comprised
32% of the S&P 1500 Steel Group Index at year-end 2020
(43% at year-end 2015).
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The 2021 annual meeting of stockholders will be held at
10:00 a.m., Eastern Time, on Thursday, May 13, 2021. Due
to the COVID-19 pandemic, the annual meeting will be held
in a virtual format only to provide a safe experience for our
stockholders and teammates. To participate in the annual
meeting, visit www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/NUE2021.

50

Nucor’s common stock is traded on the New York Stock 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Exchange under the symbol NUE. As of January 29, 2021, STOCK PERFORMANCE
there were approximately 14,000 stockholders of record.

A Nucor Corporation
S&P 500 Index

] l S&P 1500 Steel Group Index
A copy of Nucor’s 2020 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) is
available to stockholders without charge upon request to
A. Rae Eagle, Vice President and Corporate Secretary,

at Nucor’s corporate office.

Nucor’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports

on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and any
amendments to these reports, as well as proxy statements and
other information, are on Nucor’s website, www.nucor.com,
as soon as reasonably practicable after Nucor files these
documents electronically with, or furnishes them to, the
SEC. Additional information available on our website includes
our Corporate Governance Principles, Board of Directors
Committee Charters, Standards of Business Conduct and
Ethics and Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Professionals
as well as various other financial and statistical data.
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PART |

Item 1. Business
Overview

Nucor Corporation, a Delaware corporation incorporated in 1958, and its affiliates (“Nucor,” the
“Company,” “we,” “us” or “our”) manufacture steel and steel products. The Company also produces direct
reduced iron (“DRI”) for use in its steel mills. Through The David J. Joseph Company and its affiliates
(“DJJ”), the Company also processes ferrous and nonferrous metals and brokers ferrous and nonferrous
metals, pig iron, hot briquetted iron (“HBI”) and DRI. Most of the Company’s operating facilities and
customers are located in North America. The Company’s operations include international trading and

sales companies that buy and sell steel and steel products manufactured by the Company and others.

Nucor is North America’s largest recycler, using scrap steel as the primary raw material in producing
steel and steel products. In 2020, we recycled approximately 17.8 million gross tons of scrap steel.

Segments, Principle Products Produced, and Markets and Marketing

Nucor reports its results in three segments: steel mills, steel products and raw materials. The steel
mills segment is Nucor’s largest segment, representing 60% of the Company’s sales to external
customers in the year ended December 31, 2020.

We market products from the steel mills and steel products segments mainly through in-house sales
forces. We also utilize our internal distribution and trading companies to market our products abroad. The
markets for these products are largely tied to capital and durable goods spending and are affected by
changes in general economic conditions.

We are a leading domestic provider for most of the products we supply, and, in many cases (e.g.,
structural steel, merchant bar steel, steel joist and deck, pre-engineered metal buildings, steel piling and
cold finish bar steel), we are the leading supplier.

Steel mills segment

In the steel mills segment, Nucor produces sheet steel (hot-rolled, cold-rolled and galvanized), plate
steel, structural steel (wide-flange beams, beam blanks, H-piling and sheet piling) and bar steel (blooms,
billets, concrete reinforcing bar, merchant bar and engineered special bar quality (“SBQ”)). Nucor
manufactures steel principally from scrap steel and scrap steel substitutes using electric arc furnaces
(“EAFs”), continuous casting and automated rolling mills. The steel mills segment also includes Nucor’s
equity method investments in NuMit LLC (“NuMit”) and Nucor-JFE Steel Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V.
(“Nucor-JFE”), as well as international trading and distribution companies that buy and sell steel
manufactured by the Company and other steel producers.

The steel mills segment sells its products primarily to steel service centers, fabricators and
manufacturers located throughout the United States, Canada and Mexico. The steel mills segment sold
approximately 18,049,000 tons to outside customers in 2020.



The following chart shows our outside steel shipments by end market:
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In 2020, 80% of the shipments made by our steel mills segment were to external customers. The
remaining 20% of the steel mills segment’s shipments went to our tubular products, piling distributor, joist,
deck, rebar fabrication, fastener, metal buildings and cold finish operations.

Bar mills - Nucor has 15 bar mills strategically located across the United States that
manufacture a broad range of steel products, including concrete reinforcing bars, hot-rolled
bars, rounds, light shapes, structural angles, channels, wire rod and highway products in carbon
and alloy steels. Four of the bar mills have a significant focus on manufacturing SBQ and wire
rod products.

Steel produced by our bar mills has a wide usage serving end markets, including the
agricultural, automotive, construction, energy, furniture, machinery, metal building, railroad,
recreational equipment, shipbuilding, heavy truck and trailer market segments. Considering
Nucor’s production capabilities and the mix of bar products generally produced and marketed,
the capacity of the bar mills is estimated at approximately 9,560,000 tons per year.

Reinforcing and merchant bar steel are sold in standard sizes and grades, which allows us to
maintain inventory levels of these products to meet our customers’ expected orders. Our SBQ
products are hot-rolled to exacting specifications primarily servicing the automotive, energy,
agricultural, heavy equipment and transportation sectors.

Sheet mills - Nucor operates five strategically located sheet mills that utilize thin slab casters to
produce flat-rolled steel for automotive, appliance, construction, pipe and tube and many other
industrial and consumer applications. Considering Nucor’s production capabilities and the mix of
flat-rolled products generally produced and marketed, the capacity of the sheet mills is
estimated at approximately 11,300,000 tons per year. All of our sheet mills are equipped with
galvanizing lines and four of them are equipped with cold rolling mills for the further processing
of hot-rolled sheet steel.

Nucor produces hot-rolled, cold-rolled and galvanized sheet steel to customers’ specifications.
Contract sales within the steel mills segment are most notable in our sheet operations, as it is
common for contract sales to account for the majority of sheet sales in a given year. We
estimate that approximately 70% of our sheet steel sales in 2020 were to contract customers.
The balance of our sheet steel sales were made in the spot market at prevailing prices at the
time of sale. The amount of tons sold to contract customers at any given time depends on a
variety of factors, including our consideration of current and future market conditions, our
strategy to appropriately balance spot and contract tons in a manner to meet our customers’
requirements while considering the expected profitability, our desire to sustain a diversified
customer base, and our end-use customers’ perceptions about future market conditions. These
sheet sales contracts are noncancellable agreements that generally incorporate monthly or
quarterly price adjustments reflecting changes in the current market-based indices and/or raw
material cost, and typically have terms ranging from six to 12 months.



Structural mills - Nucor operates two structural mills that produce wide-flange steel beams,
pilings and heavy structural steel products for fabricators, construction companies,
manufacturers and steel service centers. Nucor owns a 51% interest in Nucor-Yamato Steel
Company (Limited Partnership) (“Nucor-Yamato”) located in Blytheville, Arkansas. Nucor-
Yamato is the only North American producer of high-strength, low-alloy beams. Common
applications for the high-strength, low-alloy beams include gravity columns for high-rise
buildings, long-span trusses for stadiums and convention centers, and for all projects where
seismic design is a critical factor. Nucor also owns a steel beam mill in Berkeley County, South
Carolina. Considering Nucor’s production capabilities and the mix of structural products
generally produced and marketed, the capacity of the two structural mills is estimated at
approximately 3,250,000 tons per year. Both mills use a special continuous casting method that
produces a beam blank closer in shape to that of the finished beam than traditional methods.

Structural steel products come in standard sizes and grades, which allows us to maintain
inventory levels of these products to meet our customers’ expected orders.

Plate mills - Nucor operates three plate mills that produce plate for manufacturers of barges,
bridges, heavy equipment, rail cars, refinery tanks, ships, wind towers and other items. Our
products are further used in the pipe and tube, pressure vessel, transportation and construction
industries. Considering Nucor’s production capabilities and the mix of plate products generally
produced and marketed, the capacity of the plate mills is estimated at approximately 2,925,000
tons per year. Nucor is currently constructing a state-of-the-art plate mill in Brandenburg,
Kentucky with an anticipated start-up date of late 2022.

Plate steel products come in standard sizes and grades, which allows us to maintain inventory
levels of these products to meet our customers’ expected orders.

Steel joint ventures - Nucor owns 50% interests in a North American sheet steel processing joint
venture and a galvanized sheet steel plant in Mexico.

Nucor owns a 50% economic and voting interest in NuMit, a company that owns 100% of the
equity interest in Steel Technologies LLC (“Steel Technologies”), an operator of 26 strategically
located sheet processing facilities in the United States, Canada and Mexico. Steel Technologies
transforms flat-rolled steel into products that meet the exact specifications for customers in a
wide range of industries, including the automotive, agricultural and consumer goods markets.

Nucor owns a 50% economic and voting interest in Nucor-JFE, a joint venture with JFE Steel
Corporation of Japan that operates a galvanized sheet steel plant in central Mexico that is
expected to supply the country’s automotive market with an annual capacity of approximately
400,000 tons.

Steel products segment

In the steel products segment, Nucor produces hollow structural section (“HSS”) steel tubing,
electrical conduit, steel joists and joist girders, steel deck, fabricated concrete reinforcing steel, cold
finished steel, steel fasteners, metal building systems, steel grating and expanded metal, and wire and
wire mesh. The steel products segment also includes our piling distributor. These products are sold
primarily for use in nonresidential construction applications.

Tubular Products — The Nucor Tubular Products (“NTP”) group has eight tubular facilities that
are strategically located in close proximity to Nucor’s sheet mills as they are a consumer of hot-
rolled coil. The NTP group produces HSS steel tubing, mechanical steel tubing, piling, sprinkler
pipe, heat-treated tubing and electrical conduit. HSS steel tubing, mechanical steel tubing and
sprinkler pipe are used in structural and mechanical applications, including nonresidential
construction, infrastructure, agricultural, automotive and construction equipment end-use
markets. Heat-treated tubing and electrical conduit are primarily used to protect and route
electrical wiring in various nonresidential structures such as hospitals, schools, office buildings,
hotels, stadiums and shopping malls. Total annual NTP capacity is approximately 1,365,000
tons.

Rebar fabrication - Harris Steel (“Harris”) fabricates, installs and distributes rebar for a wide
variety of construction work classified as infrastructure (e.g., highways, bridges, reservoirs,



utilities and airports) and various building projects, including hospitals, schools, stadiums,
commercial office buildings and multi-tenant residential construction. We sell and install
fabricated reinforcing products primarily on a construction contract bid basis.

Reinforcing products are essential to concrete construction. They supply tensile strength, as
well as additional compressive strength, and protect the concrete from cracking. In many
markets, Harris sells reinforcing products on an installed basis (i.e., Harris fabricates the
reinforcing products for a specific application and performs the installation). Harris operates
nearly 70 fabrication facilities across the United States and Canada, with each facility serving a
local market. Total annual rebar fabrication capacity is approximately 1,650,000 tons.

Vulcraft/Verco — The Vulcraft/\VVerco group is the nation’s largest producer and leading innovator
of open-web steel joists, joist girders and steel deck, which are used primarily for nonresidential
building construction. Steel joists and joist girders are produced and marketed throughout the
United States by seven domestic Vulcraft facilities. The Vulcraft/Verco group’s steel decking is
produced and marketed throughout the United States by nine domestic plants. Six of these
plants are adjacent to Vulcraft joist facilities. The Vulcraft/\VVerco group also has two plants in
Canada, one in Eastern Canada and one in Western Canada, that produce both joist and deck.
The annual joist production capacity is approximately 745,000 tons and the annual deck
production capacity is approximately 560,000 tons.

Sales of steel joists, joist girders and steel decking are dependent on the nonresidential building
construction market. The majority of steel joists, joist girders and steel decking are used
extensively as part of the roof and floor structural support systems in warehouses, data centers,
manufacturing buildings, retail stores, shopping centers, schools, hospitals, and, to a lesser
extent, in multi-story buildings and apartments. We make these products to the customers’
specifications and do not sell these finished steel products out of inventory. The majority of
these contracts are firm, fixed-price contracts that are, in most cases, competitively bid against
other suppliers. Longer-term supply contracts may or may not permit us to adjust our prices to
reflect changes in prevailing raw material costs.

Piling products - Skyline Steel LLC and its subsidiaries (“Skyline”) are primarily a steel
foundation distributor serving the North American market. Skyline distributes products to service
marine construction, bridge and highway construction, heavy civil construction, storm protection,
underground commercial parking and environmental containment projects in the infrastructure
and construction industries. Skyline also manufactures a complete line of geostructural
foundation solutions, including threaded bar, micropile, strand anchors and hollow bar. It also
processes and fabricates spiral weld pipe piling, rolled and welded pipe piling, cold-formed
sheet piling and threaded bar.

Cold finish - Nucor Cold Finish (“NCF”) is the largest and most diversified producer of cold
finished bar products for a wide range of industrial markets in North America, with assets in
Canada, Mexico and throughout the United States. The total capacity of the Nucor cold finished
bar and wire facilities exceeds approximately 1,069,000 tons per year.

Nucor’s cold finished facilities are among the most modern in the world, producing cold finished
bars for the most demanding applications. NCF obtains most of its steel from the Nucor bar
mills, ensuring consistent quality and supply through all market conditions. These facilities
produce cold-drawn, turned, ground and polished steel bars that are used extensively for
shafting and other precision machined applications. NCF produces rounds, hexagons, flats and
squares in carbon, alloy and leaded steels. These bars are purchased by the appliance,
automotive, construction equipment, electric motor, farm machinery and fluid power industries,
as well as by service centers. NCF bars are used in tens of thousands of products. A few
examples include anchor bolts, hydraulic cylinders and shafting for air conditioner compressors,
ceiling fan motors, garage door openers, electric motors and lawn mowers.



Nucor owns a fully integrated precision castings company, Corporacion POK, S.A. de

C.V. (“POK”), with a facility in Guadalajara, Mexico. POK produces complex castings and
precision machined products used by the oil and gas, mining and sugar processing industries.
POK produces a wide array of precision castings using steel, bronze, iron and specialty exotic
alloys. POK complements NCF’s businesses and Nucor’s cold finish facility in Monterrey.

Buildings group — Nucor produces metal buildings and components throughout the United
States under the following brands: Nucor Building Systems, American Buildings Company, Kirby
Building Systems and CBC Steel Buildings. In total, the Nucor Buildings group currently has
nine metal buildings plants with an annual capacity of approximately 360,000 tons, as well as an
insulated metal panels company in Laurens, South Carolina whose products are utilized in
metal buildings made by the Nucor Buildings group as well as other applications.

The sizes of the buildings that can be produced range from less than 1,000 square feet to more
than 1,000,000 square feet. Complete metal building packages can be customized and
combined with other materials such as glass, wood and masonry to produce cost-effective,
energy efficient, aesthetically pleasing buildings designed to the customers’ special
requirements. The buildings are sold primarily through independent builder distribution networks
in order to provide fast-track, customized solutions for building owners. The primary markets
served are commercial, industrial and institutional buildings, including distribution centers, data
centers, automobile dealerships, retail centers, schools and manufacturing facilities.

Steel mesh, grating and fasteners - Nucor manufactures wire products, grating and industrial
fasteners.

Nucor produces mesh at Nucor Steel Connecticut, Inc. and Nucor Wire Products Utah. Nucor
also produces mesh in Canada at the Harris operations of Laurel Steel. The combined annual
production capacity of the steel mesh facilities is approximately 128,000 tons.

Our grating business manufactures and fabricates steel and aluminum bar grating products at
facilities located in North America and serves the new construction and maintenance-related
markets. The annual production capacity for our grating business is approximately 80,000 tons.

Nucor Fastener’s bolt-making facility in Indiana produces carbon and alloy steel hex head cap
screws, hex bolts, structural bolts, nuts and washers, finished hex nuts and custom-engineered
fasteners. Nucor fasteners are used in a broad range of markets, including automotive, machine
tool, farm implement, construction and military applications. The annual production capacity of
this facility is approximately 75,000 tons.

Raw materials segment

In the raw materials segment, Nucor produces DRI; brokers ferrous and nonferrous metals, pig iron,
HBI and DRI; supplies ferro-alloys; and processes ferrous and nonferrous scrap metal. The raw materials
segment also includes our natural gas drilling operations. Nucor’'s raw materials investments are focused
on creating an advantage for its steelmaking operations, through a global information network and a
multi-pronged and flexible approach to metallics supply.

Scrap recycling and brokerage operations - DJJ operates six regional scrap recycling
companies across the United States that together have shredders capable of processing
approximately 5,000,000 tons of ferrous scrap annually. DJJ’s scrap recycling operations use
industry-leading expertise and technology to maximize metal recovery and minimize waste. DJJ
also operates 11 self-serve used auto parts stores called U Pull-&-Pay that complement its
recycling operations.

DJJ is the leading broker of ferrous scrap in North America and is a global trader of scrap metal,
pig iron and other metallics. In addition to sourcing steel scrap for Nucor’s mills, DJJ is a global
trader of ferro-alloys and nonferrous metals. DJJ’s logistics team owns and operates one of the
largest independent fleets of railcars in the United States dedicated to the movement of scrap
and steel and also offers railcar leasing and railcar fleet management services. These activities
have strategic value to Nucor as the leading and most diversified North American steel
producer.



Our primary external customers for ferrous scrap are EAF steel mills and foundries that use
ferrous scrap as a raw material in their manufacturing process. External customers purchasing
nonferrous scrap metal include aluminum can producers, secondary aluminum smelters, steel
mills, and other processors and consumers of various nonferrous metals. We market scrap
metal products and related services to our external customers through in-house sales forces. In
2020, approximately 9% of the ferrous and nonferrous metals and scrap substitute tons we
brokered and processed were sold to external customers. We consumed the balance in our
steel mills.

e Direct reduced iron operations - DRI is a substitute material for high-quality grades of scrap and
pig iron. Nucor operates two DRI plants with a combined annual capacity of approximately
4,500,000 metric tons of material with world-class metallization rates and carbon content.
Nucor’s wholly owned subsidiary, Nu-Iron Unlimited, is in Trinidad and benefits from a low-cost
supply of natural gas and favorable logistics for inbound iron ore and shipment of DRI to the
United States. Nucor’s second DRI plant in Louisiana (“Nucor Steel Louisiana”) also benefits
from favorable logistics and proximity to its steel mill customers.

Nucor’s DRI production capabilities provide our steel mills flexibility to quickly adjust the metallic
mix to changing market conditions and to maintain competitiveness in the sometimes-volatile
scrap market. With the potential for high-quality scrap becoming scarcer, coupled with the risk of
third-party supplier disruptions, Nucor’s DRI facilities provide a greater degree of certainty over
its metallics supply.

e Natural gas drilling programs - Nucor owns leasehold interests in natural gas properties in the
Piceance Basin in the Western Slope of Colorado.

Nucor’s access to a long-term, low-cost supply of natural gas is a component in the execution of
Nucor’s raw material strategy. Natural gas produced by Nucor’s drilling operations is being sold
to third parties to offset our exposure to changes in the price of natural gas consumed by our
DRI plant in Louisiana and our steel mills in the United States.

Customers

A significant portion of our steel mills and steel products segments’ sales are into the commercial,
industrial and municipal construction markets. We have a diverse customer base and are not dependent
on any single customer. Our largest single customer in 2020 represented less than 5% of sales and
consistently pays within terms. Our steel mills use a significant portion of the products of the raw materials
segment.

General Development of Our Business in Recent Years

Nucor has invested significant capital in recent years to expand our product portfolio to include more
value-added steel mill products and capabilities, improve our cost structure, enhance our operational
flexibility and provide additional channels to market for our products. These investments totaled
approximately $4.24 billion over the last three years, with approximately 95% going to capital
expenditures and the remainder going to acquisitions. We believe that our focus on lowering costs and
diversifying our operations will enable us to deliver profitable long-term growth. Further, we believe
shifting our product mix to a greater proportion of value-added products and increasing end-use market
diversity will make us less susceptible to being negatively impacted by imports.

Several new capital projects that support our expansion of value-added product offerings and cost-
reduction strategies were completed in 2020. Nucor’s $245 million rebar micro mill near Kansas City in
Sedalia, Missouri finished commissioning in the second quarter of 2020 and is capable of producing
approximately 380,000 tons annually. We believe that positioning the micro mill near the Kansas City
market will provide us with a freight cost advantage relative to more distant suppliers, and we will also
benefit from the scrap supply in the immediate area provided by our existing DJJ operations. In
December 2020, Nucor’'s $249 million investment in a new rebar micro mill in Frostproof, Florida began
production and commissioning. This mill is capable of producing approximately 350,000 tons annually.
We believe this new micro mill will also benefit from the scrap supply in the immediate area provided by



our existing DJJ operations as well as strong regional demand for its products. Also in December 2020,
Nucor Steel Kankakee, Inc. finished commissioning its full-range merchant bar quality mill with
approximately 500,000 tons of annual capacity at its existing mill in Bourbonnais, lllinois at a cost of
$187 million. Like the new micro mills, we believe that the Kankakee mill will also benefit from logistical
advantages serving its customers and low-cost scrap supply.

Nucor is constructing a new $325 million 3 generation flexible galvanizing line with an annual
capacity of approximately 500,000 tons at our Nucor Steel Arkansas facility. This project complements the
new $245 million specialty cold mill at Nucor Steel Arkansas that completed its first full year of production
in 2020. We believe these investments will accelerate our goal of increasing our automotive market
share. The new galvanizing line is expected to be operational in the second half of 2021. In September
2018, Nucor announced an approximately $650 million investment to modernize and expand the
production capability at its Gallatin flat-rolled sheet mill located in Ghent, Kentucky. This investment will
increase the production capability from approximately 1,400,000 tons to approximately 3,000,000 tons
annually and will increase the maximum coil width to approximately 73 inches. This expansion is
expected to be completed in the second half of 2021 and complements the mill's new $200 million hot
band galvanizing and pickling line that completed its first full year of production in 2020. In January 2019,
Nucor announced plans to build a state-of-the-art plate mill, which will be based in Brandenburg,
Kentucky on the Ohio river. With an expected investment of $1.70 billion, we anticipate the mill will be
completed in late 2022 and will be capable of producing approximately 1,200,000 tons per year of steel
plate products.

In addition to growing through capital expansions at our existing operations and acquisitions, Nucor
also uses joint ventures as a platform for growth. Nucor-JFE, our joint venture with JFE Steel Corporation
of Japan, in which Nucor has 50% ownership, resumed production in late 2020 after lengthy government-
mandated shutdowns related to the COVID-19 pandemic. Located in central Mexico, Nucor-JFE will
supply galvanized sheet steel to the growing Mexican automotive market. The investment totaled $360
million, with Nucor's share of these amounts being 50%. Nucor’s sheet mills are expected to provide a
significant portion of the hot-rolled steel substrate that will be consumed by Nucor-JFE.

Capital Allocation Strategy

The significant developments in Nucor’s business in recent years have been driven by our capital
allocation strategy. Our highest capital allocation priority is to invest in our business for profitable long-
term growth through our multi-pronged strategy of optimizing existing operations, greenfield expansions
and acquisitions.

Our second priority is to return capital to our stockholders through cash dividends and share
repurchases. Nucor has paid $1.47 billion in dividends to its stockholders during the past three years.
That dividend payout represents 19% of cash flows from operations during that three-year period. The
Company repurchased $39.5 million of its common stock in 2020 ($298.5 million in 2019 and
$854.0 million in 2018).

We intend to return at least 40% of our net income to stockholders over time via a combination of
both cash dividends and share repurchases. Over the past three years, we have returned approximately
61% of our net income in this manner. At December 31, 2020, the Company had approximately
$1.16 billion available for share repurchases under the current share repurchase program.

We intend to execute on this strategy while maintaining a strong balance sheet, with relatively low
financial leverage, as measured in terms of net debt to total capital, as well as ample liquidity. At year-end
2020, our net debt to total capital was approximately 13% and we had cash and cash equivalents, short-
term investments and restricted cash and cash equivalents on hand of $3.16 billion. At the end of 2020,
Nucor had the strongest credit ratings in the North American steel sector (Baa1/A-) with stable outlooks at
both Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s.



Competition

We compete in a variety of steel and metal markets, including markets for finished steel products,
unfinished steel products and raw materials. These markets are highly competitive with many domestic
and foreign firms participating, and, as a result of this highly competitive environment, we find that we
primarily compete on price and service.

In our steel mills segment, our EAF steel mills face many different forms of competition, including
domestic integrated steel producers (who use iron ore converted into liquid form in a blast furnace as their
basic raw material instead of scrap steel), other domestic EAF steel mills, steel imports and alternative
materials. Large domestic integrated steel producers have the ability to manufacture a variety of products
but face significantly higher energy costs and are often burdened with higher capital and fixed operating
costs. EAF-based steel producers, such as Nucor, are sensitive to increases in scrap prices but tend to
have lower capital and fixed operating costs compared with large integrated steel producers. EAF-based
steel producers also typically emit less carbon dioxide per ton of steel produced than integrated steel
producers.

The COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated the ongoing risks Nucor and the entire steel industry
face from excess global steelmaking capacity, particularly in non-market economies. China set a record
for steel production in 2020, despite the pandemic. Steel production in China rose from approximately
1.10 billion tons in 2019 to approximately 1.16 billion tons in 2020. As a result, China’s share of global
crude steel production rose from 53.3% in 2019 to 56.6% in 2020. The Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development (the “OECD”) estimates that excess global steel production capacity will be
approximately 776 million tons in 2020, up from 624 million tons in 2019, which was itself up significantly
from the prior year. China’s largest steel companies are state-owned and receive significant financial
support from the Chinese government.

The Section 232 steel tariffs implemented in 2018 continue to be effective in preventing the dumping
of steel products in the U.S. market. Successful industry trade cases over the past several years have
had an impact on import levels as well. For the full year 2020, imports of finished steel were down
approximately 23% from the previous year and accounted for approximately 18% of U.S. market share. In
2020, finished steel import market share was at its lowest level since 2003.

The new United States-Mexico-Canada (USMCA) trade agreement went into effect in July 2020.
The agreement has several provisions that we believe will benefit the steel industry, including requiring
that higher levels of a vehicle’s content, including steel, be produced in North America for a vehicle to
qualify for zero tariffs, and that 70% of the steel used in vehicles be melted and poured in North America.
There are also provisions addressing currency manipulation and state-owned enterprises.

We also experience competition from other materials. Depending on our customers’ end use of our
products, there are often other materials, such as concrete, aluminum, plastics, composites and wood
that compete with our steel products. When the price of steel relative to other raw materials rises, these
alternatives can become more attractive to our customers.

Competition in our scrap and raw materials business is also vigorous. The scrap metals market
consists of many firms and is highly fragmented. Firms typically compete on price and geographic
proximity to the sources of scrap metal.

Backlog

In the steel mills segment, Nucor’s backlog of orders was approximately $2.58 billion and
$1.68 billion at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Order backlog for the steel mills segment
includes only orders from external customers and excludes orders from other Nucor businesses. Nucor’'s
backlog of orders in the steel products segment was approximately $2.66 billion and $2.24 billion at
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The majority of these orders are expected to be filled within
one year. Order backlog within our raw materials segment is not meaningful because the vast majority of
the raw materials that segment produces are used internally.



Sources and Availability of Raw Materials

An ample supply of high-quality scrap and scrap substitutes is critical to support Nucor’s ability to
produce high-quality steel. Nucor’s raw materials segment safely produces, sources, trades and
transports steelmaking raw materials. Nucor’s raw materials investments are focused on creating an
advantage for its steelmaking operations, through a global information network and a multi-pronged and
flexible approach to metallics supply.

Scrap and scrap substitutes are the most significant element in the total cost of steel production.
The average cost of scrap and scrap substitutes used in our steel mills segment decreased 8% from $314
per gross ton used in 2019 to $290 per gross ton used in 2020. On average, it takes approximately 1.1
tons of scrap and scrap substitutes to produce one ton of steel. Depending on the market conditions at
the time, a raw material surcharge or variable steel pricing mechanism may be implemented to assist
Nucor in maintaining operating margins and in meeting our customer commitments during periods of
rapidly changing scrap and scrap substitute costs.

For the past decade, Nucor has focused on securing access to low-cost raw material inputs as they
are the Company’s largest expense. We believe Nucor’s broad, balanced supply chain is an important
strength which allows us to reduce the cost of our steelmaking operations, create a shorter supply chain
and have greater optionality over our metallic inputs. Our investment in DRI production facilities and scrap
yards, as well as our access to international raw materials markets, provides Nucor with significant
flexibility in optimizing our raw material costs. Additionally, having a significant portion of our raw materials
supply under our control minimizes risk associated with the global sourcing of raw materials, particularly
since a good deal of scrap substitutes comes from regions of the world that have historically experienced
greater political turmoil. We believe the continued successful implementation of our raw material strategy,
including key investments in DRI production, as well as in the scrap brokerage and processing services
performed by our team at DJJ, gives us greater control over our metallic inputs and thus helps us mitigate
the risk of significant fluctuations in the availability and costs of critical inputs.

DJJ acquires ferrous scrap from numerous sources, including manufacturers of products made from
steel, industrial plants, scrap dealers, peddlers, auto wreckers and demolition firms. We purchase pig iron
as needed from a variety of sources and operate DRI plants in Trinidad and Louisiana with respective
annual production capacities of approximately 2,000,000 and 2,500,000 metric tons. The primary raw
material for our DRI facilities is pelletized iron ore, which we purchase from various international
suppliers. Another major source of raw materials used in the production of steel is pig iron. We received
over 2.6 million gross tons of pig iron in 2020. As with scrap and iron ore, we source pig iron from a
number of international suppliers.

The primary raw material for our steel products segment is steel produced by Nucor’s steel mills.

Energy Consumption and Costs

Most of our operations are energy intensive. As a result, we continuously strive to make our
operations in all three of our business segments more energy efficient. In addition, we proactively engage
with suppliers, regulators and other energy industry participants to ensure the continued availability of
reliable, low cost sources of energy in various forms.

Our steel mills utilize EAFs for 100% of their steel production, with approximately 50% of their total
energy consumed as electricity. The total energy consumed by Nucor also includes natural gas, oxygen,
and carbon raw material inputs. For the scrap melting process, electricity is the primary energy source,
with natural gas combustion serving as the fuel for reheat furnaces and other pre-heating operations. Our
DRI facilities in Trinidad and Louisiana are also large consumers of natural gas.

The availability and prices of electricity and natural gas are influenced today by many factors,
including changes in supply and demand, the regulatory environment and pipeline/transmission
infrastructure.

We closely monitor developments in public policy relating to energy production and consumption.
We work with policymakers to provide technical information that can inform policy making and avoid



unintended adverse consequences of legislative and regulatory actions. We believe that a thoughtful
approach to domestic energy policy can help ensure that steel and steel products manufactured in the
United States remain competitive in an increasingly global marketplace.

Greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions by the energy sector have received an increasing amount of
attention in recent years, as more people become concerned that these emissions are a significant
contributor to climate change. This has led to increasing support for, and investment in, low or zero
carbon energy generation technologies such as solar, wind and nuclear. As a result, the development of
these technologies has accelerated, and in many cases they are now more cost competitive with
traditional, fossil fuel-based power generation. We believe that this ongoing diversification of power
generation technologies is fundamentally positive, but without careful planning and investment there is
some risk to the reliability of the domestic power grid as this transition continues. In particular, legacy
fossil fuel-based assets will remain essential for some time to come and the U.S. transmission grid is
broadly in need of substantial upgrades to take full advantage of these newer, more intermittent power
sources. We are also optimistic about the related demand for our products as transmission grid upgrades
are executed and newer power generation assets are developed using steel.

In November of 2020, we executed a 15-year, 250-megawatt Virtual Power Purchase Agreement
(“VPPA”) with a major North American renewable energy company. Under the VPPA, we have agreed to
purchase for a fixed price a portion of the output of a solar array being developed in northwestern Texas.
The VPPA will be settled financially on a monthly basis. We have undertaken this initiative to support the
ongoing transition of the U.S. power grid to a greater reliance on renewable power. As part of this
arrangement we will also receive Renewable Energy Credits (“RECs”) commensurate with the power we
purchase. These RECs can be applied against a portion of our GHG emissions, enabling us to receive
credit for reducing them. The pay fixed, received floating nature of this arrangement also offsets a portion
of our exposure to higher prices for electricity over the life of the contract. We are evaluating and
considering more transactions like this one.

We use a variety of strategies to manage our exposure to price risk of natural gas, including cash
flow hedges, as well as our owned natural gas drilling operations. In addition to the currently producing
wells in the Piceance Basin, Nucor owns leasehold interests in natural gas properties in the South
Piceance Basin, in the Western Slope of Colorado. To support Nucor’s operating wells and potential
future well developments on these properties, Nucor has entered into long-term agreements directly with
third-party gathering and processing service providers. Natural gas produced by Nucor’s drilling
operations is being sold to offset our exposure to changes in the price of natural gas consumed by our
DRI plant in Louisiana, and by our steel mills in the United States. Nucor has full discretion on its
participation in all future drilling capital investments.

Government and Environmental Requlations

Our business operations are subject to numerous federal, state and local laws and regulations, the
most significant of which are intended to protect our teammates and the environment. Due to the nature
of the steel industry, we are subject to substantial regulations related to safety in the workplace. In
addition to the requirements of the state and local governments of the communities in which we operate,
we must comply with federal health and safety regulations, the most significant of which are enforced by
the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”). Because safety and safety compliance is
one of our primary values, its effect on our capital expenditures, earnings and competitive position is not
estimable.

Nucor operates a robust and sustainable environmental program that incorporates the concept of
each individual teammate, as well as management, being responsible for environmental performance. All
of Nucor’s steelmaking operations are ISO 14001 certified. Achieving ISO 14001 certification requires
Nucor’s steel mills to implement an environmental management system with measurable targets and
objectives, such as reducing the use of oil and grease and minimizing electricity use.

The principal federal environmental laws that regulate our business include the Clean Air Act (the
“CAA”) that regulates air emissions; the Clean Water Act (the “CWA”) that regulates water withdrawals
and discharges; the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (the “RCRA”) that addresses solid and
hazardous waste treatment, storage and disposal; and the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
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Compensation and Liability Act (the “CERCLA”) that governs releases of hazardous substances, and
remediation of contaminated sites. Our operations are also subject to state and local environmental laws
and regulations.

As it relates to air emission rates, EAFs are the most efficient and cleanest steel making process
commercially available today. In comparison to blast furnaces, emissions of sulfur oxides from EAFs are
approximately 14% of the amount emitted from blast furnaces. EAFs emit less than 1% of the particulate
emissions compared to blast furnace operations. Importantly, EAF emissions of greenhouse gases per
ton of steel average less than half of the rates typically generated by blast furnaces. Operating EAFs
instead of blast furnaces is a proven air quality improvement strategy. In addition, each of our steel mills
operate air pollution control devices (baghouses) to collect and capture particulate emissions (“EAF dust”)
from the steel making process. We strive to maintain compliance with all applicable CAA requirements.

The primary raw material of Nucor’s steelmaking operations is scrap metal. As mentioned
previously, the process of recycling scrap metal generates particulate matter emissions that includes
contaminants such as paint, zinc, chrome and other metals. Initially, the particulate matter captured and
collected is classified as a listed hazardous waste under the RCRA. Because these contaminants contain
valuable metals, the EAF dust is recycled to recover these metals. Nucor sends all but a small fraction of
the EAF dust it collects to recycling facilities that recover the zinc, lead, chrome and other valuable metals
from this dust. By recycling this material, Nucor believes it is not only acting in a sustainable, responsible
manner but it is also substantially limiting its potential for future liability under both the CERCLA and the
RCRA.

In addition to recycling EAF dust, Nucor mills beneficially reuse steel slag in road materials as a
granular base, embankments, engineered fill, highway shoulders, and hot mix asphalt pavement. The
physical, chemical, mechanical and thermal properties of steel slag provide a vital resource for
construction companies and activities. We take considerable pride in our recycling efforts.

Notably in both 2019 and 2018, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”) identified
Nucor as a Top 10 Parent Company in terms of pollution source reduction activities in its assessment
publication, National Analysis of Toxics Release Inventory. To illustrate potential reduction strategies, the
EPA used a Nucor facility as an example of pollution prevention. Nucor focuses on pollution prevention at
all of our facilities.

Not only does the RCRA establish standards for the management of solid and hazardous wastes,
the RCRA also addresses the environmental impact of contamination from waste disposal activities and
from recycling and storage of most wastes. Periodically, past waste disposal activities that were legal
when conducted but now may pose a contamination threat are discovered. When the EPA determines
these off-site properties are contaminated, Nucor quickly evaluates such claims and, if Nucor is
determined to be responsible, we do our part to remediate our share of such issues. Nucor believes all
identified liabilities under the RCRA are either currently being resolved or have been fully resolved.

Because Nucor has historically implemented environmental practices that have resulted in the
responsible disposal of waste materials, Nucor is also not presently considered a major contributor to any
major cleanups under the CERCLA for which Nucor has been named a potentially responsible party.
Nucor regularly evaluates these types of potential liabilities and, if appropriate, maintains reserves
sufficient to remediate the identified liabilities. Under the RCRA, private citizens may also bring an action
against the operator of a regulated facility for potential damages and payment of cleanup costs. Nucor
believes that its system of internal evaluation and due diligence has sufficiently identified these types of
potential liabilities so that compliance with these regulations will not have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations, cash flows or financial condition beyond that already reflected in the reserves
established for them.

To protect water resources, the CWA regulates water discharges and withdrawals. When applicable,

Nucor maintains discharge and water withdrawal permits at its facilities under the national pollutant
discharge elimination system program of the CWA and conducts its operations in compliance with those
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permits. Nucor also maintains permits from local governments if the facility discharges into publicly owned
treatment works.

Capital expenditures at our facilities that are associated with environmental regulation compliance
for 2021 and 2022 are estimated to be less than $100 million per year.

Human Capital Resources

Culture, Organization and Compensation

We consider our teammates the most important part of Nucor and believe that our culture — and the
encouragement that we provide to our teammates to “grow the core; expand beyond; and live our culture”
— provides us with a competitive advantage. Our culture’s key principles are: Safety First, Trust, Open
Communications, Teamwork, Community Stewardship and Results.

Nucor has a simple, streamlined organizational structure that allows our teammates to make quick
decisions and innovate. Our organization is also highly decentralized, with most day-to-day operating
decisions made by our division general managers and their teams. With more than 26,000 teammates,
only 150 work in our principal executive offices in Charlotte, North Carolina. By empowering our
teammates, our goal is to foster an entrepreneurial mindset, along with a strong sense of personal
responsibility and a culture of accountability. This empowerment is reinforced by our compensation
policies, so as to drive results and contribute to our success.

Teammate input is essential for us to maintain our culture of empowering teammates to make
operational decisions. Aside from our practice of everyday open communication, we periodically ask our
teammates to formally provide feedback. Beginning in 1986, we have asked our teammates to complete a
comprehensive survey in order to gather feedback on a range of topics, including matters relating to the
effectiveness of our culture. We view the survey as an important tool we use to continually improve our
company and ensure our teammates remain engaged and satisfied. This survey is conducted every three
years, the last of which was conducted in 2019. In the most recent survey, 90% of the responses were
favorable in the category of “Satisfaction & Commitment.” The overall percentage of negative responses
in the most recent survey has dropped by 25 percentage points since the survey began in 1986.
Teammates of certain previously acquired businesses — most notably DJJ and Harris, which together
accounted for approximately 27% of our workforce as of December 31, 2020 — complete comparable
surveys that have also shown an improving trend over time.

Safety

One of Nucor’s core values is our teammates’ well-being and safety, and it is our goal to become
the safest steel company in the world. Our foremost responsibility is to work safely, which requires our
teammates to identify unsafe conditions and activities and mitigate these hazards. We will continue
working to eliminate exposures that can lead to injury and encourage our teammates to share their ideas
for safety improvement. Two key metrics Nucor uses to measure safety are: the Injury/lliness Rate and
Days Away, Restricted and Transfer (‘DART”) Case Rate.

Nucor calculates the annual Injury/lliness Rate by dividing the number of work-related injuries and
illnesses by the total number of hours worked by all Nucor teammates in a given year, and then
multiplying the resulting percentage by 200,000, the equivalent of 100 full-time employees working 40
hours per week, 50 weeks per year. In 2020, we achieved an annual Injury/lliness Rate of 1.10.

Nucor uses the DART Case Rate to assess and manage the risk of serious injury in the workplace.
Nucor calculates the annual DART Case Rate by dividing the number of cases resulting in days away
from work, restricted work activity and/or job transfers by the total number of hours worked by all Nucor
teammates in a given year, and then multiplying the resulting percentage by 200,000, the equivalent of
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100 full-time employees working 40 hours per week, 50 weeks per year. In 2020, we achieved an annual
DART Case Rate of 0.59.

Beginning in 1998, Nucor has used the President’s Safety Award to recognize divisions that achieve
strong records of safety performance based on objective metrics. Since 2004, the President’s Safety
Award has gone to divisions and mills where the Injury/lliness Rate and DART Case Rate are less than
one-third the national average for comparable facilities. In 2020, 40 of Nucor’s mills and divisions
achieved the President’'s Safety Award. Nucor also has 25 OSHA Voluntary Protection Program Sites,
OSHA's highest level of recognition.

Our Teammates

Nucor had approximately 26,400 teammates as of December 31, 2020. The vast majority of our
teammates are located in the United States, with only a small number of teammates located outside of
North America. Our operations are highly automated, allowing us to take advantage of lower employment
costs while still providing our teammates with compensation that we believe is highly competitive as
compared to comparable businesses in our industry. At Nucor, we believe in “Pay-for-Performance.”
Nucor teammates typically earn a significant part of their compensation based on their productivity.
Production teammates work under group incentives that provide increased earnings for increased
production. This additional incentive compensation is paid weekly in most cases. Nucor has also
historically contributed 10% of earnings before federal taxes to a profit sharing plan for the majority of
teammates below the officer level. We believe such compensation practices incentivize our workforce and
reinforce our culture.

While Nucor seeks to hire qualified and talented individuals as teammates, we also believe in
developing the skills of our workforce by providing educational and on-the-job training, in addition to
safety training. Further, Nucor believes it is important for senior management to also be familiar with, and
have had direct experience running, Nucor’s mills and other operational divisions. The vast majority of our
teammates are not represented by labor unions and we believe our teammate turnover is low.

At Nucor, we believe that a diversity of perspectives and background helps to facilitate the “Nucor
Way” as we work to “grow the core; expand beyond; and live our culture.” We also believe that recruiting
and hiring the best talent available will continue to provide us with a more diverse and capable workforce.
In addition, Nucor has a long history of conducting our businesses in a manner consistent with high
standards of social responsibility. We have adopted a comprehensive Human Rights Policy, which
operates in conjunction with many other Nucor policies related to ethical conduct and human rights,
including our Standards of Business Conduct and Ethics, Code of Ethics for Senior Financial
Professionals, Supplier Code of Conduct and Policy on Eliminating Forced Labor from our Supply Chain.
We will continue to evaluate our approach and look for opportunities to improve, so that Nucor and its
stockholders benefit to the greatest extent possible from our teammates.

Available Information

Nucor’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-
K, and any amendments to these reports, as well as proxy statements and other information, are
available on our website at www.nucor.com, as soon as reasonably practicable after Nucor files these
documents electronically with, or furnishes them to, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”).

We use the investor relations portion of our website, www.nucor.com/investors, to distribute
information, including as a means of disclosing material, non-public information and for complying with
our disclosure obligations under Regulation FD. We routinely post and make accessible financial and
other information regarding the Company on our website. Accordingly, investors should monitor the
investor relations portion of our website, in addition to our press releases, SEC filings and other public
communications. Except as otherwise expressly stated in these documents, the information contained on
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our website or available by hyperlink from our website is not a part of this report and is not incorporated
into this report or any other documents we file with, or furnish to, the SEC.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Many of the factors that affect our business and operations involve risk and uncertainty. The factors
described below are some of the risks that could materially negatively affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Industry Specific Risk Factors

Overcapacity in the global steel industry could increase the level of steel imports, which may
negatively affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Recent additions of new steelmaking capacity and the decrease in steel production due to the
economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has caused excess steelmaking capacity to grow during the
last two years after several years of decline. According to the OECD, global steel production overcapacity
is projected to be approximately 776 million tons in 2020. China continues to be a significant contributor
to excess steelmaking capacity.

During periods of global economic weakness, this overcapacity is amplified because of weaker
global demand for steel and steel products. This excess capacity often results in manufacturers in certain
countries exporting significant amounts of steel and steel products at prices that are at or below their
costs of production. In some countries the steel industry is subsidized or owned in whole or in part by the
government, giving imported steel from those countries certain cost advantages. These imports, which
are also affected by demand in the domestic market, international currency conversion rates, and
domestic and international government actions, can result in downward pressure on steel prices, which
could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Section 232 steel tariffs are currently keeping some dumped steel products out of the U.S. market.
The U.S. government has also been negotiating new trade agreements with many countries, including
China, which may provide another opportunity to address excess steelmaking capacity. Should these
efforts be abandoned or fail to reduce the impact of global excess capacity and the Section 232 tariffs be
lifted, U.S. steelmakers would be at greater risk of having to compete against steel products dumped in
the U.S. market.

Our business requires substantial capital investment and maintenance expenditures, and our capital
resources may not be adequate to provide for all of our cash requirements.

Our operations are capital intensive. For the three-year period ended December 31, 2020, our total
capital expenditures were approximately $4.04 billion. Our business also requires substantial
expenditures for routine maintenance. Although we expect requirements for our business needs,
including the funding of capital expenditures, debt service for financings and any contingencies, will be
financed by internally generated funds, short-term commercial paper issuance, offerings of our debt and
equity securities or from borrowings under our $1.50 billion unsecured revolving credit facility, we cannot
guarantee that this will be the case. Additional acquisitions or unforeseen events could require financing
from additional sources.

Changes in the availability and cost of electricity and natural gas are subject to volatile market
conditions that could adversely affect our business.

Our steel mills are large consumers of electricity and natural gas. In addition, our DRI facilities are
also large consumers of natural gas. We rely upon third parties for our supply of energy resources
consumed in the manufacture of our products. The prices for and availability of electricity and natural gas
are subject to volatile market conditions. These market conditions often are affected by weather, political,
regulatory and economic factors beyond our control, and we may be unable to raise the price of our
products to cover increased energy costs. Disruptions, including physical or information systems related
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issues, that impact the supply of our energy resources could temporarily impair our ability to manufacture
our products for our customers. Increases in our energy costs resulting from regulations that are not
equally applicable across the entire global steel market could materially adversely affect our business,
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Competition from other steel producers, imports or alternative materials may adversely affect our
business.

We face strong competition from other steel producers and imports that compete with our products
on price, quality and service. The steel markets are highly competitive and a number of firms, domestic
and foreign, participate in the steel, steel products and raw materials markets. Depending on a variety of
factors, including the cost and availability of raw materials, energy, technology, labor and capital costs,
currency exchange rates and government subsidies of foreign steel producers, our business may be
materially adversely affected by competitive forces.

In many applications, steel competes with other materials, such as concrete, aluminum, plastics,
composites and wood. Increased use of these materials in substitution for steel products could have a
material adverse effect on prices and demand for our steel products.

Since 2011, automobile producers have begun taking steps towards complying with new Corporate
Average Fuel Economy mileage requirements for new cars and light trucks that they produce. As
automobile producers work to produce vehicles in compliance with these new standards, they may seek
to reduce the amount of steel they incorporate in their vehicles or begin utilizing alternative materials in
cars and light trucks to improve fuel economy, thereby reducing their demand for steel. Certain
automakers have begun to use greater amounts of aluminum and smaller proportions of steel in some
models since 2015.

Our industry is cyclical and both recessions and prolonged periods of slow economic growth could
have an adverse effect on our business.

Demand for most of our products is cyclical in nature and sensitive to general economic conditions.
Our business supports cyclical industries such as the commercial construction, energy, metals service
centers, appliance and automotive industries. As a result, downturns in the U.S. economy or any of these
industries could materially adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
The U.S. economy is recovering from its lows during the second quarter of 2020, but the pace of the
recovery in 2021 will likely depend on how quickly the U.S. population is vaccinated and normal activities
can resume as well as government stimulus programs or infrastructure spending. Even with this economic
recovery, challenges from global production overcapacity in the steel industry and ongoing uncertainties,
both in the United States and in other regions of the world, remain.

We are unable to predict the duration of current economic conditions. Future economic downturns,
prolonged slow growth or stagnation in the economy, or a sector-specific slowdown in one of our key end-
use markets, such as nonresidential construction, could materially adversely affect our business, results
of operations, financial condition and cash flows, especially in light of the capital-intensive nature of our
business.

The results of our operations are sensitive to volatility in steel prices and the cost of raw materials,
particularly scrap steel.

We rely to an extent on outside vendors to supply us with key consumables such as graphite
electrodes and raw materials, including both scrap and scrap substitutes that are critical to the
manufacture of our steel products. The raw material required to produce DRI is pelletized iron ore.
Although we have vertically integrated our business by constructing our DRI facilities in Trinidad and
Louisiana and also by acquiring DJJ in 2008, we still must purchase most of our primary raw material,
steel scrap, from numerous other sources located throughout the United States and internationally.
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Although we believe that the supply of scrap and scrap substitutes is adequate to operate our facilities,
prices of these critical raw materials are volatile and are influenced by changes in scrap exports in
response to changes in the scrap, scrap substitutes and iron ore demands of our global competitors, as
well as currency fluctuations. At any given time, we may be unable to obtain an adequate supply of these
critical raw materials with price and other terms acceptable to us. The availability and prices of raw
materials may also be negatively affected by new laws and regulations, allocation by suppliers,
interruptions in production, accidents or natural disasters, changes in exchange rates, worldwide price
fluctuations, and the availability and cost of transportation. Many countries that export steel into our
markets restrict the export of scrap, protecting the supply chain of some foreign competitors. This trade
practice creates an artificial competitive advantage for foreign producers that could limit our ability to
compete in the U.S. market.

If our suppliers increase the prices of our critical raw materials, we may not have alternative sources
of supply. In addition, to the extent that we have quoted prices to our customers and accepted customer
orders for our products prior to purchasing necessary raw materials, we may be unable to raise the price
of our products to cover all or part of the increased cost of the raw materials. Also, if we are unable to
obtain adequate and timely deliveries of our required raw materials, we may be unable to timely
manufacture sufficient quantities of our products. This could cause us to lose sales, incur additional costs,
experience margin compressions or suffer harm to our reputation.

Our steelmaking processes, our DRI processes, and the manufacturing processes of many of our
suppliers, customers and competitors are energy intensive and generate carbon dioxide and other
GHGs. The regulation of these GHGs could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations,
financial condition and cash flows.

Our operations are subject to numerous federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to
protection of the environment, and, accordingly, we make provision in our financial statements for the
estimated costs of compliance. There are inherent uncertainties in these estimates. Most notably, the
uncertainty of policies, enforcement priorities, legislation and regulations related to climate change
mitigation strategies pose the greatest risk.

As a carbon steel producer, Nucor could be increasingly affected both directly and indirectly if
carbon policy decisions and mandates are not properly implemented. Carbon is an essential raw material
in Nucor’s steel production processes. Furthermore, Nucor steel mills utilize EAFs for 100% of their steel
melting operations and the costs associated with the decarbonization of electricity generation is a
significant concern. Significant new rulemaking or legislation could have a material adverse impact on
our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Environmental regulation compliance and remediation could result in substantially increased costs
and materially adversely impact our competitive position.

We incur significant costs in meeting our environmental regulation compliance and remediation
obligations. The principal federal environmental laws include the CAA, that regulates air emissions; the
CWA that regulates water withdrawals and discharges; RCRA, that addresses solid and hazardous waste
treatment, storage and disposal; and CERCLA, that governs releases of hazardous substances, and
remediation of contaminated sites. Our operations are also subject to state and local environmental laws
and regulations. Capital expenditures at our facilities that are associated with environmental regulation
compliance for 2021 and 2022 are estimated to be less than $100 million per year.

In addition to the above mentioned statutes, certain revisions to National Air Ambient Quality
Standards could make it significantly more difficult for us to obtain construction permits and permits to
expand existing operations. Resulting cancellations, delays or unanticipated costs to these projects could
negatively impact our ability to generate expected returns on our investments. These regulations can also
increase our cost of energy, primarily electricity, which we use extensively in the steelmaking process.
We may in the future incur substantially increased costs complying with such regulations, particularly if
federal regulatory agencies were to change their enforcement posture with respect to such regulations.
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Emerging customer preferences for greater product transparency and less GHG intensive materials
may put us at a competitive disadvantage or reduce demand for our products.

Numerous states, including Washington, Oregon and New York, are considering establishing
requirements for Environmental Product Declarations (“EPDs”) to evaluate environmental impacts of
products. California has enacted the “Buy Clean California Act” and California has established Global
Warming Potential (GWP) benchmarks through EPDs for certain materials, including certain steel
products. Currently, the federal government is considering similar legislation. EPD legislation has the
potential to put domestic steel manufacturers at a disadvantage to foreign competitors unless
standardized mechanisms are used to fully evaluate products produced by foreign steel producers.

General Risk Factors

The COVID-19 pandemic, as well as similar epidemics and public health emergencies in the future,
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash
flows.

Our operations expose us to risks associated with pandemics, epidemics and other public health
emergencies, such as the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic which spread from China to many other
countries including the United States. In March 2020, the World Health Organization characterized the
outbreak of COVID-19 as a pandemic, and the United States declared the COVID-19 pandemic a national
emergency.

We are a company operating in a critical infrastructure industry, as defined by the U.S. Department
of Homeland Security. As such, Nucor was deemed an essential or life-sustaining operation and,
accordingly, is currently able to maintain operations sufficient to meet our customers’ ongoing needs. In
spite of our continued operations, the COVID-19 pandemic has had and may have further negative
impacts on our operations, supply chain, transportation networks and customers, which may compress
our margins, including as a result of preventative and precautionary measures that we, other businesses
and governments are taking. The COVID-19 pandemic is a widespread public health crisis that is
adversely affecting the economies of many countries and caused periodic disruption to financial markets.
Any resulting economic downturn could adversely affect demand for our products and contribute to
volatile supply and demand conditions affecting prices and volumes in the markets for our products and
raw materials. The progression of the COVID-19 pandemic could also negatively impact our business or
results of operations through the temporary closure of our operating facilities or those of our customers or
suppliers.

In addition, the ability of our teammates and our suppliers’ and customers’ teammates to work may
be significantly impacted by individuals contracting or being exposed to COVID-19. Our customers may
be directly impacted by business interruptions or weak market conditions and may not be willing or able to
fulfill their contractual obligations. Furthermore, the progression of and global response to the COVID-19
pandemic has begun to cause and increases the risk of further delays in construction activities and
equipment deliveries related to our capital projects, including potential delays in obtaining permits from
government agencies. The extent of such delays and other effects of COVID-19 on our capital projects,
certain of which are outside of our control, is unknown, but they could impact or delay the timing of
anticipated benefits on capital projects.

The extent to which COVID-19 may adversely impact our business depends on future
developments, which are highly uncertain and unpredictable, including new information concerning the
severity of the pandemic, the availability of a vaccine, evolving strains of the virus, and the effectiveness
of actions globally to contain or mitigate the effects of the pandemic. The current level of uncertainty over
the economic and operational impacts of COVID-19 means the related financial impact cannot be
reasonably estimated at this time.

We are subject to information technology and cyber security threats which could have an adverse
effect on our business and results of operations.

We utilize various information technology systems to efficiently address business functions ranging
from the operation of our production equipment to administrative computation to the storage of data such
as intellectual property and proprietary business information. Despite efforts to assure secure and
uninterrupted operations, threats from increasingly sophisticated cyber-attacks or system failures could

17



result in materially adverse operational disruptions or security breaches of our systems or those of our
third-party service providers. These risks could result in disclosure or destruction of key proprietary
information or personal data or reputational damage or could adversely affect our ability to physically
produce steel, resulting in lost revenues, as well as delays in reporting our financial results. We also could
be required to spend significant financial and other resources to remedy the damage caused by a security
breach, including to repair or replace networks and information technology systems. We may also
contend with potential liability for stolen information, increased cybersecurity protection costs, litigation
expense and increased insurance premiums.

Our operations are subject to business interruptions and casualty losses.

The steelmaking business is subject to numerous inherent risks, particularly unplanned events such
as explosions, fires, other accidents, natural disasters such as floods or earthquakes, critical equipment
failures, acts of terrorism, inclement weather and transportation interruptions. While our insurance
coverage could offset a portion of the losses relating to some of those types of events, our results of
operations and cash flows could be adversely impacted to the extent that any such losses are not
covered by our insurance, or that there are significant delays in resolving our claims with our insurance
providers.

We acquire businesses from time to time and we may encounter difficulties in integrating
businesses we acquire.

We plan to continue to seek attractive opportunities to acquire businesses, enter into joint ventures
and make other investments that strengthen Nucor. Realizing the anticipated benefits of acquisitions or
other transactions will depend on our ability to operate these businesses and integrate them with our
operations and to cooperate with our strategic partners. Our business, results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows could be materially adversely affected if we are unable to successfully integrate
these businesses.

Risks associated with operating in international markets could adversely affect our business,
financial position and results of operations.

Certain of our businesses and investments are located outside of the United States, in Canada,
Mexico and in emerging markets. There are a number of risks inherent in doing business in such markets.
These risks include, but are not limited to: unfavorable political or economic factors; local labor and social
issues; changes in regulatory requirements; fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates; and complex
foreign laws, treaties including tax laws, and the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 (FCPA). These
risks could restrict our ability to operate our international businesses profitably and therefore have a
negative impact on our financial position and results of operations. In addition, our reported results of
operations and financial position could also be negatively affected by exchange rates when the activities
and balances of our foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars for financial reporting purposes.

The accounting treatment of equity method investments, goodwill and other long-lived assets could
result in future asset impairments, which would reduce our earnings.

We periodically test our equity method investments, goodwill and other long-lived assets to
determine whether their estimated fair value is less than their value recorded on our balance sheet. The
results of this testing for potential impairment may be adversely affected by uncertain market conditions
for the global steel industry, as well as changes in interest rates, commodity prices and general economic
conditions. If we determine that the fair value of any of these assets is less than the value recorded on
our balance sheet, and, in the case of equity method investments the decline is other than temporary, we
would likely incur a non-cash impairment loss that would negatively impact our results of operations.
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Tax increases and changes in tax laws and regulations or exposure to additional tax liabilities could
adversely affect our financial results.

The steel industry and our business are sensitive to changes in taxes. As a company based in the
United States, Nucor is more exposed to the effects of changes in U.S. tax laws than some of our major
competitors. Our provision for income taxes and cash tax liability in the future could be adversely affected
by changes in U.S. tax laws.

Nucor recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are believed to be more
likely than not of being sustained. We cannot predict whether taxing authorities will conduct an audit
challenging any of our tax positions and there can be no assurance as to the outcome of any challenges.
If we are unsuccessful in any of these matters, we may be required to pay taxes for prior periods, interest,
fines or penalties.

We are subject to legal proceedings and legal compliance risks.

We spend substantial resources ensuring that we comply with domestic and foreign regulations,
contractual obligations and other legal standards. Notwithstanding this, we are subject to a variety of legal
proceedings and legal compliance risks in respect of various issues, including regulatory, safety,
environmental, employment, transportation, intellectual property, contractual, import/export, international
trade and governmental matters that arise in the course of our business and in our industry. For
information regarding our current significant legal proceedings, see “ltem 3. Legal Proceedings.” A
negative outcome in an unusual or significant legal proceeding or compliance investigation could
adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. While we believe that we have adopted
appropriate risk management and compliance programs, the nature of our operations means that legal
compliance risks will continue to exist and additional legal proceedings and other contingencies, the
outcome of which cannot be predicted with certainty, will arise from time to time.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2. Properties

We own all of our principal operating facilities. These facilities, by segment, are as follows:

Approximate
square footage

Location of facilities Principal products
Steel mills:
Blytheville, Arkansas 2,980,000 Structural steel, sheet steel
Berkeley County, South Carolina 2,360,000 Flat-rolled steel, structural steel
Hickman, Arkansas 2,350,000 Flat-rolled steel
Decatur, Alabama 2,000,000 Flat-rolled steel
Crawfordsville, Indiana 1,880,000 Flat-rolled steel
Norfolk, Nebraska 1,530,000 Steel shapes
Hertford County, North Carolina 1,350,000 Steel plate
Plymouth, Utah 1,220,000 Steel shapes
Jewett, Texas 1,080,000 Steel shapes
Ghent, Kentucky 1,000,000 Flat-rolled steel
Darlington, South Carolina 980,000 Steel shapes
Kankakee, lllinois 730,000 Steel shapes
Memphis, Tennessee 700,000 Steel shapes
Seattle, Washington 660,000 Steel shapes
Tuscaloosa, Alabama 590,000 Steel plate
Auburn, New York 530,000 Steel shapes
Longview, Texas 430,000 Steel plate
Marion, Ohio 430,000 Steel shapes
Jackson, Mississippi 420,000 Steel shapes
Kingman, Arizona 380,000 Steel shapes
Sedalia, Missouri 350,000 Steel shapes
Frostproof, Florida 310,000 Steel shapes
Birmingham, Alabama 310,000 Steel shapes
Wallingford, Connecticut 240,000 Steel shapes
Steel products:
Norfolk, Nebraska 1,150,000 Joists, deck, cold finished bar
St. Joe, Indiana 1,010,000 Joists, deck, fastener
Joists, cold finished bar, building
Brigham City, Utah 970,000 systems
Grapeland, Texas 810,000 Joists, deck
Chemung, New York 550,000 Joists, deck
Marseilles, lllinois 550,000 Steel tube
Florence, South Carolina 540,000 Joists, deck
Birmingham, Alabama 480,000 Steel tube
Fort Payne, Alabama 470,000 Joists, deck
Decatur, Alabama 470,000 Steel tube
Louisville, Kentucky 440,000 Steel tube
Trinity, Alabama 380,000 Steel tube
Eufaula, Alabama 360,000 Building systems
Chicago, lllinois 350,000 Steel tube
Waterloo, Indiana 330,000 Building systems

In the steel products segment, we have 81 operating facilities, excluding the locations listed above,
in 38 states with 30 operating facilities in Canada and two in Mexico. Our subsidiary, Harris Steel Inc.,
also operates multiple sales offices in Canada and certain other foreign locations. The steel products
segment also includes Skyline Steel, LLC, our steel foundation distributor.
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In the raw materials segment, we have 88 operating facilities in 22 states with one operating facility
in Point Lisas, Trinidad. For our DRI facilities in Trinidad and Louisiana, a significant portion of the
production process occurs outdoors. The Trinidad site, including leased land, is approximately 1.9 million
square feet. The Louisiana site has approximately 174.2 million square feet of owned land with buildings
that total approximately 72,500 square feet. DJJ has 82 operating facilities in 21 states along with multiple
brokerage offices in the United States and certain other foreign locations.

The average utilization rates of all operating facilities in the steel mills, steel products and raw
materials segments in 2020 were approximately 82%, 71% and 67% of production capacity, respectively.

We also own our principal executive offices in Charlotte, North Carolina.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Nucor Steel Louisiana, our DRI facility located in St. James Parish, Louisiana, has received a
Consolidated Compliance Order and Notice of Potential Penalty from the Office of Environmental
Enforcement of the Louisiana Department of Environmental Quality (“LDEQ”) related to emissions issues
that the facility voluntarily reported to LDEQ. Nucor Steel Louisiana and LDEQ are in discussions
regarding a Consolidated Settlement Agreement with LDEQ, but no penalty has been finalized. We
believe the aggregate civil penalty for these compliance issues will not be material to Nucor.

Nucor is from time to time a party to various lawsuits, claims and other legal proceedings that arise
in the ordinary course of business. With respect to all such lawsuits, claims and proceedings, we record
reserves when it is probable a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably
estimated. We do not believe that any of these proceedings, individually or in the aggregate, would be
expected to have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.
Nucor maintains liability insurance with self-insurance limits for certain risks.

Item4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
Information About Our Executive Officers

The following is a description of the names and ages of the executive officers of the Company,
indicating all positions and offices with the Company held by each such person and each person’s
principal occupation or employment during the past five years. Each executive officer of Nucor is elected
by the Board of Directors and holds office from the date of election until thereafter removed by the Board.

Allen C. Behr (47), Executive Vice President of Plate and Structural Products, was named EVP in
May 2020. Mr. Behr began his career with Nucor in 1996 as Design Engineer at Nucor Building Systems-
Indiana and joined the start-up team at Nucor Building Systems-Texas in 1999. In 2001, he became the
Engineering Manager at Nucor Building Systems-South Carolina and was promoted to General Manager
in 2008. Mr. Behr became the General Manager of Vulcraft-South Carolina in 2011 and was promoted to
Vice President in 2012. He was promoted to President of the Vulcraft/\VVerco group in 2014 and he served
as the General Manager of Nucor Steel-Texas from 2017 to 2019.

Craig A. Feldman (56), Executive Vice President of Raw Materials, was named EVP in 2018.
Mr. Feldman began his career as a Brokerage Representative for The David J. Joseph Company (“DJJ”)
in 1986, subsequently serving as District Manager of DJJ’s Salt Lake City brokerage office, Commercial
Vice President at DJJ’s subsidiary, Western Metals Recycling LLC (“WMR”), and President of WMR.
Mr. Feldman served on the operational staff of DJJ’s then-owner in the Netherlands from 2005 until his
appointment in 2007 as DJJ’s Executive Vice President, Recycling Operations. Mr. Feldman became a
Vice President and General Manager of Nucor when DJJ was acquired by Nucor in 2008. He served as
President of DJJ from 2013 to December 2020. Mr. Feldman has announced that he will retire in June
2021.
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James D. Frias (64), has been Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Executive Vice President since
2010. Prior to that, Mr. Frias was Vice President of Finance from 2006 to 2009. Mr. Frias joined Nucor in
1991 as Controller of Nucor Building Systems-Indiana. He also served as Controller of Nucor Steel-
Indiana and as Corporate Controller. Mr. Frias joined the board of directors of Carlisle Companies
Incorporated in 2015.

Douglas J. Jellison (62), was named Executive Vice President responsible for The David J. Joseph
Company and Logistics, effective January 2021. Mr. Jellison began his Nucor career in 1990 as Materials
Manager at Nucor Bearing Products and has worked in various positions and businesses in his 30 years
with Nucor, including several controller and business development roles. Mr. Jellison was promoted to
Vice President in 2004 and served as General Manager of Nucor Bearing Products, Nucor Steel Seattle,
Inc. and Nucor-Yamato. He then served as President of Nucor Tubular Products and most recently as
President of Nucor’s steel piling subsidiary, Skyline Steel LLC.

Gregory J. Murphy (56), was named Executive Vice President of Business Services and General
Counsel, effective January 2021. Mr. Murphy began his Nucor career in 2015 as Vice President and
General Counsel. In 2020, he assumed additional responsibilities and was named General Counsel and
Vice President of Legal, Environmental and Public Affairs. Prior to joining Nucor, Mr. Murphy was a
Partner with the law firm of Moore & Van Allen PLLC, where he was the team leader of the Litigation
Practice Group and served for a decade on the firm’s Executive Committee.

Raymond S. Napolitan, Jr. (63), Executive Vice President of Engineered Bar Products and Digital,
was named EVP in 2013, having previously served as President of Nucor’s Vulcraft/Verco group from
2010 to 2013 and President of American Buildings Company from 2007 to 2010. He was elected Vice
President of Nucor in 2007. Mr. Napolitan began his Nucor career in 1996 as Engineering Manager of
Nucor Building Systems-Indiana, and later served as General Manager of Nucor Building Systems-Texas.

Daniel R. Needham (55), was named Executive Vice President of Bar and Rebar Fabrication
Products, effective February 2021. Mr. Needham began his career with Nucor in 2000 as Controller at
Nucor Steel Hertford County. He subsequently served as Controller of Nucor Steel Decatur, LLC and
Nucor Steel Utah. In 2011, Mr. Needham became General Manager of Nucor Steel Connecticut, Inc. He
later served as General Manager of Nucor Steel Utah and was elected Vice President in 2016. In 2019,
Mr. Needham was promoted to Vice President and General Manager of Nucor Steel Indiana.

K. Rex Query (55), was named Executive Vice President of Sheet and Tubular Products, effective
January 2021. Mr. Query joined Nucor in 1990 as a financial analyst in the Corporate Office and
subsequently served as Controller at Vulcraft South Carolina, Nucor Steel Berkeley and Nucor Steel
Hertford. After serving as General Manager and Corporate Controller, Mr. Query was elected to Vice
President in 2002 and served as General Manager at Nucor Steel Auburn, Inc., Nucor Steel Decatur,
LLC, Nucor Steel South Carolina and NCF as well as President of Nucor Europe. Most recently, Mr.
Query served as President of Nucor’s Vulcraft/Verco group. Mr. Query is married to the sister of Mr.
Topalian’s wife.

MaryEmily Slate (66), was named Executive Vice President of Commercial, effective January 2021.
Ms. Slate was promoted to EVP in May 2019, most recently serving as EVP of Plate, Structural and
Tubular Products. Ms. Slate began her career with Nucor in 2000 as a District Sales Manager at Nucor
Steel Arkansas. She later served as Sales Manager at Nucor Steel Decatur, LLC and then as Cold Mill
Manager. In 2010, Ms. Slate was promoted to General Manager of Nucor Steel Auburn, Inc. and was
elected Vice President in 2012. She served as Vice President of Nucor Steel Arkansas from 2015 to
2019.

David A. Sumoski (54), was named Chief Operating Officer, effective January 2021. He previously
served as Executive Vice President from 2014 to 2020, most recently as EVP of Merchant and Rebar
Products. He also served as General Manager of Nucor Steel Memphis, Inc. from 2012 to 2014 and as
General Manager of Nucor Steel Marion, Inc. from 2008 to 2012. Mr. Sumoski was named Vice President
in 2010. He began his career with Nucor as an electrical supervisor at Nucor Steel-Berkeley in 1995, later
serving as Maintenance Manager.
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Leon J. Topalian (52), has served as President and Chief Executive Officer since January 2020. He
previously served as President and Chief Operating Officer from September 2019 to December 2019,
Executive Vice President of Beam and Plate Products from 2017 to 2019 and as Vice President of Nucor
from 2013 to 2017. He began his Nucor career at Nucor Steel-Berkeley in 1996, serving as a project
engineer and then as cold mill production supervisor. Mr. Topalian was promoted to Operations Manager
for Nucor’s former joint venture in Australia and later served as Melting and Casting Manager at Nucor
Steel-South Carolina. He then served as General Manager of Nucor Steel Kankakee, Inc. from 2011 to
2014 and as General Manager of Nucor-Yamato from 2014 to 2017. Mr. Topalian is married to the sister
of Mr. Query’s wife.

D. Chad Utermark (52), Executive Vice President of Fabricated Construction Products, was named
EVP in 2014. He previously served as General Manager of Nucor-Yamato from 2011 to 2014 and as
General Manager of Nucor Steel-Texas from 2008 to 2011. He was named Vice President of Nucor in
2009. Mr. Utermark began his Nucor career as a utility operator at Nucor Steel-Arkansas in 1992,
subsequently serving as shift supervisor and Hot Mill Manager at that division as well as Roll Mill
Manager at Nucor Steel-Texas.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock is listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “NUE.”
As of January 31, 2021, there were approximately 14,000 stockholders of record of our common stock.

We did not repurchase any shares under our share repurchase program during the fourth quarter of
2020.

Nucor has increased its base cash dividend every year since the Company began paying dividends
in 1973. Nucor paid a total dividend of $1.61 per share in 2020 compared with $1.60 per share in 2019. In
December 2020, the Board of Directors increased the base quarterly cash dividend on Nucor's common
stock to $0.405 per share from $0.4025 per share. In February 2021, the Board of Directors declared
Nucor’'s 192" consecutive quarterly cash dividend of $0.405 per share payable on May 11, 2021 to
stockholders of record on March 31, 2021.

See Note 16 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements for a discussion regarding
securities authorized for issuance under the Company’s stock-based compensation plans.

Stock Performance

This graphic comparison assumes the investment of $100 in each of Nucor common stock, the S&P
500 Index and the S&P 1500 Steel Group Index, all at year-end 2015. The resulting cumulative total
return assumes that cash dividends were reinvested. Nucor common stock comprised 32% of the S&P
1500 Steel Group Index at year-end 2020 (43% at year-end 2015).
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Not applicable as Nucor has early adopted the amendments to Item 301 of Regulation S-K outlined
in the Final Rule adopted by the SEC on November 19, 2020.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations of Nucor Corporation should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements
of the Company and the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included
in this report discusses our financial condition and results of operations as of and for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019. Information concerning the year ended December 31, 2019 and a
comparison of the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 may be found under “ltem 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, filed with the SEC on
February 28, 2020.

Overview

The COVID-19 pandemic began to impact Nucor’s operations in the final weeks of the first quarter
of 2020. It would rapidly become the most significant event of 2020, impacting almost all aspects of our
business through the remainder of the year and into the present. Our most important value is the health
and safety of our teammates, their families and the communities where we operate. We formed several
internal task forces to closely monitor developments related to the pandemic. Our facilities around the
country have taken steps to respond to COVID-19 based on the nature of their operations and the actions
being taken by their state and local governments. We have restricted travel, upgraded the cleaning
practices at our facilities and offices, implemented remote work for teammates wherever possible, and
instituted social distancing measures throughout the Company. In addition to these measures, which are
still in effect to varying degrees, we also took significant action to further strengthen our liquidity
resources and financial position. These financial measures are further explained in the “Liquidity and
Capital Resources” section of this “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations.” Across Nucor, we remain committed to protecting our teammates while
minimizing disruptions to our customers and supply chain.

Due to the impact of the pandemic, the U.S. economy shrank by 3.5% in 2020, compared to a
growth rate of 2.2% in 2019. Despite this, demand in several key end-use markets was surprisingly
resilient in 2020, most notably in nonresidential construction and automotive, which together account for
nearly two-thirds of steel consumption. Operating rates at our steel mills for the full year 2020 decreased
to 82% as compared to 84% for the full year 2019. Industry-wide, the U.S. capacity utilization rate was
68% for 2020, down from 80% in 2019.

Economic conditions improved in the second half of 2020 and we are optimistic about market
conditions heading into 2021. We expect the nonresidential construction and automotive markets to
remain strong. We hope to see improvement in markets like heavy duty trucks, heavy equipment and
agriculture that were down in 2020. We anticipate the recovery in oil and gas markets to be slow, but
Nucor has seen increased sales into the renewable energy market.

The Section 232 steel tariffs continued to be effective in keeping unfairly traded imports out of the
U.S. market. For the full year 2020, finished steel imports were down approximately 23% from the
previous year and accounted for approximately 18% of U.S. market share.

Our Challenges and Risks

Sales of many of our products are largely dependent upon capital spending in the nonresidential
construction markets in the United States, including in the industrial and commercial sectors, as well as
capital spending on infrastructure that is publicly funded, such as bridges, schools, prisons and hospitals.
While there has been no federal infrastructure bill in recent years, many states have passed bills funding
infrastructure improvements.
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While the Section 232 tariffs are having their intended impact by keeping unfairly traded imports
out of the U.S. market, global steel production overcapacity continues to be a long-term challenge. Steel
production in China rose in 2020, going from approximately 1.10 billion tons in 2019 to approximately
1.16 billion tons in 2020 — an increase of 5.5%. As a result, China’s share of global crude steel production
rose from 53.3% in 2019 to 56.6% in 2020. The OECD projects that global excess steel production
capacity was approximately 776 million tons in 2020, up from 624 million tons at the end of 2019, which
was itself up significantly from the prior year.

A major uncertainty we continue to face in our business is the price of our principal raw material,
ferrous scrap, which is volatile and often increases or decreases rapidly in response to changes in
domestic demand, unanticipated events that affect the flow of scrap into scrap yards, the availability of
scrap substitutes, currency fluctuations and changes in foreign demand for scrap. In periods of rapidly
increasing raw material prices in the industry, which are often also associated with periods of strong or
rapidly improving steel market conditions, being able to increase our prices for the products we sell
quickly enough to offset increases in the prices we pay for ferrous scrap is challenging but critical to
maintaining our profitability. We attempt to mitigate the scrap price risk by managing scrap inventory
levels at the steel mills to match the anticipated demand over the next several weeks. Certain scrap
substitutes, including pig iron, have longer lead times for delivery than scrap, which can make this
inventory management strategy difficult to achieve. Continued successful implementation of our raw
material strategy, including key investments in DRI production, coupled with the scrap brokerage and
processing services performed by our team at DJJ, give us greater control over our metallic inputs and
thus also helps us to mitigate this risk.

During periods of stronger or improving steel market conditions, we are more likely to be able to
pass through to our customers, relatively quickly, the increased costs of ferrous scrap and scrap
substitutes, protecting our gross margins from significant erosion. During weaker or rapidly deteriorating
steel market conditions, weak steel demand, low industry utilization rates and the impact of imports create
an even more intensified competitive environment and increased pricing pressure. All of those factors, to
some degree, impact pricing, which increases the likelihood that Nucor will experience lower gross
margins.

Although the majority of our steel sales are to spot market customers in North America who place
their orders each month based on their business needs and our pricing competitiveness compared to
both domestic and global producers and trading companies, we also sell contract tons, most notably in
our sheet operations. Approximately 70% of our sheet sales were to contract customers in 2020 (75% in
2019), with the balance being sold in the spot market at the prevailing prices at the time of sale. Steel
contract sales outside of our sheet operations are not significant. The amount of tons sold to contract
customers at any given time depends on the overall market conditions at the time, how the end-use
customers see the market moving forward and the strategy that Nucor management believes is
appropriate to the upcoming period.

Nucor management considerations include maintaining an appropriate balance of spot and contract
tons based on market projections and appropriately supporting our diversified customer base. The
percentage of tons that is placed under contract also depends on the overall market dynamics and
customer negotiations. In years of strengthening demand, we typically see an increase in the percentage
of sheet sales sold under contract as our customers have an expectation that transaction prices will
rapidly rise, and available capacity will quickly be sold out. To mitigate this risk, customers prefer to enter
into contracts in order to obtain committed volumes of supply from the mills. The vast majority of our
contracts include a method of adjusting prices on a periodic basis to reflect changes in the market pricing
for steel and/or scrap. Market indices for steel generally trend with scrap pricing changes, but, during
periods of steel market weakness, the more intensified competitive steel market environment can cause
the sales price indices to decrease resulting in reduced gross margins and profitability. Furthermore,
since the selling price adjustments are not immediate, there will always be a timing difference between
changes in the prices we pay for raw materials and the adjustments we make to our contract selling
prices. Generally, in periods of increasing scrap prices, we experience a short-term margin contraction on
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contract tons. Conversely, in periods of decreasing scrap prices, we typically experience a short-term
margin expansion. Contract sales typically have terms ranging from six to 12 months.

Our Strengths and Opportunities

We are North America’s most diversified steel producer. As a result, our short-term performance is
not tied to any one market. We have numerous, large, strategic capital projects at various stages of
progress that we believe will help us further diversify our product offerings and expand the markets that
we serve. We expect these investments to grow our long-term earnings power by increasing our channels
to market, expanding our product portfolio into higher value-added offerings that are less vulnerable to
imports, improving our cost structure and further building upon our market leadership positions.

We believe that Nucor’s raw material supply chain is another important strength. Our investment in
DRI production facilities and scrap brokerage and processing businesses provides Nucor with significant
flexibility in optimizing our raw materials costs. Additionally, having a significant portion of our raw
materials supply under our control reduces risk associated with the global sourcing of raw materials,
particularly since a considerable portion of scrap substitutes comes from regions of the world that
historically have experienced greater political turmoil.

Our highly variable, low-cost structure, combined with our financial strength and liquidity, has
allowed us to successfully navigate cyclical, severely depressed steel industry market conditions in the
past. In such times, our incentive-based pay system reduces our payroll costs, both hourly and salary,
which helps to offset lower selling prices. Our pay-for-performance system that is closely tied to our levels
of production also allows us to keep our highly experienced workforce intact and to continue operating our
facilities when some of our competitors with greater fixed costs are forced to shut down some of their
facilities. Because we use EAFs to produce our steel, we can easily vary our production levels to match
short-term changes in demand, unlike our blast furnace-based integrated competitors. We believe these
strengths also provide us further opportunities to gain market share during such times.

Evaluating Our Operating Performance

We report our results of operations in three segments: steel mills, steel products and raw materials.
Most of the steel we produce in our mills is sold to outside customers (80% in both 2020 and 2019), but a
significant percentage is used internally by many of the facilities in our steel products segment (20% in
both 2020 and 2019).

We begin measuring our performance by comparing our net sales, both in total and by individual
segment, during a reporting period with our net sales in the corresponding period in the prior year. In
doing so, we focus on changes in and the reasons for such changes in the two key variables that have
the greatest influence on our net sales: average sales price per ton during the period and total tons
shipped to outside customers.

We also focus on both dollar and percentage changes in gross margins, which are key drivers of our
profitability, and the reasons for such changes. There are many factors from period to period that can
affect our gross margins. One consistent area of focus for us is changes in “metal margins,” which is the
difference between the selling price of steel and the cost of scrap and scrap substitutes. Increases or
decreases in the cost of scrap and scrap substitutes that are not offset by changes in the selling price of
steel can quickly compress or expand our margins and reduce or increase our profitability.

Changes in marketing, administrative and other expenses, particularly profit sharing and other
variable incentive-based payment costs, can have a material effect on our results of operations for a
reporting period as well. These costs vary significantly from period to period as they are based upon
changes in our pre-tax earnings and other profitability metrics that are a reflection of our pay-for-
performance system that is closely tied to our levels of production.
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Evaluating Our Financial Condition

We evaluate our financial condition each reporting period by focusing primarily on the amounts of
and reasons for changes in cash provided by operating activities, our current ratio, the turnover rate of
our accounts receivable and inventories, the amounts of and reasons for changes in cash used in or
provided by investing activities (including projected capital expenditures) and financing activities and our
cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments position at period end. We believe that our
conservative financial practices have served us well in the past and are serving us well today. As a result,
our financial position remains strong.

Comparison of 2020 to 2019

Results of Operations

Nucor reported consolidated net earnings of $2.36 per diluted share in 2020 and $4.14 per diluted
share in 2019. The COVID-19 pandemic and the impacts it had on the domestic economy were the
primary factor driving the decrease in earnings in 2020 as compared to 2019.

In 2019, the steel mills segment’s profitability peaked in the first quarter and experienced a
downward trend for the remainder of the year primarily due to inventory destocking. The first quarter of
2020 was off to a promising start for the steel mills segment, building off of the momentum of price
increases announced in the fourth quarter of 2019 and a strong quarterly utilization rate of 89%. The first
quarter of 2020 ended with the rapidly intensifying impact of the COVID-19 pandemic beginning to impact
our business late in the quarter. We also determined a triggering event occurred related to our equity
method investment located in Italy, Duferdofin Nucor S.r.l. (“Duferdofin Nucor”), that would result in us
reserving a note receivable and a significant impairment charge in the first quarter of 2020. We ultimately
exited our investment in Duferdofin Nucor prior to the end of the year. Total losses and impairments of
assets related to Duferdofin Nucor that were included in the steel mills segment earnings were
approximately $483.5 million in 2020. We also recorded additional impairment charges in the fourth
quarter of 2020 related to certain inventory and long-lived assets of $103.2 million that were primarily
related to our Castrip sheet operations.

The steel mills segment performance bottomed in the second quarter of 2020 but had an upward
trajectory for the remainder of the year. Our steel mills segment is expected to have a very strong first
quarter of 2021 due to increases in steel selling prices and strengthening market conditions at the end of
2020.

Nonresidential construction market conditions were strong in 2019 and 2020.The resiliency of
nonresidential construction markets during the COVID-19 pandemic paved the way for our steel products
segment to have record profitability in 2020, surpassing the previous record set in 2019. Many of our
business units in this segment performed at record or near-record levels, with our rebar fabrication and
tubular products businesses driving the year-over-year increase for the segment. In addition to the
strength of nonresidential construction markets over the last two years, the steel products segment
continues to benefit from the lasting effects of changes in business strategy and efficiency initiatives that
have significantly improved the performance of our rebar fabrication operations and metal buildings
business.

The raw materials segment’s profitability in 2020 increased from 2019 primarily due to the improved
performance of our DRI facilities. Our DRI facility in Louisiana experienced a planned 70-day outage in
2019 to enhance operational reliability, and the facility set new records for production, shipping and
operating hours in 2020. Low average selling prices and higher iron ore costs have caused the DRI
facilities to have combined operating losses in 2020 and 2019. However, selling prices for raw materials
increased dramatically in the fourth quarter of 2020 and we expect strong performance for the raw
materials segment in the first quarter of 2021.

The raw materials segment incurred non-cash impairment charges of $27.0 million and $35.0 million
in 2020 and 2019, respectively. The 2020 charges related to our leasehold interest in unproved oil and
gas properties and the 2019 charges related to our proved oil and gas properties. Refer to “Critical
Accounting Policies and Estimates” for further discussion of these charges.
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Nucor’s income tax provision in 2020 benefited from several notable items that are not included in
segment reporting. Of note, the 2020 tax provision benefited from $201.9 million related to certain tax
deductions claimed related to our now exited investment in Duferdofin Nucor, $39.7 million related to
certain state tax credits and $48.2 million related to the anticipated carryback of a 2020 tax net operating
loss under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”).

The following discussion will provide greater quantitative and qualitative analysis of Nucor’'s
performance in 2020 as compared to 2019.

Net Sales

Net sales to external customers by segment for 2020 and 2019 were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 % Change
Steel mills $12,109,307 $13,933,950 -13%
Steel products 6,623,068 6,990,064 -5%
Raw materials 1,407,283 1,664,844 -15%
Total net sales to external customers $20,139,658 $22,588,858 -11%

Net sales for 2020 decreased 11% from the prior year. Average sales price per ton decreased 7%
from $851 in 2019 to $789 in 2020. Total tons shipped to outside customers decreased 4% from
26,532,000 tons in 2019 to 25,519,000 in 2020.

In the steel mills segment, sales tons were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 % Change
Outside steel shipments 18,049 18,585 -3%
Inside steel shipments 4,637 4,771 -3%
Total steel shipments 22,686 23,356 -3%

Net sales for the steel mills segment decreased 13% in 2020 from the prior year due to a 10%
decrease in the average sales price per ton, from $748 in 2019 to $671 in 2020, as well as a 3%
decrease in total tons shipped to outside customers.

Outside sales tonnage for the steel products segment was as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 % Change
Joist sales 557 499 12%
Deck sales 496 495 —
Cold finished sales 406 498 -18%
Rebar fabrication sales 1,232 1,223 1%
Piling products sales 649 638 2%
Tubular products sales 1,080 1,053 3%
Other steel products sales 374 408 -8%
Total steel products sales 4,794 4,814 —

Net sales for the steel products segment decreased 5% in 2020 from the prior year due to a 5%
decrease in average sales price per ton.

Net sales for the raw materials segment decreased 15% in 2020 from the prior year primarily due to
decreased average selling prices at DJJ’s brokerage operations and decreased volumes at DJJ’s scrap
processing operations and brokerage operations. In 2020, approximately 88% of outside sales for the raw
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materials segment were from the brokerage operations of DJJ, and approximately 9% of outside sales
were from the scrap processing operations of DJJ (90% and 9%, respectively, in 2019).

Gross Margins

In 2020, Nucor recorded gross margins of $2.23 billion (11%) which was a decrease from
$2.68 billion (12%) in 2019:

e The primary driver for the decrease in gross margin in 2020 as compared to 2019 was
decreased metal margins in the steel mills segment. Metal margin is the difference between the
selling price of steel and the cost of scrap and scrap substitutes. The average scrap and scrap
substitute cost per gross ton used decreased 8% from $314 in 2019 to $290 in 2019. Despite
the decrease in average scrap and scrap substitute cost per gross ton used, metal margin in the
steel mills segment decreased due to lower average selling prices across all steel mill
businesses.

Scrap prices are driven by the global supply and demand for scrap and other iron-based raw
materials used to make steel. Scrap prices decreased during most of 2020 but began to rapidly
increase late in the year. As we enter 2021, we see downward pressure on scrap prices in the
near term that we believe is likely to stabilize and follow a more typical seasonal pattern during
the remainder of the year.

e Pre-operating and start-up costs of new facilities decreased to approximately $101 million in
2020 as compared to approximately $103 million in 2019. Pre-operating and start-up costs in
2020 primarily related to the bar mills being built in Missouri and Florida, the plate mill being
built in Kentucky, the sheet mill expansion in Kentucky and the merchant bar quality mill
expansion at our bar mill in lllinois. In 2019, pre-operating and start-up costs primarily related to
the bar mills being built in Missouri and Florida, the expansion at our sheet mill in Kentucky and
the upgrades at our Louisiana DRI facility. Nucor defines pre-operating and start-up costs, all of
which are expensed, as the losses attributable to facilities or major projects that are either under
construction or in the early stages of operation. Once these facilities or projects have attained a
utilization rate that is consistent with our similar operating facilities, they are no longer
considered by Nucor to be in start-up.

e Gross margins in the steel products segment for 2020 increased as compared to 2019 primarily
due to the increased profitability of our rebar fabrication and tubular products businesses which
were partially offset by the decreased profitability of our building systems and cold finish
operations.

e Gross margins in the raw materials segment for 2020 increased as compared to 2019 primarily
due to the improved performance of our DRI facilities that resulted in lower losses.

Gross margins related to DJJ’s brokerage operations decreased in 2020 as compared to 2019
due to margin compression and decreased volumes. Gross margins for DJJ’s scrap processing
operations slightly increased in 2020.

Marketing, Administrative and Other Expenses

A major component of marketing, administrative and other expenses is profit sharing and other
incentive compensation costs. These costs, which are based upon and fluctuate with Nucor’s financial
performance, decreased from 2019 to 2020 due to our decreased profitability in 2020. In 2020, profit
sharing costs consisted of $86.6 million of contributions, including the Company’s matching contribution,
made to the Company’s Profit Sharing and Retirement Savings Plan for qualified employees ($181.4
million in 2019). Other employee bonus costs also fluctuate based on Nucor’s achievement of certain
financial performance goals, including achieving record earnings, and comparisons of Nucor’s financial
performance to peers in the steel industry and other companies. Stock-based compensation included in
marketing, administrative and other expenses decreased by 21% to $29.2 million in 2020 compared with
$36.9 million in 2019 and includes costs associated with vesting of stock awards granted in prior years.

Included in marketing, administrative and other expenses in 2020 was $18.2 million of restructuring
charges related to the realignment of Nucor’'s metal buildings business in the steel products segment.

31



Included in marketing, administrative and other expenses in 2019 was a benefit of $33.7 million related to
the gain on the sale of an equity method investment in the raw materials segment.

Equity in Losses (Earnings) of Unconsolidated Affiliates

Equity method investment losses and (earnings) were $10.5 million in 2020 and $(3.3) million in
2019. The decrease in equity method investment earnings from 2019 to 2020 was primarily due to the
decreased results of Nucor-JFE and NuMit.

Losses and Impairments of Assets

During the fourth quarter of 2019, Nucor performed an impairment analysis of its three fields of
proved producing natural gas well assets and determined that the carrying amount of one of the fields of
wells exceeded its fair value and the impairment condition was considered to be other than temporary.
This field of wells was not impaired as a result of the analysis performed in 2018. Nucor recorded a $35.0
million non-cash impairment charge against this field of wells, driven primarily by estimated lease
operating costs that were higher than the estimates used in the 2018 analysis. These charges were
included in the raw materials segment. See Note 7 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements
for additional information.

Nucor recorded additional impairment charges in 2019 of $20.0 million related to certain property,
plant and equipment in the steel mills segment, and $11.9 million related to the write-down of certain
intangible assets in the steel products segment.

In 2020, Nucor recorded losses on assets of $483.5 million related to our equity method investment
in Duferdofin Nucor. Nucor also recorded impairment charges in 2020 of $103.2 million related to certain

inventory and long-lived assets in the steel mills segment, and $27.0 million related to the write-down of
our unproved natural gas well assets included in the raw materials segment.

Interest Expense (Income)

Net interest expense is detailed below (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019
Interest expense $ 166,613 $ 157,358
Interest income (13,415) (35,933)
Interest expense, net $ 153,198 §$ 121,425

Interest expense increased in 2020 compared to 2019 due to a higher average outstanding debt
balance. Interest income decreased in 2020 compared to 2019 due to significantly lower average interest
rates on investments.

Earnings (Loss) Before Income Taxes and Noncontrolling Interests
The following table presents earnings (loss) before income taxes and noncontrolling interests by
segment for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands). The change between periods

were driven by the quantitative and qualitative factors previously discussed.

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019
Steel mills $ 720,151 $ 1,790,694
Steel products 690,547 511,145
Raw materials 23,621 (28,244)
Corporate/eliminations (598,781) (490,788)
Earnings before income taxes and noncontrolling interests $ 835538 $ 1,782,807
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Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests represent the income attributable to the noncontrolling partners of Nucor’'s
joint ventures, primarily Nucor-Yamato, of which Nucor owns 51%. The 15% increase in earnings
attributable to noncontrolling interests in 2020 as compared to 2019 was primarily due to the increased
earnings of Nucor—Yamato. Under the Nucor—Yamato limited partnership agreement, the minimum
amount of cash to be distributed each year to the partners is the amount needed by each partner to pay
applicable U.S. federal and state income taxes. In 2020, the amount of cash distributed to noncontrolling
interest holders exceeded the earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests based on mutual
agreement of the general partners; however, the cumulative amount of cash distributed to partners was
less than the cumulative net earnings of the partnership.

Provision for Income Taxes

The Company’s effective tax rate in 2020 was -0.06% compared with 23.1% in 2019. The decrease
in the effective tax rate was primarily due to a net tax benefit of $201.9 million (-24.16%) for a tax loss on
our investment in Duferdofin Nucor, a net tax benefit of $45.2 million (-5.41%) for state tax credits, and a
federal tax benefit of $48.2 million (-5.77%) for the carryback of a federal tax net operating loss (an
“NOL”) under the CARES Act. These benefits were all recognized in 2020 and were somewhat offset by
the rate impact (11.2%) of financial statement impairments of $445.6 million which did not affect the
provision for income taxes. The CARES Act allows for an NOL generated in 2020 to be carried back to
taxable years where the federal income tax rate was 35%. The difference in the tax rate in 2020 and tax
years before the enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 is the main driver of the federal tax
NOL benefit in 2020, but this is somewhat offset by the partial loss of the domestic manufacturing
deduction in the carryback year.

Nucor has concluded U.S. federal income tax matters for tax years through 2014 and for tax year
2016. The tax years 2015 and 2017 through 2019 remain open to examination by the Internal Revenue
Service. The 2015 Canadian income tax returns for Harris Steel Group Inc. and certain related affiliates
are currently under examination by the Canada Revenue Agency. The tax years 2014 through 2019
remain open to examination by other major taxing jurisdictions to which Nucor is subject (primarily
Canada and other state and local jurisdictions).

Net Earnings and Return on Equity

Nucor reported net earnings of $721.5 million, or $2.36 per diluted share, in 2020, compared to net
earnings of $1.27 billion, or $4.14 per diluted share, in 2019. Net earnings attributable to Nucor
stockholders as a percentage of net sales were 3.6% and 5.6% in 2020 and 2019, respectively. Return on
average stockholders’ equity was 6.8% and 12.6% in 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and the significant uncertainty it had on Nucor and our
stakeholders, we instituted enterprise-wide efforts to enhance our liquidity and support our teammates,
which include, among other things:

e Capital Expenditures — We began the year with a capital expenditures budget of $2.00
billion. We reviewed our capital expenditures budget and decided to delay certain capital
projects that had not begun, briefly paused a few of our larger projects and continued with
certain projects that were either close to completion or where work had been scheduled. As
a result, our total capital expenditures in 2020 was $1.54 billion. Our 2021 capital
expenditures estimate is approximately $2.00 billion.

e Working Capital — Our net working capital position has contracted to provide a source of
incremental liquidity while business activity has slowed. In addition, we are maintaining
reduced raw material inventory levels in line with our anticipated near-term production
requirements, a change we believe is sustainable and intend to maintain throughout 2021.
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e Pay & Benefits — Almost all of our compensation plans are heavily weighted toward
incentive compensation which rewards productivity and profitability. We implemented a
temporary compensation floor for production and non-production hourly teammates and
committed to offering at least their normal benefits during the crisis. Nucor’s executive
compensation program intentionally sets base salaries below the market median for similar
size industrial and materials companies. With lower profitability in 2020 as compared to the
prior year, our executive leadership incurred a reduction in earned incentive compensation
on an absolute dollar and percentage basis compared to compensation attributable to 2019
performance.

Nucor’s cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and restricted cash and cash
equivalents position remained strong at $3.16 billion at December 31, 2020, compared with $1.83 billion
as of December 31, 2019. Approximately $316.0 million and $354.4 million of the cash and cash
equivalents position at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, was held by our majority-owned joint
ventures. Cash flows provided by operating activities provide us with a significant source of liquidity.
When needed, we have external short-term financing sources available, including the issuance of
commercial paper and borrowings under our bank credit facilities.

We also issue long-term debt securities from time to time. To further enhance our liquidity, Nucor
took advantage of attractive market conditions during the second quarter of 2020 to issue low coupon
debt in the form of long-term notes. In May, Nucor issued $500.0 million of 2.000% Notes due 2025 and
$500.0 million of 2.700% Notes due 2030. Additionally, in July, Nucor became an obligor with respect to
$162.6 million in 40-year variable-rate Green Bonds to partially fund the capital costs associated with the
construction of our plate mill located in Brandenburg, Kentucky. Proceeds of the Green Bonds are held on
Nucor’s balance sheet as restricted cash and cash equivalents until they are utilized in connection with
the construction of the plate mill in Brandenburg, Kentucky.

In December 2020, Nucor exchanged $106.7 million of its 6.400% Notes due 2037, $161.9 million of
its 5.200% Notes due 2043 and $170.8 million of its 4.400% Notes due 2048 with holders of the existing
notes for $439.3 million of its 2.979% Notes due 2055 and a cash component of $180.3 million. This
exchange transaction has been accounted for as a modification and, as such, the cash component of
$180.3 million has been capitalized as a reduction of long-term debt and is being amortized into interest
expense over the life of the new notes.

Nucor’s $1.50 billion revolving credit facility is undrawn and was amended and restated in April 2018
to extend the maturity date to April 2023. We believe our financial strength is a key strategic advantage
among domestic steel producers, particularly during recessionary business cycles. We carry the highest
credit ratings of any steel producer headquartered in North America, with an A- long-term rating from
Standard and Poor’s and a Baa1 long-term rating from Moody’s. Our credit ratings are dependent,
however, upon a number of factors, both qualitative and quantitative, and are subject to change at any
time. The disclosure of our credit ratings is made in order to enhance investors’ understanding of our
sources of liquidity and the impact of our credit ratings on our cost of funds. Based upon the preceding
factors, we expect to continue to have adequate access to the capital markets at a reasonable cost of
funds for liquidity purposes when needed.

Selected Measures of Liquidity and Capital Resources

(Dollars in thousands)
December 31,

2020 2019
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2639671 $ 1,534,605
Short-term investments 408,004 300,040
Restriced cash and cash equivalents 115,258 —
Working capital 6,860,802 5,762,596
Current ratio 3.6 3.3

The current ratio, which is calculated by dividing current assets by current liabilities, was 3.6 at year-
end 2020 compared with 3.3 at year-end 2019. The current ratio was positively impacted by the 66%
increase in cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments. The increase in cash and cash
equivalents and short-term investments was a result of the issuance of $500.0 million of 2.000% Notes
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due 2025 and $500.0 million of 2.700% Notes due 2030 and robust cash provided by operations during
2020.

In 2020, total accounts receivable turned approximately every six weeks and inventories turned
approximately every 11 weeks. These ratios compare with accounts receivable turnover of approximately
every five weeks and inventory turnover of approximately every 11 weeks in 2019.

Funds provided by operations, cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, restricted cash
and cash equivalents and new borrowings under existing credit facilities are expected to be adequate to
meet future capital expenditure and working capital requirements for existing operations for at least the
next 24 months. Additionally, Nucor has no significant debt maturities until September 2022.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have a simple capital structure with no off-balance sheet arrangements or relationships with
unconsolidated special purpose entities that we believe could have a material impact on our financial
condition or liquidity.

Capital Allocation Strategy

We believe that our conservative financial practices have served us well in the past and are serving
us well today. Nucor’s financial strength allows for a consistent, balanced approach to capital allocation
throughout the business cycle. Nucor’s highest capital allocation priority is to reinvest in our business to
ensure our continued profitable growth over the long term. We have historically done this by investing to
optimize our existing operations, initiate greenfield expansions and make acquisitions. Our second priority
is to return capital to our stockholders through cash dividends and share repurchases. We intend to return
a minimum of 40% of our net earnings to our stockholders, while maintaining a debt-to-capital ratio that
supports a strong investment grade credit rating. The Company repurchased $39.5 million of shares of its
common stock in 2020 ($298.5 million in 2019 and $854.0 million in 2018).

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities was $2.70 billion in 2020 as compared to $2.81 billion in 2019.
Net earnings declined by $534.9 million over the prior year, which included $613.6 million of non-cash
losses and impairments of assets related to our equity method investment in Duferdofin Nucor,
impairment of certain inventory and long-lived assets in the steel mills segment and a write-down of our
unproved natural gas well assets in the raw materials segment ($66.9 million of non-cash losses and
impairments of assets in 2019). Additionally, the decrease in cash provided by operating activities was
driven by the $209.3 million reduction of cash provided by operating assets and operating liabilities.
Changes in operating assets and operating liabilities (exclusive of acquisitions and dispositions) provided
cash of $204.0 million in 2020 as compared to $413.3 million in 2019. The funding of working capital
increased in 2020 over the prior year mainly due to increases in accounts receivable and a more
moderate decrease in inventory from year-end 2019 to the end of 2020 as compared to the same prior
year period, offset by an increase in accounts payable and a more moderate cash outflow related to
salaries, wages and related accruals. Accounts receivable at the end of 2020 increased from prior year-
end due to a 2.5% increase in composite sales price. From year-end 2019 to year-end 2020, inventories
decreased by $273.0 million due to a 13% decrease in inventory tons, as compared to inventories
decreasing by $711.4 million due to a 22% decline in average scrap and scrap substitutes cost per ton in
inventory and a 9% decline in total inventory tons on hand in the prior year period. Inventory tons
reduction, especially scrap, was a particular focus due to uncertainty from the COVID-19 pandemic
beginning in the second quarter of 2020, and our investment in inventory at the end of 2020 continued to
decline from prior quarter-end levels. Accounts payable increased due to the increase in average scrap
and scrap substitute cost per ton mentioned previously. Finally, the decrease in cash used to fund
salaries, wages and related accruals in 2020 as compared to 2019 was due to the timing of incentive
compensation payments and lower current year profit sharing accruals due to the decreased profitability
of the Company. The 2019 payments were based on Nucor’s financial performance in 2018, which was a
record earnings year.
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Investing Activities

Our business is capital intensive; therefore, cash used in investing activities primarily represents
capital expenditures for new facilities, the expansion and upgrading of existing facilities and the
acquisition of other companies. Cash used in investing activities in 2020 was $1.76 billion as compared to
$1.79 billion in 2019. Cash used for capital expenditures was relatively flat from the prior year, $1.54
billion in 2020 as opposed to $1.48 billion in 2019. The primary drivers of capital expenditures were
related to the sheet mill expansion at Nucor Steel Gallatin, the flex galvanizing line at Nucor Steel
Arkansas, the new micro mill greenfield expansion in Frostproof, Florida, and the new plate mill in
Brandenburg, Kentucky. Also impacting cash used in investing activities in 2020 was the purchase of
$488.5 million of investments, as opposed to $367.7 million in the prior year. These purchases were
partially offset by proceeds from the sale of investments of $392.2 million in 2020 and $67.7 million in
2019. Additionally, 2019 benefited from cash provided by the divestiture of an affiliate of $67.6 million
related to the sale of an equity method investment.

Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities during 2020 was $285.9 million as compared to cash used in
financing activities of $880.4 million in 2019. The majority of this change related to the debt issuance
discussed previously, as well as Nucor becoming an obligor with respect to $162.6 million in 40-year
variable rate Green Bonds to partially fund the capital costs associated with the construction of our plate
mill located in Brandenburg, Kentucky. There were also approximately $39.5 million of stock repurchases
in 2020, all in the first quarter, as compared to $298.5 million in 2019. In addition, in the fourth quarter of
2020, $180.4 million of cash was used for payment of premiums on the debt exchange where Nucor
issued $439.2 million of its new 2.979% Notes due 2055 in exchange for certain of its existing notes.
Finally, in the first quarter of 2020, one of the remarketing agents for Nucor’s industrial development
revenue bonds (“IDRBs”) put a portion of two bonds to us, resulting in repayment of $32.0 million in long-
term debt. We subsequently remarketed the bonds and received $32.0 million in proceeds. Nucor’s
IDRBs are variable-rate, tax-exempt bonds which have interest rates that reset on a weekly basis through
an ongoing remarketing process. We expect our bonds to be successfully placed with investors at the
market driven rates in the future. However, there have been times in severe economic downturns, as was
the case during the first quarter of 2020 as a result of the economic impacts of COVID-19, that a
remarketing agent is unable to remarket Nucor’'s bonds successfully and is unwilling to temporarily hold
the bonds. In that situation, which has been rare in our experience, it is possible that the bonds could be
put back to us in the future. In this instance during the first quarter of 2020, the IDRBs were remarketed
successfully in a short period of time. However, in the event of a prolonged failed remarketing, we have,
among other options, availability under our $1.50 billion revolving credit facility to repurchase the IDRBs
until they are remarketed successfully. In general, Nucor has the ability and intent to refinance the IDRB
debt on a long-term basis, therefore we classify the IDRBs as a long-term liability. The remaining $65.2
million of debt that was repaid during 2020 was related to a different tranche of Nucor’'s IDRBs that was
repurchased as part of our investment strategy and the payoff of a series of IDRBs that matured during
the third quarter.

Our undrawn revolving credit facility includes only one financial covenant, which is a limit of 60% on
the ratio of funded debt to total capitalization. In addition, the undrawn revolving credit facility contains
customary non-financial covenants, including a limit on Nucor’s ability to pledge the Company’s assets
and a limit on consolidations, mergers and sales of assets. Our funded debt to total capital ratio was 32%
at the end of 2020 and 29% at the end of 2019, and we were in compliance with all other covenants
under our undrawn revolving credit facility at the end of 2020.

Market Risk

Nucor’s largest exposure to market risk is in our steel mills and steel products segments. Our
utilization rates for the steel mills and steel products facilities for the fourth quarter of 2020 were 87% and
71%, respectively. A significant portion of our steel mills and steel products segments’ sales are into the
commercial, industrial and municipal construction markets. Our largest single customer in 2020
represented less than 5% of sales and consistently pays within terms. In the raw materials segment, we
are exposed to price fluctuations related to the purchase of scrap steel, pig iron and iron ore. Our
exposure to market risk is mitigated by the fact that our steel mills use a significant portion of the products
of this segment.

36



Nucor’s tax-exempt IDRBs have variable interest rates that are adjusted weekly. These IDRBs
represented 22% of Nucor’s long-term debt outstanding at December 31, 2020. The remaining 78% of
Nucor’s long-term debt is at fixed rates. Future changes in interest rates are not expected to significantly
impact earnings. From time to time, Nucor makes use of interest rate swaps to manage interest rate risk.
As of December 31, 2020, there were no such contracts outstanding. Nucor’s investment practice is to
invest in securities that are highly liquid with short maturities. As a result, we do not expect changes in
interest rates to have a significant impact on the value of our investment securities recorded as short-term
investments.

Nucor also uses derivative financial instruments from time to time to partially manage its exposure to
price risk related to purchases of natural gas used in the production process, as well as scrap, copper
and aluminum purchased for resale to its customers. In addition, Nucor uses forward foreign exchange
contracts from time to time to hedge cash flows associated with certain assets and liabilities, firm
commitments and anticipated transactions. Nucor generally does not enter into derivative instruments for
any purpose other than hedging the cash flows associated with specific volumes of commodities that will
be purchased and processed or sold in future periods and hedging the exposures related to changes in
the fair value of outstanding fixed-rate debt instruments and foreign currency transactions. Nucor
recognizes all derivative instruments in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value.

The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through its operations in Canada and
Mexico. We periodically use derivative contracts to mitigate the risk of currency fluctuations.

Dividends

Nucor has increased its base cash dividend every year since it began paying dividends in 1973.
Nucor paid dividends of $1.61 per share in 2020, compared with $1.60 per share in 2019. In December
2019, the Board of Directors increased the regular quarterly cash dividend on Nucor's common stock to
$0.405 per share. Over the past 10 years, Nucor has returned approximately $6.00 billion in capital to its
stockholders in the form of base dividends and share repurchases. In February 2021, the Board of
Directors declared Nucor's 192" consecutive quarterly cash dividend of $0.405 per share payable on
May 11, 2021 to stockholders of record on March 31, 2021.

Contractual Obligations and Other Commercial Commitments

The following table sets forth our contractual obligations and other commercial commitments as of
December 31, 2020 for the periods presented (in thousands):

Payments Due By Period

Contractual Obligations Total 2021 2022-2023  2024-2025 ti%?'g;?:r
Long-term debt $ 5,403,240 % —$1,101,000 $ 500,000 $3,802,240
Estimated interest on long-term

debt (1) 2,288,503 169,935 299,534 244,559 1,574,475
Finance leases 162,006 20,676 38,274 24,525 78,531
Operating leases 117,221 23,134 36,361 23,545 34,181
Raw material purchase

commitments (2) 2,997,021 1,248,172 1,017,162 312,453 419,234
Utility purchase commitments (2) 803,562 274,186 206,959 120,594 201,823
Other unconditional purchase

obligations (3) 1,058,932 1,041,822 9,463 3,159 4,488
Other long-term obligations (4) 488,618 322,553 34,052 2,283 129,730
Total contractual obligations $13,319,103 $3,100,478 $2,742,805 $1,231,118 $6,244,702

(1) Interest is estimated using applicable rates at December 31, 2020 for Nucor’s outstanding fixed-rate and
variable-rate debt.

(2) Nucor enters into contracts for the purchase of scrap and scrap substitutes, iron ore, electricity, natural gas, and
other raw materials and related services. These contracts include multi-year commitments and minimum annual
purchase requirements and are valued at prices in effect on December 31, 2020, or according to the contract
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language. These contracts are part of normal operations and are reflected in historical operating cash flow
trends. We do not believe such commitments will adversely affect our liquidity position.

(3) Purchase obligations include commitments for capital expenditures on operating machinery and equipment.

(4) Other long-term obligations include amounts associated with Nucor’s early-retiree medical benefits, management
compensation and guarantees.

Note: In addition to the amounts shown in the table above, $48.0 million of unrecognized tax benefits have been
recorded as liabilities, and we are uncertain as to if or when such amounts may be settled. Related to these
unrecognized tax benefits, we have also recorded a liability for potential penalties and interest of $12.0 million at
December 31, 2020.

Outlook

In 2021, we will continue to take advantage of our position of strength to grow Nucor’s long-term
earnings power and stockholder value by continuing to successfully focus on profitable growth strategies.
We have invested significant capital over a broad range of strategic acquisitions and investments that we
believe will further enhance our ability to: grow Nucor’s long-term earnings power by increasing our
channels to market; expand our product portfolios into higher value-added offerings that are less
vulnerable to imports; improve our highly variable low-cost structure; build upon our market leadership
positions; and achieve commercial excellence. We are utilizing Nucor’s financial strength to execute on
investment opportunities to further grow our long-term earnings capacity.

We expect Nucor’s earnings in the first quarter of 2021 to increase significantly as compared to the
fourth quarter of 2020. We expect a very significant increase in earnings in the steel mills segment in the
first quarter of 2021 as compared to the fourth quarter of 2020 (excluding the fourth quarter of 2020
impairment charges), due to price increases that were announced in the fourth quarter of 2020 and
expected higher volumes. We expect the profitability of the steel products segment in the first quarter of
2021 to be similar to the fourth quarter of 2020. We expect the performance of the raw materials segment
to significantly increase in the first quarter of 2021 as compared to the fourth quarter of 2020, due to an
improvement in pricing for raw materials and the absence of the impairment charge related to our
unproved natural gas assets taken in 2020.

As we begin 2021, we see key economic indicators rebounding and stable or improving market
conditions in 23 of the 24 steel intensive end-use markets that we monitor. We believe that full year
domestic steel demand will experience modest growth in 2021 as compared to 2020. Backlog volumes in
both the steel mills and steel products segments were significantly higher at the end of 2020 compared to
the end of 2019.

We are ever mindful of the threat of increases in imported steel stemming from the still significant
excess foreign steel capacity. The Section 232 tariffs are having their intended impact by taking artificially
low-cost foreign imports out of the U.S. market. Over the past decade, the steel industry has won several
important trade cases that addressed unfairly traded imports prior to the imposition of the Section 232
tariffs. The cumulative impact of those trade case victories also took a sizeable amount of unfairly traded
imports out of the market, and those duties will remain in the event the Section 232 tariffs are lifted.

We are committed to executing on the opportunities we see ahead to reward Nucor stockholders
with very attractive long-term returns on their valuable capital invested in our company. Our industry-
leading financial strength allows us to support investments in our facilities that we believe will enable us to
generate increased profitability. In 2021, as we have in our past, we will allocate capital to investments
that we believe will build our long-term earnings power. Capital expenditures are currently projected to be
approximately $2.00 billion in 2021 and we will be very focused on ensuring that these investments
generate appropriate returns.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of America. The preparation of these consolidated financial
statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at year end and the reported
amount of revenues and expenses during the year. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates,
including those related to the valuation allowances for receivables, the carrying value of non-current
assets and reserves for environmental obligations and income taxes. Our estimates are based on
historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Accordingly, actual costs could
differ materially from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. We believe the following
critical accounting policies affect our significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our
customers to make required payments. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate,
resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. The Company records any amount required to
reduce the carrying value of inventory to net realizable value as a charge to cost of products sold. Scrap
and scrap substitute costs are a very significant component of the raw material, semi-finished and
finished product inventory balances. The vast majority of the Company’s inventory is recorded on the first-
in, first-out method. Production costs are applied to semi-finished and finished product inventory from the
approximate period in which they are produced.

If steel selling prices were to decline in future quarters, write-downs of inventory could result.
Specifically, the valuation of raw material inventories purchased during periods of peak market pricing
would most likely be impacted. Low utilization rates at our steel mills or raw materials facilities could
hinder our ability to work through high-priced scrap and scrap substitutes (particularly pig iron and iron
ore), leading to period-end exposure when comparing carrying value to net realizable value.

Long-Lived Asset Impairments

We evaluate our property, plant and equipment and finite-lived intangible assets for potential
impairment on an individual asset basis or at the lowest level asset grouping for which cash flows can be
independently identified. Asset impairments are assessed whenever circumstances indicate that the
carrying amounts of those productive assets could exceed their projected undiscounted cash flows. In
developing estimated values for assets that we currently use in our operations, we utilize judgments and
assumptions of future undiscounted cash flows that the assets will produce. When it is determined that an
impairment exists, the related assets are written down to estimated fair market value.

Certain long-lived asset groupings were tested for impairment during the fourth quarter of 2020.
Undiscounted cash flows for each asset grouping were estimated using management’s long-range
estimates of market conditions associated with each asset grouping over the estimated useful life of the
principal asset within the group. Our undiscounted cash flow analysis indicated that, other than the
groupings discussed below, the tested long-lived asset groupings were recoverable as of December 31,
2020; however, if our projected cash flows are not realized, either because of an extended recessionary
period or other unforeseen events, impairment charges may be required in future periods. A 13%
decrease in the projected cash flows of each of our asset groupings would not result in an impairment.
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Steel Mills Segment Asset Impairments

In 2019, Nucor recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $20.0 million related to certain property,
plant and equipment at our plate mill in Texas. This charge is included in losses and impairments of
assets in the consolidated statement of earnings for the year ended December 31, 2019.

In 2020, Nucor recorded non-cash impairment charges totaling $103.2 million related to certain
inventory and long-lived assets, which primarily related to our Castrip sheet mill operations. Due to the
advancements in the capabilities at our new cold mill and galvanizing line we have under construction at
Nucor Steel Arkansas, we believe the value of the technology and process has diminished for Nucor. As
such, the existing Castrip assets are not expected to be materially utilized going forward. These charges
are included in losses and impairments of assets in the consolidated statement of earnings for the year
ended December 31, 2020.

Raw Materials Segment Asset Impairments

In the third quarter of 2018, due to the deteriorating natural gas pricing environment at our sales
point in the Piceance Basin, Nucor determined a triggering event had occurred and performed an
impairment analysis that resulted in $110.0 million of non-cash impairment charges relating to two of its
three groups (“fields”) of wells. In the fourth quarter of 2019, due to the deteriorating natural gas pricing
environment at our sales point in the Piceance Basin as well as the decreased performance of the natural
gas well assets, Nucor determined a triggering event had occurred and performed an impairment analysis
on all three fields of wells. As a result of the fourth quarter of 2019 analysis, a $35.0 million non-cash
impairment charge was recorded on the field of wells that was not previously impaired in the third quarter
of 2018. An increase in the estimated lease operating cost projections was the primary factor in causing
this field of wells to be impaired. The non-cash impairment charges are included in losses and
impairments of assets in the consolidated statements of earnings for the years ended December 31, 2019
and 2018.

One of the main assumptions that most significantly affects the undiscounted cash flows
determination is management’s estimate of future pricing of natural gas and natural gas liquids. The
pricing used in the impairment assessments was developed by management based on projected natural
gas market supply and demand dynamics, in conjunction with a review of projections by market analysts.
Management also makes key estimates on the expected reserve levels and on the expected lease
operating costs. The impairment assessments were performed on each of Nucor’s three fields of wells,
with each field defined by common geographic location. The combined carrying value of the three fields of
wells was $71.7 million at December 31, 2020 ($78.9 million at December 31, 2019).

Changes in the natural gas industry or a prolonged low-price environment beyond what had already
been assumed in the assessments could cause management to revise the natural gas and natural gas
liquids price assumptions, the estimated reserves or the estimated lease operating costs. Unfavorable
revisions to these assumptions or estimates could possibly result in further impairment of some or all of
the fields of proved well assets.

In 2020, regulatory authorities in Colorado adopted new rules that became effective January 2021.
One of these rules increases drilling setback distances. In the fourth quarter of 2020, Nucor determined a
triggering event had occurred, as we do not expect to be able to access the full extent of the resources in
the ground, and performed an impairment analysis. As a result, Nucor recorded a $27.0 million non-cash
impairment charge related to the write-down of our leasehold interest in unproved oil and gas properties.
This charge is included in losses and impairments of assets in the consolidated statement of earnings for
the year ended December 31, 2020.

Goodwill and Intangibles

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and whenever events or circumstances change that
would make it more likely than not that an impairment may have occurred. We perform our annual

40



impairment analysis as of the first day of the fourth quarter each year. The evaluation of impairment
involves comparing the current estimated fair value of each reporting unit to the recorded value, including
goodwill.

When appropriate, Nucor performs a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely
than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. For certain reporting units, it
is necessary to perform a quantitative analysis. In these instances, a discounted cash flow model is used
to determine the current estimated fair value of these reporting units. Significant assumptions used to
determine the fair value of each reporting unit as part of our annual testing (and any required interim
testing) include: (i) expected cash flow for the five-year period following the testing date (including market
share, sales volumes and prices, raw materials and other costs to produce and estimated capital needs);
(i) an estimated terminal value using a terminal year growth rate determined based on the growth
prospects of the reporting unit; (iii) a discount rate based on management’s best estimate of the after-tax
weighted-average cost of capital; and (iv) a probability-weighted scenario approach by which varying
cash flows are assigned to certain scenarios based on the likelihood of occurrence. Management
considers historical and anticipated future results, general economic and market conditions, the impact of
planned business and operational strategies and all available information at the time the fair values of its
reporting units are estimated. Those estimates and judgments may or may not ultimately prove
appropriate.

Our fourth quarter 2020 annual goodwill impairment analysis did not result in an impairment charge.
Management does not believe that future impairment of these reporting units is probable. However, the
performance of certain businesses that comprise our reporting units requires continued improvement. An
increase of approximately 50 basis points in the discount rate, a critical assumption in which a minor
change can have a significant impact on the estimated fair value, would not result in an impairment
charge. See Note 8 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements for further discussion of the
results of the Company’s 2020 annual goodwill impairment analysis.

Nucor will continue to monitor operating results within all reporting units throughout 2021 in an effort
to determine if events and circumstances warrant further interim impairment testing. Otherwise, all
reporting units will again be subject to the required annual qualitative and/or quantitative impairment test
during our fourth quarter of 2021. Changes in the judgments and estimates underlying our analysis of
gooduwill for possible impairment, including expected future operating cash flows and discount rate, could
decrease the estimated fair value of our reporting units in the future and could result in an impairment of
goodwill.

Equity Method Investments

Investments in joint ventures in which Nucor shares control over the financial and operating
decisions but in which Nucor is not the primary beneficiary are accounted for under the equity method.
Each of the Company’s equity method investments is subject to a review for impairment if, and when,
circumstances indicate that a decline in value below its carrying amount may have occurred. Examples of
such circumstances include, but are not limited to, a significant deterioration in the earnings performance
or business prospects of the investee; missed financial projections; a significant adverse change in the
regulatory, tax, economic or technological environment of the investee; a significant adverse change in
the general market condition of either the geographic area or the industry in which the investee operates;
and recurring negative cash flows from operations. When management considers the decline to be other
than temporary, the Company would write down the related investment to its estimated fair market value.
An other-than-temporary decline in carrying value is determined to have occurred when, in management’s
judgment, a decline in fair value below carrying value is of such length of time and/or severity that it is
considered long-term.

In the event that an impairment review is necessary, we calculate the estimated fair value of our
equity method investments using a probability-weighted multiple-scenario income approach.
Management’s analysis includes three discounted cash flow scenarios (best case, base case and
recessionary case), which contain forecasted near-term cash flows under each scenario. Generally, (i) the
best case scenario contains estimates of future results ranging from slightly higher than recent operating
performance to levels that are consistent with historical operating and financial performance; (ii) the base
case scenario contains estimates of future results ranging from generally in line with recent operating
performance to levels that are more conservative than historical operating and financial performance; and
(iii) the recessionary case scenario contains estimates of future results which include limited growth
resulting only from operational cost improvements and limited benefits of new higher-value product
offerings. Management determines the probability that each cash flow scenario will come to fruition based
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on the specific facts and circumstances of each of the preceding scenarios, with the base case typically
receiving the majority of the weighting.

Key assumptions used to determine the fair value of our equity method investments include:
(i) expected cash flow for the six-year period following the testing date (including market share, sales
volumes and prices, costs to produce and estimated capital needs); (ii) an estimated terminal value using
a terminal year growth rate determined based on the growth prospects of the investment; (iii) a discount
rate based on management’s best estimate of the after-tax weighted-average cost of capital; and (iv) a
probability-weighted scenario approach by which varying cash flows are assigned to certain scenarios
based on the likelihood of occurrence. While the assumptions that most significantly affect the fair value
determination include projected revenues, metal margins and discount rate, the assumptions are often
interdependent, and no single factor predominates in determining the estimated fair value. Management
considers historical and anticipated future results, general economic and market conditions, the impact of
planned business and operational strategies and all available information at the time the fair values of its
investments are estimated. Those estimates and judgments may or may not ultimately prove appropriate.

Nucor determined that a triggering event occurred in the first quarter of 2020 with respect to its
equity method investment in Duferdofin Nucor due to adverse developments in the joint venture’s
commercial outlook, which were exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic, all of which negatively
impacted the joint venture’s strategic direction. After completing its impairment assessment, Nucor
determined that the carrying amount exceeded its estimated fair value and the impairment condition was
considered to be other than temporary. Therefore, Nucor recorded a $250.0 million impairment charge in
the first quarter of 2020. The assumptions that most significantly affected the fair value determination
included projected cash flows and the discount rate. The Company-specific inputs for measuring fair
value are considered “Level 3” or unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data under
applicable fair value authoritative guidance, as quoted market prices are not available.

Throughout 2020, additional capital contributions were made by the Company to Duferdofin Nucor
that were immediately impaired. These additional capital contributions resulted in $5.0 million, $6.6 million
and $25.4 million impairment charges against our investment in Duferdofin Nucor in the second, third and
fourth quarters of 2020, respectively. Also, in the fourth quarter of 2020, Nucor reclassified into earnings,
$158.6 million of cumulative foreign currency translation losses on our investment in Duferdofin Nucor. In
2020, total impairment charges, including the aforementioned note receivable, related to our investment
in Duferdofin Nucor were approximately $483.5 million. These non-cash impairment charges are included
in the steel mills segment and in losses and impairments of assets in the consolidated statement of
earnings for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Environmental Remediation

We are subject to environmental laws and regulations established by federal, state and local
authorities, and we make provisions for the estimated costs related to compliance. Undiscounted
remediation liabilities are accrued based on estimates of known environmental exposures. The accruals
are reviewed periodically and, as investigations and remediation proceed, adjustments are made as we
believe are necessary. Our measurement of environmental liabilities is based on currently available facts,
present laws and regulations and current technology.

Income Taxes

We utilize the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method, deferred
taxes are determined based on the temporary differences between the financial statement and tax basis
of assets and liabilities using tax rates expected to be in effect during the years in which the basis
differences reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely than not that some of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. We recognize the effect of income tax positions only if those
positions are more likely than not of being sustained. Potential accrued interest and penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits within operations are recognized as a component of interest expense and other
expenses.
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Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements made in this report, or in other public filings, press releases, or other written or
oral communications made by Nucor, which are not historical facts are forward-looking statements subject
to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-
looking statements involve risks and uncertainties which we expect will or may occur in the future and
may impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. The words “anticipate,” “believe,”
“expect,” “intend,” “project,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “could” and similar expressions are intended to identify
those forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements reflect the Company’s best
judgment based on current information, and, although we base these statements on circumstances that
we believe to be reasonable when made, there can be no assurance that future events will not affect the
accuracy of such forward-looking information. As such, the forward-looking statements are not
guarantees of future performance, and actual results may vary materially from the projected results and
expectations discussed in this report. Factors that might cause the Company’s actual results to differ
materially from those anticipated in forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to: (1)
competitive pressure on sales and pricing, including pressure from imports and substitute materials; (2)
U.S. and foreign trade policies affecting steel imports or exports; (3) the sensitivity of the results of our
operations to prevailing market steel prices and changes in the supply and cost of raw materials,
including pig iron, iron ore and scrap steel; (4) the availability and cost of electricity and natural gas which
could negatively affect our cost of steel production or result in a delay or cancellation of existing or future
drilling within our natural gas drilling programs; (5) critical equipment failures and business interruptions;
(6) market demand for steel products, which, in the case of many of our products, is driven by the level of
nonresidential construction activity in the United States; (7) impairment in the recorded value of inventory,
equity investments, fixed assets, goodwill or other long-lived assets; (8) uncertainties surrounding the
global economy, including excess world capacity for steel production; (9) fluctuations in currency
conversion rates; (10) significant changes in laws or government regulations affecting environmental
compliance, including legislation and regulations that result in greater regulation of GHG emissions that
could increase our energy costs and our capital expenditures and operating costs or cause one or more
of our permits to be revoked or make it more difficult to obtain permit modifications; (11) the cyclical
nature of the steel industry; (12) capital investments and their impact on our performance; (13) our safety
performance; (14) the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic; and (15) the risks discussed in Part I, “Item 1A.
Risk Factors” of this report.

” o«

Caution should be taken not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements included in
this report. We assume no obligation to update any forward-looking statements except as may be
required by law. In evaluating forward-looking statements, these risks and uncertainties should be
considered, together with the other risks described from time to time in our reports and other filings with
the SEC.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

In the ordinary course of business, Nucor is exposed to a variety of market risks. We continually
monitor these risks and develop strategies to manage them.

Interest Rate Risk — Nucor manages interest rate risk by using a combination of variable-rate and
fixed-rate debt. At December 31, 2020, approximately 22% of Nucor’s long-term debt was in industrial
revenue bonds that have variable interest rates that are adjusted weekly. The remaining 78% of Nucor’s
long-term debt was at fixed rates. Future changes in interest rates are not expected to significantly impact
earnings. Nucor also occasionally makes use of interest rate swaps to manage net exposure to interest
rate changes. As of December 31, 2020, there were no such contracts outstanding. Nucor’s investment
practice is to invest in securities that are highly liquid with short maturities. As a result, we do not expect
changes in interest rates to have a significant impact on the value of our investment securities recorded
as short-term investments.

Commodity Price Risk — In the ordinary course of business, Nucor is exposed to market risk for
price fluctuations of raw materials and energy, principally scrap steel, other ferrous and nonferrous
metals, alloys and natural gas. We attempt to negotiate the best prices for our raw materials and energy
requirements and to obtain prices for our steel products that match market price movements in response
to supply and demand. In periods of strong or stable demand for our products, we are more likely to be
able to effectively reduce the normal time lag in passing through higher raw material costs so that we can
maintain our gross margins. When demand for our products is weaker, this becomes more challenging.
Our DRI facilities in Trinidad and Louisiana provide us with flexibility in managing our input costs. DRI is
particularly important for operational flexibility when demand for prime scrap increases due to increased
domestic steel production.

Natural gas produced by Nucor’s drilling operations is being sold to third parties to offset our
exposure to changes in the price of natural gas consumed by our Louisiana DRI facility and our steel mills
in the United States.

Nucor also periodically uses derivative financial instruments to hedge a portion of our exposure to
price risk related to natural gas purchases used in the production process and to hedge a portion of our
scrap, aluminum and copper purchases and sales. Gains and losses from derivatives designated as
hedges are deferred in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of income taxes on the consolidated
balance sheets and recognized in net earnings in the same period as the underlying physical
transaction. At December 31, 2020, accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of income taxes included
$4.7 million in unrealized net-of-tax losses for the fair value of these derivative instruments. Changes in
the fair values of derivatives not designated as hedges are recognized in earnings each period. The
following table presents the negative effect on pre-tax earnings of a hypothetical change in the fair value
of the derivative instruments outstanding at December 31, 2020, due to an assumed 10% and 25%
change in the market price of each of the indicated commodities (in thousands):

Commodity

Derivative 10% Change 25% Change
Natural gas $ 5,854 $ 14,635
Aluminum 5,413 13,542
Copper 3,487 8,719

Any resulting changes in fair value would be recorded as adjustments to accumulated other
comprehensive loss, net of income taxes, or recognized in net earnings, as appropriate. These
hypothetical losses would be partially offset by the benefit of lower prices paid or higher prices received
for the physical commodities.

Foreign Currency Risk — Nucor is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through its operations in
Canada, Europe and Mexico. We periodically use derivative contracts to mitigate the risk of currency
fluctuations. Open foreign currency derivative contracts at December 31, 2020 and 2019 were
insignificant.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Nucor's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of Nucor’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2020. In making this assessment, management used criteria set forth by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework (2013).

Based on its assessment, management concluded that Nucor’s internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2020. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, has audited the effectiveness of Nucor’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2020 as stated in their report which is included herein.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of Nucor Corporation
Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Nucor Corporation and its
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated
statements of earnings, of comprehensive income, of stockholders’ equity and of cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, including the related notes (collectively referred
to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company's internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO0).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.
We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the
U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
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control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the
consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit
committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial
statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing
a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Goodwill Impairment Analysis - Rebar Fabrication Reporting Unit

As described in Notes 2 and 8 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s consolidated
goodwill balance was $2.2 billion as of December 31, 2020, and total goodwill associated with the Rebar
Fabrication reporting unit was $364.3 million. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and whenever
events or circumstances change that would make it more likely than not that an impairment may have
occurred. Management completed its 2020 goodwill impairment analysis as of the first day of the fourth
quarter of 2020. The evaluation of impairment involves comparing the current estimated fair value of
each reporting unit to the recorded value, including goodwill. For certain reporting units, it is necessary to
perform a quantitative analysis. In these instances, a discounted cash flow model is used to determine
the current estimated fair value of these reporting units. As disclosed by management, significant
assumptions used to determine the fair value of each reporting unit as part of management’s annual
testing, and any required interim testing include (i) expected cash flow for the five-year period following
the testing date (including market share, sales volumes and prices, raw material costs and other costs to
produce and estimated capital needs); (ii) an estimated terminal value using a terminal year growth rate
determined based on the growth prospects of the reporting unit; (iii) a discount rate based on
management’s best estimate of the after-tax weighted-average cost of capital; and (iv) a probability-
weighted scenario approach by which varying cash flows are assigned to certain scenarios based on the
likelihood of occurrence.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the goodwiill
impairment analysis for the Rebar Fabrication reporting unit is a critical audit matter are the significant
judgment by management when determining the fair value of the reporting unit, which in turn led to
significant auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and evaluating
management’s significant assumptions related to sales prices, raw material costs, the terminal year
growth rate and the discount rate assumption.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with
forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing
the effectiveness of controls relating to management’s goodwill impairment assessment, including
controls over the underlying assumptions related to the fair value of the reporting unit. These procedures
also included, among others, testing management’s process for developing the fair value estimate of the
Rebar Fabrication reporting unit; evaluating the appropriateness of the discounted cash flow model;
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testing the completeness, accuracy, and relevance of underlying data used in the model; and evaluating
the significant assumptions used by management related to the sales prices, raw material costs, terminal
year growth rate and discount rate. Evaluating management’s assumptions related to sales prices, raw
material costs and the terminal year growth rate involved evaluating whether the assumptions used by
management were reasonable considering (i) the current and past performance of the reporting unit, (ii)
the consistency with external market and industry data, and (iii) whether the assumptions were consistent
with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge
were used to assist in the evaluation of the Company’s discounted cash flow model and the discount rate
assumption.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Charlotte, North Carolina
February 26, 2021

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1989.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 14)
Short-term investments (Notes 3 and 14)
Accounts receivable, net (Note 4)
Inventories, net (Note 5)
Other current assets (Note 19)
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net (Notes 6 and 7)
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (Notes 14 and 24)
Goodwill (Note 8)
Other intangible assets, net (Note 8)
Other assets (Notes 6 and 9)
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Short-term debt (Notes 11 and 14)
Current portion of long-term debt and finance lease obligations
(Notes 6, 11 and 14)
Accounts payable (Note 10)
Salaries, wages and related accruals (Note 17)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (Notes 6, 10, 13,
15, 16 and 23)
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt and finance lease obligations due after one year
(Notes 6, 11 and 14)
Deferred credits and other liabilities (Notes 6, 13, 15, 17 and 19)
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 13, 15 and 16)
Equity
Nucor stockholders’ equity (Notes 12, 16 and 20):
Common stock (800,000 shares authorized; 380,154 and 380,154
shares issued, respectively)
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of income taxes
(Notes 13 and 20)
Treasury stock (77,909 and 78,342 shares, respectively)
Total Nucor stockholders’ equity
Noncontrolling interests
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

2020

2019

$ 2,639,671 $ 1,534,605
408,004 300,040
2,298,850 2,160,102
3,569,089 3,842,095
573,048 389,528
9,488,662 8,226,370
6,899,110 6,178,555
115,258 —
2,229,672 2,201,063
668,021 742,186
724,671 996,492

$ 20,125,394 §$ 18,344,666

$ 57,906 $ 62,444

10,885 29,264
1,432,159 1,201,698
462,727 510,844
664,183 659,524
2,627,860 2,463,774
5,271,789 4,291,301
993,884 798,415
8,893,533 7,553,490
152,061 152,061
2,121,288 2,107,646
11,343,852 11,115,056
(118,861) (302,966)
(2,709,675)  (2,713,931)
10,788,665 10,357,866
443,196 433,310
11,231,861 10,791,176

$ 20,125,394 $ 18,344,666




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Net sales (Notes 23 and 25) $20,139,658 $22,588,858 $25,067,279
Costs, expenses and other:
Cost of products sold (Notes 6, 13 and 20) 17,911,708 19,909,773 20,771,871
Marketing, administrative and other expenses (Note 6) 615,041 711,248 860,722
Equity in losses (earnings) of unconsolidated subsidiaries 10,533 (3,311) (40,240)
Losses and impairments of assets (Notes 7, 8, 9,
14, 19, 20 and 25) 613,640 66,916 110,000
Interest expense, net (Notes 6, 18 and 19) 153,198 121,425 135,535

19,304,120 20,806,051 21,837,888

Earnings before income taxes and noncontrolling

interests 835,538 1,782,807 3,229,391
Provision for income taxes (Notes 19 and 25) (490) 411,897 748,307
Net earnings 836,028 1,370,910 2,481,084
Earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests 114,558 99,767 120,317
Net earnings attributable to Nucor stockholders $ 721470 $ 1,271,143 $ 2,360,767
Net earnings per share (Note 21):

Basic $ 237 $ 414 $ 7.44
Diluted $ 236 $ 414 $ 7.42

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In thousands)

Net earnings
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Net unrealized (loss) income on hedging derivatives,
net of income taxes of $400, ($3,100) and ($300)
for 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively

Reclassification adjustment for (gain) loss on
settlement of hedging derivatives included in net
earnings, net of income taxes of $2,500, $700 and $0
for 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively

Foreign currency translation (loss) gain, net of income
taxes of $0 for 2020, 2019 and 2018

Adjustment to early retiree medical plan, net of income
taxes of ($339), ($485) and $514 for 2020, 2019 and
2018, respectively

Reclassification adjustment for (gain) loss on early
retiree medical plan included in net earnings, net of
income taxes of $17, $49 and ($108) for 2020,
2019 and 2018, respectively

Liquidation of equity method investment in foreign
joint venture, net of income taxes of $0 in 2020

Comprehensive income
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling

interests
Comprehensive income attributable to Nucor stockholders

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019

2018

$

836,028 $ 1,370,910 $ 2,481,084

2,084 (9,833) (3,568)
7,216 2,333 (132)
17,306 7,873 (47,133)
(1,213) (1,148) 1,731
72 57 (350)
158,640 — —
184,105 (718) (49,452)
1,020,133 1,370,192 2,431,632
(114,558) (99,767) (120,317)

$

905,575 $ 1,270,425 $ 2,311,315
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Operating activities:
Net earnings $ 836,028 $ 1,370,910 $ 2,481,084
Adjustments:
Depreciation 702,110 648,911 630,879
Amortization 83,356 85,742 88,758
Stock-based compensation 73,853 90,359 73,422
Deferred income taxes 162,836 99,157 3,017
Distributions from affiliates 10,521 37,459 30,196
Equity in losses (earnings) of unconsolidated affiliates 10,533 (3,311) (40,240)
Losses and impairments of assets 613,640 66,916 110,000
Changes in assets and liabilities (exclusive of
acquisitions and dispositions):
Accounts receivable (129,290) 361,340 (485,433)
Inventories 284,081 712,645 (1,092,101)
Accounts payable 250,561 (253,457) 235,572
Federal income taxes (197,275) (180,325) 163,743
Salaries, wages and related accruals (41,169) (186,755) 204,796
Other operating activities 37,092 (40,178) (9,741)
Cash provided by operating activities 2,696,877 2,809,413 2,393,952
Investing activities:
Capital expenditures (1,543,219) (1,477,293) (982,531)
Investment in and advances to affiliates (44,427) (45,834) (121,412)
Divestiture of affiliates — 67,591 —
Disposition of plant and equipment 40,933 41,618 31,589
Acquisitions (net of cash acquired) (88,071) (83,106) (33,063)
Purchases of investments (488,517) (367,741) —
Proceeds from the sale of investments 392,178 67,701 50,000
Other investing activities (33,171) 2,873 25,348
Cash used in investing activities (1,764,294 ) (1,794,191) (1,030,069)
Financing activities:
Net change in short-term debt (4,538) 4,574 5,037
Proceeds from long-term debt, net of discount 1,237,635 — 995,710
Repayment of long-term debt (97,150) — (500,000)
Premium on debt exchange (180,383) — —
Bond issuance related costs (6,250) — (7,625)
Issuance of common stock 11,846 16,145 24,101
Payment of tax withholdings on certain stock-based
compensation (19,102) (25,047) (22,123)
Distributions to noncontrolling interests (115,508) (76,347) (56,179)
Cash dividends (491,655) (492,062) (485,376)
Acquisition of treasury stock (39,499) (298,541) (853,997)
Other financing activities (9,542) (9,132) (7,725)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities 285,854 (880,410) (908,177)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 1,887 907 (5,924)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted
cash and cash equivalents 1,220,324 135,719 449,782
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 1,534,605 1,398,886 949,104
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
and cash equivalents - end of year $ 2,754,929 $ 1534605 $ 1,398,886
Non-cash investing activity:
Change in accrued plant and equipment purchases $ (16,103) $ 34,777 $ 14,725

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NUCOR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020, 2019 AND 2018

1. Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation

Nature of Operations

Nucor is principally a manufacturer of steel and steel products, as well as a scrap broker and
processor, with operating facilities and customers primarily located in North America.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include Nucor and its controlled subsidiaries, including Nucor-
Yamato Steel Company (Limited Partnership), of which Nucor owns 51%. All intercompany transactions
are eliminated.

Distributions are made to noncontrolling interest partners in Nucor-Yamato Steel Company (Limited
Partnership) in accordance with the limited partnership agreement by mutual agreement of the general
partners. At a minimum, sufficient cash is distributed so that each partner may pay its U.S. federal and
state income taxes.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from
these estimates.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are recorded at cost plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value, and
have original maturities of three months or less at the date of purchase. Cash and cash equivalents are
maintained primarily with a few high-credit quality financial institutions.

Short-term Investments

Short-term investments are recorded at cost plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value.
Unrealized gains and losses on investments classified as available-for-sale are recorded as a component
of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Management determines the appropriate
classification of its investments at the time of purchase and re-evaluates such determination at each
balance sheet date.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. The Company records any amount required to
reduce the carrying value of inventory to net realizable value as a charge to cost of products sold. Scrap
and scrap substitute costs are a very significant component of the raw material, semi-finished and
finished product inventory balances. The vast majority of the Company’s inventory is recorded on the first-
in, first-out method. Production costs are applied to semi-finished and finished product inventory from the
approximate period in which they are produced.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, except for property, plant and equipment acquired
through acquisitions which is recorded at acquisition date fair value. With the exception of our natural gas
wells, depreciation primarily is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
assets. Depletion of all capitalized costs associated with our natural gas producing properties is expensed
on a unit-of-production basis by individual field as the gas from the proved developed reserves is
produced. The costs of acquiring unproved natural gas leasehold acreage are capitalized. When proved
reserves are found on unproved properties, the associated leasehold cost is transferred to proved
properties. Unproved leases are reviewed periodically for any impairment triggering event, and a
valuation allowance is provided for any estimated decline in value. The costs of planned major
maintenance activities are capitalized as part of other current assets and amortized over the period until
the next scheduled major maintenance activity. All other repairs and maintenance activities are expensed
when incurred.

Goodwill and Other Intangibles

Goodwill is the excess of cost over the fair value of net assets of businesses acquired. Goodwill is
not amortized but is tested annually for impairment and whenever events or circumstances change that
would make it more likely than not that an impairment may have occurred. We perform our annual
impairment analysis as of the first day of the fourth quarter each year. The evaluation of impairment
involves comparing the current estimated fair value of each reporting unit, which is a level below the
reportable segment, to the recorded value, including goodwill. When appropriate, Nucor performs a
qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit
is less than its carrying amount. For certain reporting units, it is necessary to perform a quantitative
analysis. In these instances, a discounted cash flow model is used to determine the current estimated fair
value of these reporting units. A number of significant assumptions and estimates are involved in the
application of the discounted cash flow model to forecast operating cash flows, which could include
market growth and market share, sales volumes and prices, raw materials and other costs to produce,
discount rate and estimated capital needs. Management considers historical experience and all available
information at the time the fair values of its reporting units are estimated. Assumptions in estimating future
cash flows are subject to a high degree of judgment and complexity. Changes in assumptions and
estimates may affect the fair value of goodwill and could result in impairment charges in future periods.

Finite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line or
accelerated basis.

Long-Lived Asset Impairments

We evaluate our property, plant and equipment and finite-lived intangible assets for potential
impairment on an individual asset basis or at the lowest level asset grouping for which independent cash
flows can be separately identified. Asset impairments are assessed whenever circumstances indicate that
the carrying amounts of those productive assets could exceed their projected undiscounted cash flows.
When it is determined that impairment exists, the related assets are written down to their estimated fair
market value.

Equity Method Investments

Investments in joint ventures in which Nucor shares control over the financial and operating
decisions but in which Nucor is not the primary beneficiary are accounted for under the equity method.
Each of the Company’s equity method investments is subject to a review for impairment if, and when,
circumstances indicate that a decline in fair value below its carrying amount may have occurred.
Examples of such circumstances include, but are not limited to, a significant deterioration in the earnings
performance or business prospects of the investee; missed financial projections; a significant adverse
change in the regulatory, tax, economic or technological environment of the investee; a significant
adverse change in the general market condition of either the geographic area or the industry in which the
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investee operates; and recurring negative cash flows from operations. When management considers the
decline to be other than temporary, the Company would write down the related investment to its
estimated fair market value.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Nucor periodically uses derivative financial instruments primarily to partially manage its exposure to
price risk related to natural gas purchases used in the production process as well as its exposure to
scrap, copper and aluminum purchased for resale to its customers. In addition, Nucor periodically uses
derivatives to partially manage its exposure to changes in interest rates on outstanding debt instruments
and uses forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge cash flows associated with certain assets and
liabilities, firm commitments and anticipated transactions.

Nucor recognizes all derivative financial instruments in the consolidated balance sheets at fair
value. Amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) related to cash flow hedges
are reclassified into earnings when the underlying transaction is recognized in net earnings. Changes in
fair value hedges are reported in earnings along with changes in the fair value of the hedged items. When
cash flow and fair value hedges affect net earnings, they are included in the same financial statement line
as the underlying transaction (cost of products sold or interest expense). If these instruments do not meet
hedge accounting criteria, the change in fair value (or a portion thereof) is recognized immediately in
earnings in the same financial statement line as the underlying transaction.

Revenue Recognition

Nucor recognizes revenue when obligations under the terms of contracts with our customers are
satisfied; generally, this occurs upon shipment or when control is transferred. Revenue is measured as
the amount of consideration expected to be received in exchange for transferring the goods. In addition,
revenue is deferred when cash payments are received or due in advance of performance. See Note 23
for further information.

Income Taxes

Nucor utilizes the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method,
deferred taxes are determined based on the temporary differences between the financial statement and
tax basis of assets and liabilities using tax rates expected to be in effect during the years in which the
basis differences reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely than not that some of
the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Nucor recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of
being sustained. Potential accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits are
recognized as a component of interest expense and other expenses.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes the cost of stock-based compensation as an expense using fair value
measurement methods. The assumptions used to calculate the fair value of stock-based compensation
granted are evaluated and revised for new grants, as necessary, to reflect market conditions and
experience.

Foreign Currency Translation

For Nucor’s operations where the functional currency is other than the U.S. dollar, assets and
liabilities have been translated at year-end exchange rates, and income and expenses have been
translated using average exchange rates for the respective periods. Adjustments resulting from the
process of translating an entity’s financial statements into the U.S. dollar have been recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and are included in net earnings only upon sale or
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liquidation of the underlying investments. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in
net earnings in the period they occur.

3. Short-term Investments

Nucor held $408.0 million of short-term investments as of December 31, 2020 ($300.0 million as of
December 31, 2019). The investments held as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 consisted
mainly of several certificates of deposit (“CD’s”), commercial paper and corporate bonds, which were
classified as available-for-sale. Interest income on the CD’s and corporate bonds was recorded as
earned.

No realized or unrealized gains or losses were incurred in 2020, 2019 or 2018.

4. Accounts Receivable

An allowance for doubtful accounts is maintained for estimated losses resulting from the inability of
our customers to make required payments. Accounts receivable are stated net of the allowance for
doubtful accounts of $51.3 million at December 31, 2020 ($59.9 million at December 31, 2019 and
$62.1 million at December 31, 2018).

5. Inventories

Inventories consisted of approximately 42% raw materials and supplies and 58% finished and semi-
finished products at December 31, 2020 and 2019. Nucor’'s manufacturing process consists of a
continuous, vertically integrated process from which products are sold to customers at various stages
throughout the process. Since most steel products can be classified as either finished or semi-finished
products, these two categories of inventory are combined.

6. Leases

We lease certain equipment, office space and land. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less
are not recorded on the consolidated balance sheet.

Most leases include one or more options to renew, with renewal terms that can extend the lease
term from one to five years or more. The exercise of lease renewal options is at our sole discretion and
we consider these options in determining the lease term used to establish our right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities. Certain leases also include options to purchase the leased property. The depreciable life
of assets and leasehold improvements is limited by the expected lease term, unless there is a transfer of
title or a purchase option reasonably certain of exercise.

We determine that a contract contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. In evaluating whether we have the
right to control the use of an identified asset, we assess whether or not we have the right to control the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefit from the use of the
identified asset.

As most of our leases do not provide an implicit rate, we use our incremental borrowing rate based
on the information available at the commencement date in determining the present value of lease
payments.

Certain of our lease agreements include payments that adjust periodically for consumption of goods
provided by the right-of-use asset in excess of contractually determined minimum amounts and for
inflation. These variable lease payments are not significant. Our lease agreements do not contain any
material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.

58



Supplemental statement of earnings information related to our leases is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

Statement of Earnings Classification 2020 2019
Operating lease cost Cost of products sold $ 20,959 $ 21,275
Operating lease cost Marketing, administrative and other
expenses 3,060 2,196
Total operating lease
cost $ 24,019 $ 23,471
Finance lease cost:
Amortization of leased Cost of products sold
assets $ 9,735 $ 9,810
Interest on lease liabilities  Interest expense, net 10,551 11,335
Total finance lease cost $ 20,286 $ 21,145
Total lease cost $ 44305 $ 44,616

Supplemental cash flow information related to our leases is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019
Cash paid for amounts included in measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 23836 $ 23,155
Operating cash flows from finance leases $ 10,551 $ 11,335
Financing cash flows from finance leases $ 9,541 $ 9,134

Non-cash investing and financing activities:

Additions to right-of-use assets obtained from
Operating lease liabilities $ 21,5639 §$ 11,941
Finance lease liabilities $ 14373 §$ 11,406

Supplemental balance sheet information related to our leases is as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

Balance Sheet Classification 2020 2019
Assets:
Operating lease Other assets $ 93,888 §$ 91,123
Finance lease Property, plant and equipment, net 76,231 72,364
Total leased $ 170,119 § 163,487
Liabilities:
Current operating Accrued expenses and other current
liabilities $ 19,986 $ 17,647
Current finance Current portion of long-term debt and
finance lease obligations 10,885 9,264
Non-current operating Deferred credits and other liabilities 75,736 74,877
Non-current finance Long-term debt and finance lease
obligations due after one year 79,453 75,960
Total leased $ 186,060 $ 177,748
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Weighted-average remaining lease term and discount rate for our leases are as follows:

December 31, 2020

Weighted-average remaining lease term - operating leases 8.6 Years
Weighted-average remaining lease term - finance leases 10.9 Years
Weighted-average discount rate - operating leases 3.5%
Weighted-average discount rate - finance leases 26.0%

The reason for the substantial weighted-average discount rate — finance leases, of 26.0%, is due to
Nucor’s past accounting for the respective finance leases under the former accounting guidance for
capital leases. Pursuant to the former lease accounting guidance, the recognition of a capital lease asset
and associated capital lease liability could not exceed the fair market value of the leased asset at the
lease commencement. Accordingly, the incremental borrowing rate was adjusted upward so that the
present value of the minimum lease payments would equal the fair value of the asset.

Maturities of lease liabilities by year for our leases were as follows as of December 31, 2020 (in
thousands):

Operating Leases Finance Leases

Maturities of lease liabilities, year ending December 31,
2021 $ 22731 $ 20,476
2022 19,536 19,918
2023 16,019 17,957
2024 13,244 13,040
2025 9,495 11,086
Thereafter 33,039 74,362

Total lease payments $ 114,064 $ 156,839
Less imputed interest (18,342) (66,501)

Present value of lease liabilities $ 95,722 $ 90,338

7. Property, Plant and Equipment

(in thousands)

December 31, 2020 2019
Land and improvements, net $ 744,305 $ 719,736
Buildings and improvements 1,505,913 1,413,690
Machinery and equipment 12,204,738 11,630,179
Proved oil and gas properties 558,231 558,123
Leasehold interest in unproved oil and gas properties 138,000 165,000
Construction in process and equipment deposits 1,603,416 1,108,054
16,754,603 15,594,782
Less accumulated depreciation (9,855,493) (9,416,227)

$ 6,899,110 $ 6,178,555

The estimated useful lives primarily range from five to 25 years for land improvements, four to 40
years for buildings and improvements and two to 15 years for machinery and equipment. The useful life
for proved oil and gas properties is based on the unit-of-production method and varies by well.
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Steel Mills Segment Asset Impairments

In 2019, Nucor recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $20.0 million related to certain property,
plant and equipment at our plate mill in Texas. This charge is included in losses and impairments of
assets in the consolidated statement of earnings for the year ended December 31, 2019.

In 2020, Nucor recorded non-cash impairment charges totaling $103.2 million related to certain
inventory and long-lived assets, which primarily related to our Castrip sheet mill operations. Due to the
advancements in the capabilities at our new cold mill and galvanizing line we have under construction at
Nucor Steel Arkansas, we believe the value of the technology and process has diminished for Nucor. As
such, the existing Castrip assets are not expected to be materially utilized going forward. These charges
are included in losses and impairments of assets in the consolidated statement of earnings for the year
ended December 31, 2020.

Raw Materials Segment Asset Impairments

In the third quarter of 2018, due to the deteriorating natural gas pricing environment at our sales
point in the Piceance Basin, Nucor determined a triggering event had occurred and performed an
impairment analysis that resulted in $110.0 million of non-cash impairment charges relating to two of its
three groups (“fields”) of wells. In the fourth quarter of 2019, due to the deteriorating natural gas pricing
environment at our sales point in the Piceance Basin as well as the decreased performance of the natural
gas well assets, Nucor determined a triggering event had occurred and performed an impairment analysis
on all three fields of wells. As a result of the fourth quarter of 2019 analysis, a $35.0 million non-cash
impairment charge was recorded on the field of wells that was not previously impaired in the third quarter
of 2018. An increase in the estimated lease operating cost projections was the primary factor in causing
this field of wells to be impaired. The non-cash impairment charges are included in losses and
impairments of assets in the consolidated statements of earnings for the years ended December 31, 2019
and 2018.

One of the main assumptions that most significantly affects the undiscounted cash flows
determination is management’s estimate of future pricing of natural gas and natural gas liquids. The
pricing used in the impairment assessments was developed by management based on projected natural
gas market supply and demand dynamics, in conjunction with a review of projections by market analysts.
Management also makes key estimates on the expected reserve levels and on the expected lease
operating costs. The impairment assessments were performed on each of Nucor’s three fields of wells,
with each field defined by common geographic location. The combined carrying value of the three fields of
wells was $71.7 million at December 31, 2020 ($78.9 million at December 31, 2019).

Changes in the natural gas industry or a prolonged low-price environment beyond what had already
been assumed in the assessments could cause management to revise the natural gas and natural gas
liquids price assumptions, the estimated reserves or the estimated lease operating costs. Unfavorable
revisions to these assumptions or estimates could possibly result in further impairment of some or all of
the fields of proved well assets.

In 2020, regulatory authorities in Colorado adopted new rules that became effective January 2021.
One of these rules increases drilling setback distances. In the fourth quarter of 2020, Nucor determined a
triggering event had occurred, as we do not expect to be able to access the full extent of the resources in
the ground, and performed an impairment analysis. As a result, Nucor recorded a $27.0 million non-cash
impairment charge related to the write-down of our leasehold interest in unproved oil and gas properties.
This charge is included in losses and impairments of assets in the consolidated statement of earnings for
the year ended December 31, 2020.
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8. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The change in the net carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019 by segment is as follows:

(in thousands)

Steel Steel Raw

Mills Products Materials Total
Balance, December 31, 2018 $ 591,986 $ 862,773 $ 729,577 $2,184,336
Acquisitions — 12,623 — 12,623
Translation — 4,104 — 4,104
Balance, December 31, 2019 591,986 879,500 729,577 2,201,063
Acquisitions 20,484 (821) — 19,663
Translation — 8,946 — 8,946
Balance, December 31, 2020 $ 612,470 $ 887,625 $ 729,577 $2,229,672

The majority of goodwill is not tax deductible.

Intangible assets with estimated useful lives of five to 22 years are amortized on a straight-line or
accelerated basis and are comprised of the following:

(in thousands)

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Gross Accumulated Gross Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Customer relationships $1,421,962 $ 838,443 $1,412,954 $ 767,532
Trademarks and trade names 162,365 100,000 162,183 92,258
Other 63,822 41,685 63,807 36,968

$1,648,149 § 980,128 $1,638,944 $ 896,758

Intangible asset amortization expense was $83.4 million in 2020 ($85.7 million in 2019 and
$88.8 million in 2018). Annual amortization expense is estimated to be $82.7 million in 2021, $81.1 million
in 2022, $80.4 million in 2023, $79.6 million in 2024 and $78.6 million in 2025.

The Company completed its annual goodwill impairment testing as of the first day of the fourth
quarter of each of 2020, 2019 and 2018 and concluded that as of each such date there was no
impairment of goodwill for any of its reporting units.

The annual assessment performed in 2020 for one of the Company’s reporting units, Rebar
Fabrication, used forward-looking projections and included continued positive future cash flows. The fair
value of this reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by approximately 99% in the most recent
assessment. The reporting unit’s profitability in 2020 significantly increased from 2019, and we currently
expect the reporting unit to be profitable in 2021. If our assessment of the relevant facts and
circumstances changes, or the actual performance of this reporting unit falls short of expected results,
non-cash impairment charges may be required. Total goodwill associated with the Rebar Fabrication
reporting unit as of December 31, 2020 was $364.3 million. An impairment of goodwill may also lead us to
record an impairment of other intangible assets. Total finite-lived intangible assets associated with the
Rebar Fabrication reporting unit as of December 31, 2020 was $58.8 million.

The Company has continued to monitor one of its reporting units, Grating, for potential triggering
events since the impairment assessment performed in the third quarter of 2019. No triggering events
occurred, so the Company completed its annual goodwill impairment testing as of the first day of the
fourth quarter of 2020. The fair value of the Grating reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by
approximately 88% in the most recent assessment. If our assessment of the relevant facts and
circumstances changes, or the actual performance of this reporting unit falls short of expected results,
non-cash impairment charges may be required. As of December 31, 2020, total goodwill associated with
the Grating reporting unit was $37.0 million.

62



There are no significant historical accumulated impairment charges, by segment or in the
aggregate, related to goodwill.

9. Equity Investments

The carrying value of our equity investments in domestic and foreign companies was $520.0 million
at December 31, 2020 ($793.2 million at December 31, 2019), and is recorded in other assets in the
consolidated balance sheets.

NuMit

Nucor owns a 50% economic and voting interest in NuMit LLC (“NuMit”). NuMit owns 100% of the
equity interest in Steel Technologies LLC, an operator of 26 sheet processing facilities located throughout
the United States, Canada and Mexico. Nucor accounts for its investment in NuMit (on a one-month lag
basis) under the equity method, as control and risk of loss are shared equally between the members of
NuMit. Nucor’s investment in NuMit was $323.6 million at December 31, 2020 ($319.8 million at
December 31, 2019). Nucor received distributions of $9.5 million, $36.5 million and $29.2 million from
NuMit during 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Duferdofin Nucor

Nucor previously owned a 50% interest in Duferdofin Nucor S.r.I. (“Duferdofin Nucor”), an Italian
steel manufacturer, and accounted for its investment (on a one-month lag basis) under the equity method,
as control and risk of loss were shared equally between the members of Duferdofin Nucor. In December
2020, Nucor closed on an agreement (the “Duferdofin Agreement”) to transfer its 50% interest in
Duferdofin Nucor to the owner of the remaining 50% interest, making Nucor’s investment in Duferdofin
Nucor $0 at December 31, 2020 ($263.0 million at December 31, 2019).

In conjunction with the consummation of the Duferdofin Agreement, Nucor forgave the previously
fully reserved, outstanding note receivable of €35.0 million ($37.8 million) from Duferdofin Nucor
(€35.0 million, or $39.3 million, as of December 31, 2019), and Nucor was released from the guarantee it
previously provided with respect to Duferdofin Nucor’s borrowings under Facility A of the Structured Trade
Finance Facilities Agreement. The fair value of the guarantee was immaterial, and Nucor did not have a
liability recorded associated with this guarantee.

Nucor-JFE

Nucor owns a 50% economic and voting interest in Nucor-JFE Steel Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V.
(“Nucor-JFE”), a 50-50 joint venture with JFE Steel Corporation of Japan, to build and operate a
galvanized sheet steel plant in central Mexico. After delays caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, Nucor-
JFE resumed hot commissioning in early December 2020. Nucor accounts for its investment in Nucor-
JFE (on a one-month lag basis) under the equity method, as control and risk of loss are shared equally
between the members of Nucor-JFE. Nucor’s investment in Nucor-JFE was $147.1 million at
December 31, 2020 ($163.2 million at December 31, 2019).

On January 16, 2019, Nucor entered into an agreement to guarantee a percentage, equal to its
ownership percentage (50%), of Nucor-JFE’s borrowings under the General Financing Agreement and
Promissory Note (the “JFE Facility”). The fair value of the guarantee is immaterial. Nucor’'s guarantee
expires on April 30, 2021. The maximum amount Nucor-JFE could borrow under the JFE Facility was
amended on December 15, 2020 to $90.0 million. The JFE Facility is uncommitted. As of December 31,
2020, there was $50.0 million outstanding under the JFE Facility (none as of December 31, 2019). If
Nucor-JFE fails to pay when due any amounts for which it is obligated under the JFE Facility, Nucor could
be required to pay 50% of such amounts pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of its guarantee.
Nucor has not recorded any liability associated with this guarantee.

Nucor-JFE has other credit facilities that Nucor has agreed to guarantee. The principal amount
subject to guarantee by Nucor for these other credit facilities was $25.0 million as of December 31, 2020
($25.0 million as of December 31, 2019). The fair value of the guarantees is immaterial. If Nucor-JFE fails
to pay when due any amounts for which it is obligated under the other credit facilities, Nucor could be
required to pay such amounts pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of its guarantees. Nucor has
not recorded any liability associated with these guarantees.
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All Equity Investments

Nucor reviews its equity investments for impairment if and when circumstances indicate that a decline
in fair value below their carrying amounts may have occurred. Nucor determined that a triggering event
occurred in the first quarter of 2020 with respect to its equity method investment in Duferdofin Nucor due
to adverse developments in the joint venture’s commercial outlook, which were exacerbated by the
COVID-19 pandemic, all of which negatively impacted the joint venture’s strategic direction. After
completing its impairment assessment, Nucor determined that the carrying amount exceeded its
estimated fair value and the impairment condition was considered to be other than temporary. Therefore,
Nucor recorded a $250.0 million impairment charge in the first quarter of 2020. The assumptions that
most significantly affected the fair value determination included projected cash flows and the discount
rate. The Company-specific inputs for measuring fair value are considered “Level 3” or unobservable
inputs that are not corroborated by market data under applicable fair value authoritative guidance, as
quoted market prices are not available.

Throughout 2020, additional capital contributions were made by the Company to Duferdofin Nucor
that were immediately impaired. These additional capital contributions resulted in $5.0 million, $6.6 million
and $25.4 million impairment charges against our investment in Duferdofin Nucor in the second, third and
fourth quarters of 2020, respectively. Also, in the fourth quarter of 2020, Nucor reclassified into earnings,
$158.6 million of cumulative foreign currency translation losses on our investment in Duferdofin Nucor. In
2020, total impairment charges, including the aforementioned note receivable, related to our investment
in Duferdofin Nucor were approximately $483.5 million. These non-cash impairment charges are included
in the steel mills segment and in losses and impairments of assets in the consolidated statement of
earnings for the year ended December 31, 2020.

10. Current Liabilities

Book overdrafts, included in accounts payable in the consolidated balance sheets, were
$210.5 million at December 31, 2020 ($116.4 million at December 31, 2019). Dividends payable, included
in accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets, were $123.9 million
at December 31, 2020 ($122.9 million at December 31, 2019).
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11. Debt and Other Financing Arrangements

(in thousands)

December 31, 2020 2019
Industrial revenue bonds due from 2022 to 2040* $ 1,153,240 $ 1,010,600
Notes, 4.125%, due 2022 600,000 600,000
Notes, 4.000%, due 2023 500,000 500,000
Notes, 2.000%, due 2025 500,000 —
Notes, 3.950%, due 2028 500,000 500,000
Notes, 2.700%, due 2030 500,000 —
Notes, 6.400%, due 2037 543,331 650,000
Notes, 5.200%, due 2043 338,133 500,000
Notes, 4.400%, due 2048 329,219 500,000
Notes, 2.979%, due 2055 439,317 —
Finance lease obligations 90,338 85,224
Total long-term debt and finance lease obligations 5,493,578 4,345,824
Less premium on debt exchange 180,045 —
Less debt issuance costs 30,859 25,259
Total amounts outstanding 5,282,674 4,320,565
Less current maturities of long-term debt — 20,000
Less current portion of finance lease obligations 10,885 9,264

Total long-term debt and finance lease obligations due after

one year $ 5271789 $ 4,291,301

*

The industrial revenue bonds had variable rates ranging from 0.16% to 0.19% at December 31, 2020 and 1.61%
to 1.82% at December 31, 2019.

Annual aggregate long-term debt maturities are: none in 2021, $601.0 million in 2022, $500.0 million
in 2023, none in 2024, $500.0 million in 2025 and $3.80 billion thereafter.

In April 2018, Nucor issued $500.0 million of 3.950% Notes due 2028 and $500.0 million of 4.400%
Notes due 2048. Net proceeds of the issuances were $986.1 million, of which $500.0 million was used to
repay the $500.0 million of 5.85% notes that matured June 1, 2018. Costs of $11.9 million associated with
the issuances have been capitalized and will be amortized over the lives of the notes.

During the second quarter of 2018, Nucor amended its $1.50 billion unsecured revolving credit
facility to extend the maturity date from April 2021 to April 2023. Costs associated with the amendment
were immaterial. The unsecured revolving credit facility provides up to $1.50 billion in revolving loans and
allows up to $500.0 million in additional commitments at Nucor’s election in accordance with the terms set
forth in the credit agreement. Up to the equivalent of $850.0 million of the credit facility is available for
foreign currency loans, up to $100.0 million is available for the issuance of letters of credit and up to
$500.0 million is available for the issuance of revolving loans for Nucor subsidiaries in accordance with
the terms set forth in the credit agreement. The credit facility provides for a pricing grid based upon the
credit rating of Nucor’s senior unsecured long-term debt and, alternatively, interest rates quoted by
lenders in connection with competitive bidding. The credit facility includes customary financial and other
covenants, including a limit on the ratio of funded debt to total capital of 60%, a limit on Nucor’s ability to
pledge the Company’s assets and a limit on consolidations, mergers and sales of assets. As of
December 31, 2020, Nucor’s funded debt to total capital ratio was 32%, and Nucor was in compliance
with all covenants under the credit facility. No borrowings were outstanding under the credit facility as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019.

In May 2020, Nucor issued $500.0 million of 2.000% Notes due 2025 and $500.0 million of 2.700%
Notes due 2030. Net proceeds of the issuances were $989.4 million. Costs of $8.4 million associated with
the issuances have been capitalized and will be amortized over the life of the notes.

In July 2020, Nucor became an obligor with respect to $162.6 million in 40-year variable-rate Green
Bonds to partially fund the capital costs, in particular the expenditures associated with pollution
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prevention and control including waste recycling, associated with the construction of Nucor’s plate mill
located in Brandenburg, Kentucky. The net proceeds from the debt issuance are being held in a trust
account pending disbursement for the construction of the facility.

In December 2020, Nucor exchanged $106.7 million of its 6.400% Notes due 2037, $161.9 million of
its 5.200% Notes due 2043 and $170.8 million of its 4.400% Notes due 2048 with holders of the existing
notes for $439.3 million of its 2.979% Notes due 2055 and a cash component of $180.3 million. This
exchange transaction has been accounted for as a modification and, as such, the cash component of
$180.3 million has been capitalized as a reduction of long-term debt and is being amortized into interest
expense over the life of the new notes.

Harris Steel has credit facilities totaling approximately $19.6 million, with no outstanding borrowings
at December 31, 2020 and 2019. In addition, the business of Nucor Trading S.A. is financed by
uncommitted trade credit arrangements with a number of European banking institutions. As of
December 31, 2020, Nucor Trading S.A. had outstanding borrowings of $57.9 million, which are
presented in short-term debt in the consolidated balance sheet ($62.4 million as of December 31, 2019).

Letters of credit totaling $63.3 million were outstanding as of December 31, 2020 ($28.0 million as
of December 31, 2019), related to certain obligations, including workers’ compensation, utilities deposits
and credit arrangements by Nucor Trading S.A. for commitments to purchase inventories.

12. Capital Stock

The par value of Nucor's common stock is $0.40 per share and there are 800 million shares
authorized. In addition, 250,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $4.00 per share, are authorized, with
preferences, rights and restrictions as may be fixed by the Board of Directors. There are no shares of
preferred stock issued or outstanding.

Dividends declared per share were $1.6125 in 2020 ($1.6025 per share in 2019 and $1.5400 per
share in 2018).

The Company repurchased $39.5 million of its common stock in 2020 ($298.5 million in 2019 and
$854.0 million in 2018).

On September 6, 2018, the Company announced that the Board of Directors had approved a new
share repurchase program under which the Company is authorized to repurchase up to $2.00 billion of
the Company’s common stock and terminated any previously authorized share repurchase programs.
Share repurchases will be made from time to time in the open market at prevailing market prices or
through private transactions or block trades. The timing and amount of repurchases will depend on
market conditions, share price, applicable legal requirements and other factors. The share repurchase
authorization is discretionary and has no expiration date. At December 31, 2020, the Company had
approximately $1.16 billion available for share repurchases under the program.
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13. Derivative Financial Instruments

The following tables summarize information regarding Nucor’s derivative financial instruments (in
thousands):

Fair Value at
December 31,

Fair Value of Derivative Financial

Instruments Consolidated Balance Sheet Location 2020 2019
Liability derivatives designated

as hedging instruments:

Accrued expenses and other current liabilitie
] $ (2,400) $ (7,200)
Commodity contracts Deferred credits and other liabilities (3,800) (11,200)
Total liability derivatives
designated as hedging
instruments (6,200) (18,400)
Liability derivatives not designated
as hedging instruments:

Commodity contracts

Accrued expenses and other current liabilitie

Commodity contracts S (5,685) (1,118)
Foreign exchange contracts Accrued expenses and other current liabilitie
s (2,476) (81)
Total liability derivatives not
designated as hedging
instruments (8,161) (1,199)
Total liability derivatives $ (14,361) § (19,599)

The Effect of Derivative Financial Instruments on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments for the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands)

Amount of Gain or
(Loss), Net of Tax,

Amount of Gain or (Loss), Reclassified from Amount of Gain or (Loss),
Statement of Net of Tax, Recognized Accumulated OCl into Net of Tax, Recognized
Derivatives in Cash Flow Earnings in OCI on Derivatives Earnings on Derivatives in Earnings on Derivatives
Hedging Relationships Location (Effective Portion) (Effective Portion) (Ineffective Portion)
2020 2019 2018 2020 2019 2018 2020 2019 2018
Cost of product
Commodity contracts S
sold $ 2,084 $ (9,833)% (3,568)9% (7,216)$ (2,333) % 132 $ — $ — 3 —

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments for the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands)

Amount of Gain or (Loss)

Derivatives Not Designated Statement of Earnings Recognized in Earnings on
as Hedging Instruments Location Derivatives

2020 2019 2018
Commodity contracts Cost of products sold $ (8829)% 2269 $ 14,572
Foreign exchange contracts Cost of products sold (3,035) (59) 3,609
Total $ (11,864) $ 2,210 $ 18,181

At December 31, 2020, natural gas swaps covering approximately 22.4 million MMBTUs (extending
through December 2022) were outstanding.
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14. Fair Value Measurements

The following table summarizes information regarding Nucor’s financial assets and liabilities that are
measured at fair value. Nucor does not have any non-financial assets or liabilities that are measured at
fair value on a recurring basis.

(in thousands)
Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Carrying Markets for Other Significant
Amount in Identical Observable Unobservable
Consolidated Assets Inputs Inputs

Description Balance Sheets (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
As of December 31, 2020
Assets:

Cash equivalents $ 2,186,820 $ 2,186,820 $ — 9 —

Short-term investments 408,004 408,004 — —

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 115,258 115,258 — —
Total assets $ 2,710,082 $ 2,710,082 $ — 3 —
Liabilities:

Derivative contracts $ (14,361)$ — $ (14,361) $ —
As of December 31, 2019
Assets:

Cash equivalents $ 1,229,000 $ 1,229,000 $ —  $ —

Short-term investments 300,040 300,040 — —
Total assets $ 1,529,040 $ 1,529,040 $ — 3 —
Liabilities:

Derivative contracts $ (19,599) % — $ (19,599) $ —

Fair value measurements for Nucor’s cash equivalents, short-term investments and restricted cash
and cash equivalents are classified under Level 1 because such measurements are based on quoted
market prices in active markets for identical assets. Fair value measurements for Nucor’s derivatives,
which are typically commodity or foreign exchange contracts, are classified under Level 2 because such
measurements are based on published market prices for similar assets or are estimated based on
observable inputs such as interest rates, yield curves, credit risks, spot and future commodity prices, and
spot and future exchange rates. There were no transfers between levels in the fair value hierarchy for the
periods presented.

The fair value of short-term and long-term debt, including current maturities, was approximately
$6.05 billion at December 31, 2020 (approximately $4.81 billion at December 31, 2019). The debt fair
value estimates are classified under Level 2 because such estimates are based on readily available
market prices of our debt at December 31, 2020 and 2019, or similar debt with the same maturities,
ratings and interest rates.

Disclosures are required for certain assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value, but are
recognized and disclosed on a nonrecurring basis in periods subsequent to initial recognition. For Nucor,
our equity investment in Duferdofin Nucor was measured at fair value as a result of the impairment
charges recorded in 2020 (see Note 9).
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15. Contingencies

Nucor is subject to environmental laws and regulations established by federal, state and local
authorities and, accordingly, makes provisions for the estimated costs of compliance. Of the undiscounted
total of $16.0 million of accrued environmental costs at December 31, 2020 ($16.4 million at
December 31, 2019), $5.6 million was classified in accrued expenses and other current liabilities
($4.1 million at December 31, 2019) and $10.4 million was classified in deferred credits and other
liabilities ($12.3 million at December 31, 2019). Inherent uncertainties exist in these estimates primarily
due to unknown conditions, evolving remediation technology and changing governmental regulations,
legal standards and enforcement priorities.

We are from time to time a party to various lawsuits, claims and other legal proceedings that arise in
the ordinary course of business. With respect to all such lawsuits, claims and proceedings, we record
reserves when it is probable a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably
estimated. We do not believe that any of these proceedings, individually or in the aggregate, would be
expected to have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.
Nucor maintains liability insurance with self-insurance limits for certain risks.

16. Stock-Based Compensation

Overview

The Company maintains the Nucor Corporation 2014 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (the
“Omnibus Plan”) under which the Company may award stock-based compensation to key employees,
officers and non-employee directors. The Company’s stockholders approved an amendment and
restatement of the Omnibus Plan on May 14, 2020. The Omnibus Plan, as amended and restated,
permits the award of stock options, restricted stock units, restricted shares and other stock-based awards
for up to 19.0 million shares of the Company’s common stock. As of December 31, 2020, 7.8 million
shares remained available for award under the Omnibus Plan.

The Company also maintains a number of inactive plans under which stock-based awards remain
outstanding but no further awards may be made. As of December 31, 2020, 0.7 million shares were
reserved for issuance upon the future settlement of outstanding awards under such inactive plans.

Stock Options

Stock options may be granted to Nucor’s key employees, officers and non-employee directors with
exercise prices at 100% of the market value on the date of the grant. The stock options granted are
generally exercisable at the end of three years and have a term of 10 years.

A summary of activity under Nucor’s stock option plans is as follows (shares in thousands):

2020 2019 2018
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise

Year Ended December 31, Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Number of shares under stock options:

Outstanding at beginning of year 3,892 $ 50.78 3,828 $ 49.71 4106 $ 47.96
Granted 529 $ 42.46 489 $ 48.00 265 $ 65.80
Exercised (266) $ 44.51 (425) $ 37.97 (543) $ 44.33
Canceled (239) $ 51.58 — $ — — $ —
Outstanding at end of year 3,916 $ 50.03 3,892 $ 50.78 3,828 $ 49.71

Stock options exercisable at end of year 3,168 $ 50.85 3,276 $ 49.79 2112 $ 4541
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The total intrinsic value of stock options (the amount by which the stock price exceeded the exercise
price of the stock option on the date of exercise) that were exercised during 2020 was $3.3 million
($7.7 million in 2019 and $12.6 million in 2018).

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2020
(shares in thousands):

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-
Average Weighted- Weighted-
Remaining Average Average
Range of Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise
Exercise Prices Outstanding Life Price Exercisable Price
$35.00 - $45.00 839 6.5years $§ 41.94 376 $ 41.30
$45.01 - $55.00 2,178 5.4 years $§ 48.65 1976 $ 48.71
$55.01 - $65.00 650 6.4years $ 59.07 650 $ 59.07
$65.01 - $75.00 249 7.4years $§ 65.80 166 $ 65.80
$35.00 - $75.00 3,916 59years $ 50.03 3,168 $ 50.85

As of December 31, 2020, the total aggregate intrinsic value of stock options outstanding and stock
options exercisable was $19.3 million and $13.3 million, respectively.

The grant date fair value of stock options granted was $7.56 per share in 2020 ($8.69 per share in
2019 and $15.07 per share in 2018). The fair value was estimated using the Black-Scholes options
pricing model with the following assumptions:

2020 2019 2018
Exercise price $42.46 $48.00 $65.80
Expected dividend yield 3.79% 3.33% 2.31%
Expected stock price volatility 30.12% 25.57% 25.28%
Risk-free interest rate 0.50% 2.03% 2.85%
Expected life (in years) 6.5 6.5 6.5

Stock options granted to employees who are eligible for retirement on the date of grant are
expensed immediately since these awards vest upon retirement from the Company. Retirement, for
purposes of vesting in these stock options, means termination of employment after satisfying age and
years of service requirements. Similarly, stock options granted to employees who will become retirement-
eligible prior to the end of the vesting term are expensed over the period through which the employee will
become retirement-eligible. Compensation expense for stock options granted to employees who will not
become retirement-eligible prior to the end of the vesting term is recognized on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period. Compensation expense for stock options was $2.7 million in 2020 ($4.7 million in 2019
and $4.6 million in 2018). As of December 31, 2020, unrecognized compensation expense related to
stock options was $2.5 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.2
years.

Restricted Stock Units

Nucor annually grants restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to key employees, officers and non-employee
directors. The RSUs granted to key employees and officers vest and are converted to common stock in
three equal installments on each of the first three anniversaries of the grant date provided that a portion of
the RSUs awarded to an officer prior to 2018 vest only upon the officer’s retirement. Retirement, for
purposes of vesting in these RSUs only, means termination of employment with approval of the
Compensation and Executive Development Committee of the Board of Directors after satisfying age and
years of service requirements. RSUs granted to a non-employee director are fully vested on the grant
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date and are payable to the non-employee director in the form of common stock after the termination of
the director’s service on the Board of Directors.

RSUs granted to employees who are eligible for retirement on the date of grant are expensed
immediately, and RSUs granted to employees who will become retirement-eligible prior to the end of the
vesting term are expensed over the period through which the employee will become retirement-eligible
since these awards vest upon retirement from the Company. Compensation expense for RSUs granted to
employees who will not become retirement-eligible prior to the end of the vesting term is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period.

Cash dividend equivalents are paid to holders of RSUs each quarter. Dividend equivalents paid on
RSUs expected to vest are recognized as a reduction in retained earnings.

The fair value of an RSU is determined based on the closing price of Nucor's common stock on the
date of the grant.

A summary of Nucor’s RSU activity is as follows (shares in thousands):

2020 2019 2018
Grant Date Grant Date Grant Date
Year Ended December 31, Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value
Restricted stock units:
Unvested at beginning of year 1,776 $52.60 1,246 $59.09 1,071 $52.62
Granted 1,246 $42.46 1,770 $48.00 1,013 $65.80
Vested (1,166)  $50.10  (1,207)  $52.43 (827)  $58.98
Canceled (26) $49.75 (33) $57.09 (11) $55.02
Unvested at end of year 1,830 $47.33 1,776 $52.60 1,246 $59.09

Compensation expense for RSUs was $58.6 million in 2020 ($69.1 million in 2019 and $54.3 million
in 2018). The total fair value of shares vested during 2020 was $49.8 million ($58.8 million in 2019 and
$54.4 million in 2018). As of December 31, 2020, unrecognized compensation expense related to
unvested RSUs was $53.7 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of
1.3 years.

Restricted Stock Awards

Prior to their expiration effective December 31, 2017, the Nucor Corporation Senior Officers Long-
Term Incentive Plan and the Nucor Corporation Senior Officers Annual Incentive Plan authorized the
award of shares of common stock to officers subject to certain conditions and restrictions. Effective
January 1, 2018, the Company adopted supplements to the Omnibus Plan with terms that permit the
award of shares of common stock to officers subject to the conditions and restrictions described below,
which are substantially similar to those of the expired Senior Officers Long-Term Incentive Plan and
Senior Officers Annual Incentive Plan. The expired Senior Officers Long-Term Incentive Plan, together
with the applicable supplement, is referred to below as the “LTIP,” and the expired Senior Officers Annual
Incentive Plan, together with the applicable supplement, is referred to below as the “AlP.”

The LTIP provides for the award of shares of restricted common stock at the end of each LTIP
performance measurement period at no cost to officers if certain financial performance goals are met
during the period. One-third of the LTIP restricted stock award vests upon each of the first three
anniversaries of the award date or, if earlier, upon the officer’s attainment of age 55 while employed by
Nucor. Although participants are entitled to cash dividends and may vote such awarded shares, the sale
or transfer of such shares is limited during the restricted period.
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The AIP provides for the payment of annual cash incentive awards. An AIP participant may elect,
however, to defer payment of up to one-half of an AIP award. In such event, the deferred AIP award is
converted into common stock units and credited with a deferral incentive, in the form of additional
common stock units, equal to 25% of the number of common stock units attributable to the deferred AIP
award. Common stock units attributable to deferred AIP awards are fully vested. Common stock units
credited as a deferral incentive vest upon the AIP participant’s attainment of age 55 while employed by
Nucor. Vested common stock units are paid to AIP participants in the form of shares of common stock
following their termination of employment with Nucor.

A summary of Nucor’s restricted stock activity under the AIP and the LTIP is as follows (shares in
thousands):

2020 2019 2018
Grant Date Grant Date Grant Date
Year Ended December 31, Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value
Restricted stock units and restricted
stock awards:
Unvested at beginning of year 147 $ 60.81 130 $ 62.97 91 $§ 54,50
Granted 348 $ 36.15 316 $ 58.04 256 $ 67.68
Vested (368) $ 41.22 (299) $§ 58.82 (217) $ 64.95
Canceled — $ — — 3 — — $ —
Unvested at end of year 127 $ 49.94 147 $ 60.81 130 $ 6297

Compensation expense for common stock and common stock units awarded under the AIP and the
LTIP is recorded over the performance measurement and vesting periods based on the anticipated
number and market value of shares of common stock and common stock units to be awarded.
Compensation expense for anticipated awards based upon Nucor’s financial performance, exclusive of
amounts payable in cash, was $12.5 million in 2020 ($16.6 million in 2019 and $14.6 million in 2018). The
total fair value of shares vested during 2020 was $13.5 million ($17.3 million in 2019 and $14.7 million in
2018). As of December 31, 2020, unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested restricted
stock awards was $1.2 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.5
years.

17. Employee Benefit Plans

Nucor makes contributions to a Profit Sharing and Retirement Savings Plan for qualified employees
based on the profitability of the Company. Nucor’s expense for these benefits totaled $86.6 million in
2020 ($181.4 million in 2019 and $307.9 million in 2018). The related liability for these benefits is included
in salaries, wages and related accruals in the consolidated balance sheets.

Nucor also has a medical plan covering certain eligible early retirees. The unfunded obligation,
included in deferred credits and other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets, totaled $28.2 million at
December 31, 2020 ($27.0 million at December 31, 2019). The expense associated with this early retiree
medical plan totaled $2.5 million in 2020 ($2.0 million in 2019 and $2.1 million in 2018). The discount rate
used by Nucor in determining its benefit obligation was 2.40% in 2020 (3.23% in 2019 and 4.24% in
2018). The health care cost increase trend rate used was 5.7% in 2020 (6.0% in 2019 and 6.3% in 2018).
The health care cost increase trend rate is projected to decline gradually to 4.5% by 2037.
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18. Interest Expense (Income)

The components of net interest expense are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Interest expense $ 166,613 $ 157,358 $ 161,256
Interest income (13,415) (35,933) (25,721)
Interest expense, net $ 153,198 $§ 121425 $ 135,535

Interest paid was $181.2 million in 2020 ($172.6 million in 2019 and $165.7 million in 2018).

19. Income Taxes

Components of earnings before income taxes and noncontrolling interests are as follows (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
United States $ 1215909 $ 1,806,704 $ 3,160,111
Foreign (380,371) (23,897) 69,280

$ 835538 $ 1,782,807 $ 3,229,391

The provision for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Current:
Federal $ (177,159) $ 241,074 $ 633,868
State (4,298) 62,685 96,622
Foreign 18,131 8,981 14,800
Total current (163,326) 312,740 745,290
Deferred:
Federal 177,035 101,946 4,953
State (25,500) 8,013 6,847
Foreign 11,301 (10,802) (8,783)
Total deferred 162,836 99,157 3,017
Total provision for income taxes $ (490) $§ 411,897 $ 748,307
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A reconciliation of the federal statutory tax rate (21%) to the total provision is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Taxes computed at statutory rate 21.00% 21.00% 21.00%
State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit -3.36% 3.16% 2.52%
Federal research credit -0.79% -0.34% -0.14%
Equity in losses of foreign joint venture 0.64% 0.19% 0.08%
Impairment on investment in foreign joint venture 11.20% — —
Tax loss on investment in foreign joint venture -22.73% — —
Foreign rate differential 1.15% — -0.07%
Noncontrolling interests -2.88% -1.18% -0.78%
Tax Reform Act — — 0.18%
CARES Act NOL carryback -5.77% — —
Other, net 1.49% 0.27% 0.38%
Provision for income taxes -0.06% 23.10% 23.17%

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the effective tax rate on continuing operations decreased
23.16% versus the prior year to -0.06%. The decrease in the effective tax rate was primarily due to a net
tax benefit of $201.9 million (-24.16%) for a tax loss on our investment in Duferdofin Nucor, a net tax
benefit of $45.2 million (-5.41%, included in the State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit line)
for state tax credits, and a federal tax benefit of $48.2 million (-5.77%, included in the CARES Act NOL
carryback line) for the carryback of a federal tax net operating loss (an “NOL”) under the Coronavirus Aid,
Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”). These benefits were all recognized in 2020 and
were somewhat offset by the rate impact (11.2%) of financial statement impairments of $445.6 million
which did not affect the provision for income taxes. The total benefit for the tax loss on our investment in
Duferdofin Nucor is reflected on the Tax loss on investment in foreign joint venture line (-22.73%) and the
State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit line (-1.43%). The CARES Act allows for an NOL
generated in 2020 to be carried back to taxable years where the federal income tax rate was 35%. The
difference in the tax rate in 2020 and tax years before the enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of
2017 is the main driver of the federal tax NOL benefit in 2020, but this is somewhat offset by the partial

loss of the domestic manufacturing deduction in the carryback year.

The 2018 effective tax rate included the write-off of $21.3 million (0.66%, included in the Other, net
line for 2018) of deferred tax assets due to the change in the tax status of a subsidiary in 2018.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities resulted from the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2020 2019
Deferred tax assets:
Accrued liabilities and reserves $ 171,998 § 146,658
Allowance for doubtful accounts 16,434 18,479
Inventory 62,755 79,363
Post-retirement benefits 12,714 10,288
Commodity hedges 4,033 5,164
Net operating loss carryforward 63,952 59,083
Tax credit carryforwards 187,267 164,132
Other deferred tax assets 10,674 8,508
Valuation allowance (207,653) (192,295)
Total deferred tax assets 322,174 299,380
Deferred tax liabilities:
Holdbacks and amounts not due under contracts (14,051) (12,930)
Intangibles (177,061) (171,531)
Property, plant and equipment (680,688) (545,890)
Book/Tax differences on debt modifications (46,813) -
Total deferred tax liabilities (918,613) (730,351)
Total net deferred tax liabilities $ (596,439) $ (430,971)

Non-current deferred tax liabilities included in deferred credits and other liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheets were $596.4 million at December 31, 2020 ($431.0 million at December 31,
2019). Current federal and state income taxes receivable included in other current assets in the
consolidated balance sheets were $456.1 million at December 31, 2020 ($240.8 million at December 31,
2019). Nucor paid $50.3 million in net federal, state and foreign income taxes in 2020 ($525.2 million and
$561.1 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively).

Nucor has not recognized deferred tax liabilities on its investment in foreign subsidiaries with
undistributed earnings that satisfy the permanent reinvestment requirements (the deferred tax liabilities
on the investments not permanently reinvested are immaterial). While Nucor considers future earnings to
be permanently reinvested, it is expected that potential future distributions will likely be of a nontaxable
manner. If this assertion of permanent reinvestment were to change, there may be deferred tax liabilities
related to the withholding tax impacts on the actual distribution of certain cumulative undistributed foreign
earnings, but the Company believes this amount to be immaterial.

State NOL carryforwards were $1.41 billion at December 31, 2020 ($681.8 million at December 31,
2019). If unused, they will expire between 2021 and 2040. Foreign NOL carryforwards were $142.3
million at December 31, 2020 ($149.8 million at December 31, 2019). If unused, the foreign NOL
carryforwards will expire between 2021 and 2040.

At December 31, 2020, Nucor had approximately $48.0 million of unrecognized tax benefits, of
which $47.3 million would affect Nucor's effective tax rate, if recognized. At December 31, 2019, Nucor
had approximately $50.9 million of unrecognized tax benefits, of which $50.2 million would affect Nucor's
effective tax rate, if recognized.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits recorded in
deferred credits and other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets is as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Balance at beginning of year $ 50,920 $ 48,605 $ 48,845
Additions based on tax positions related to current year 4,138 9,272 16,424
Reductions based on tax positions related to
current year o o o
Additions based on tax positions related to prior years 223 2,106 199
Red_uctions based on tax positions related to - (2,863) (8,198)
prior years
Reductions due to settlements with taxing authorities — (1,514) (2,160)
Reductions due to statute of limitations lapse (7,316) (4,686) (6,505)
Balance at end of year $ 47965 $ 50,920 $ 48,605

We estimate that in the next 12 months, our gross uncertain tax positions, exclusive of interest,
could decrease by as much as $7.3 million, as a result of the expiration of the applicable statute of
limitations.

During 2020, Nucor recognized $0.1 million of expense in interest and penalties ($0.7 million of
expense in 2019 and $4.0 million of benefit in 2018). The interest and penalties are included in interest
expense, net and marketing, administrative and other expenses, respectively, in the consolidated
statements of earnings. As of December 31, 2020, Nucor had approximately $12.0 million of accrued
interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions (approximately $11.9 million at December 31,
2019). The accrued interest and penalties are included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities
and deferred credits and other liabilities, respectively, in the consolidated balance sheets.

Nucor has concluded U.S. federal income tax matters for tax years through 2014 and for tax year
2016. The tax years 2015 and 2017 through 2019 remain open to examination by the Internal Revenue
Service. The 2015 Canadian income tax returns for Harris Steel Group Inc. and certain related affiliates
are currently under examination by the Canada Revenue Agency. The tax years 2014 through 2019
remain open to examination by other major taxing jurisdictions to which Nucor is subject (primarily
Canada and other state and local jurisdictions).

20. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following tables reflect the changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) by
component (in thousands):

Gains and (Losses) on Foreign Currency Adjustment to Early

Hedging Derivatives Gains (Losses) Retiree Medical Plan Total

December 31, 2019 $ (14,000)$  (296,773) % 7,807 $(302,966)
Other comprehensive income

(loss) before reclassifications 2,084 17,306 (1,213) 18,177
Amounts reclassified from

accumulated other

comprehensive income

(loss) into earnings () 7,216 158,640 72 165,928
Net current-period other

comprehensive income (loss) 9,300 175,946 (1,141) 184,105
December 31, 2020 $ (4,700)$ (120,827)% 6,666 $(118,861)
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(1) Includes $7,216 and $72 net-of-tax impact of accumulated other comprehensive income reclassifications into
cost of products sold for net losses on commodity contracts and adjustment to early retiree medical plan,
respectively. The tax impacts of these reclassifications were $2,500 and $17, respectively. Also includes a
$158.6 million reclassification of cumulative foreign currency translation losses into losses and impairments of
assets, of which there was no tax impact.

Gains and (Losses) on Foreign Currency  Adjustment to Early

Hedging Derivatives Gains (Losses) Retiree Medical Plan Total

December 31, 2018 $ (6,500)$  (304,646)$% 7,013 $(304,133)
Other comprehensive income

(loss) before reclassifications (9,833) 7,873 (1,148) (3,108)
Amounts reclassified from

accumulated other

comprehensive income

(loss) into earnings @ 2,333 — 57 2,390
Net current-period other

comprehensive income (loss) (7,500) 7,873 (1,091) (718)
Other — — 1,885 1,885
December 31, 2019 $ (14,000)$  (296,773)% 7,807 $(302,966)

(2) Includes $2,333 and $57 net-of-tax impact of accumulated other comprehensive income reclassifications into
cost of products sold for net losses on commodity contracts and adjustment to early retiree medical plan,
respectively. The tax impacts of these reclassifications were $700 and $49, respectively.

In December 2020, Nucor closed on an agreement to transfer its 50% interest in Duferdofin Nucor to
the owner of the remaining 50% interest. As a result, $158.6 million of cumulative foreign currency
translation losses related to our investment was reclassified into earnings in the fourth quarter. The non-
cash charge is included in the steel mills segment and in losses and impairments of assets in the
consolidated statement of earnings for the year ended December 31, 2020.

21. Earnings Per Share

The computations of basic and diluted net earnings per share are as follows (in thousands, except
per share data):

Year Ended December 31, 2020 2019 2018
Basic net earnings per share:
Basic net earnings $ 721470 $ 1,271,143 $ 2,360,767
Earnings allocated to participating securities (4,356) (7,035) (9,344)
Net earnings available to common stockholders $ 717,114 $ 1,264,108 $ 2,351,423
Basic average shares outstanding 303,168 305,040 315,858
Basic net earnings per share $ 237 $ 414 $ 7.44
Diluted net earnings per share:
Diluted net earnings $ 721,470 $ 1,271,143 $ 2,360,767
Earnings allocated to participating securities (4,359) (7,034) (9,317)
Net earnings available to common stockholders $ 717,111 $ 1,264,109 $ 2,351,450
Diluted average shares outstanding:
Basic average shares outstanding 303,168 305,040 315,858
Dilutive effect of stock options and other 103 463 875
303,271 305,503 316,733
Diluted net earnings per share $ 236 $ 414 $ 7.42
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The following stock options were excluded from the computation of diluted net earnings per share
because their effect would have been anti-dilutive (shares in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2020 2019 2018
Anti-dilutive stock options:
Weighted-average shares 2,972 963 156
Weighted-average exercise price $ 51.87 § 60.92 § 65.80

22. Segments

Nucor reports its results in the following segments: steel mills, steel products and raw materials. The
steel mills segment includes carbon and alloy steel in sheet, bars, structural and plate; steel trading
businesses; rebar distribution businesses; and Nucor’s equity method investments in Duferdofin Nucor
(which was exited in the fourth quarter of 2020), NuMit and Nucor-JFE. The steel products segment
includes steel joists and joist girders, steel deck, fabricated concrete reinforcing steel, cold finished steel,
precision castings, steel fasteners, metal building systems, steel grating, tubular products businesses,
piling products business, and wire and wire mesh. The raw materials segment includes The David J.
Joseph Company and its affiliates, primarily a scrap broker and processor; Nu-lron Unlimited and Nucor
Steel Louisiana LLC, two facilities that produce direct reduced iron used by the steel mills; and our natural
gas production operations.

Net interest expense on long-term debt, charges and credits associated with changes in allowances
to eliminate intercompany profit in inventory, profit sharing expense and stock-based compensation are
shown under Corporate/eliminations. Corporate assets primarily include cash and cash equivalents,
short-term investments, restricted cash and cash equivalents, allowances to eliminate intercompany profit
in inventory, deferred income tax assets, federal and state income taxes receivable and investments in
and advances to affiliates.
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Nucor’s results by segment are as follows (in thousands):

Net sales to external customers:

Steel mills
Steel products
Raw materials

Intercompany sales:
Steel mills
Steel products
Raw materials
Corporate/eliminations

Depreciation expense:
Steel mills
Steel products
Raw materials
Corporate

Amortization expense:
Steel mills
Steel products
Raw materials

Earnings (loss) before income taxes and noncontrolling

interests:
Steel mills
Steel products
Raw materials
Corporate/eliminations

Segment assets:
Steel mills
Steel products
Raw materials
Corporate/eliminations

Capital expenditures:
Steel mills
Steel products
Raw materials
Corporate
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Year Ended December 31,

2020

2019

2018

$ 12,109,307 $ 13,933,950 $ 16,245,218

6,623,068
1,407,283

6,990,064
1,664,844

6,796,501
2,025,560

$ 20,139,658 $ 22,588,858 $ 25,067,279

$ 3,036,790 $ 3,304,437 $ 3,924,160

248,477 233,728 207,003
8,153,841 8,784,397 11,460,645
(11,439,108) (12,322,562) (15,591,808)
$ — $ — —
$ 449290 $ 401,609 $ 378,146
93,184 85,276 80,681
150,474 151,124 161,666
9,163 10,902 10,386

$ 702110 $ 648911 $ 630,879
$ 7,334 $ 8,624 $ 9,400
47,773 49,914 51,997
28,249 27,204 27,361

$ 83356 $ 85742 $ 88,758
$ 720,151 $ 1,790,694 $ 3,500,085
690,547 511,145 467,105
23,621 (28,244) 236,241
(598,781)  (490,788)  (974,040)

$ 835538 $ 1,782,807 $ 3,229,391
$ 9,708,260 $ 9,283216 $ 9,244,086
4,461,042 4,610,628 4,734,636
3,324,480 3,316,479 3,492,126
2,631,603 1,134,343 449,740

$ 20,125,394 $ 18,344,666 $ 17,920,588
$ 1,238,132 $ 1,133,089 $ 720,310
135,511 93,848 88,585
125,213 244,818 169,926
28,259 40,315 18,435

$ 1527116 $ 1,512,070 $ 997,256




Net sales by product were as follows (in thousands). Further product group breakdown is
impracticable.

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Net sales to external customers:
Sheet $ 5,450,507 $ 6,450,506 $ 7,571,765
Bar 3,821,158 4,106,640 4,709,292
Structural 1,526,283 1,573,248 1,830,476
Plate 1,311,360 1,803,556 2,133,685
Tubular Products 1,113,582 1,207,398 1,347,577
Rebar Fabrication 1,708,442 1,666,445 1,496,194
Other Steel Products 3,801,045 4,116,221 3,952,730
Raw Materials 1,407,283 1,664,844 2,025,560

$20,139,658 $22,588,858 $25,067,279

23. Revenue

Revenue is recognized when obligations under the terms of contracts with our customers are
satisfied; generally, this occurs upon shipment or when control is transferred. Revenue is measured as
the amount of consideration expected to be received in exchange for transferring the goods. In addition,
revenue is deferred when cash payments are received or due in advance of performance.

The durations of Nucor’s contracts with customers are generally one year or less. Customer
payment terms are generally 30 days.

Contract liabilities are primarily related to deferred revenue resulting from cash payments received
in advance from customers to protect against credit risk. Contract liabilities totaled $120.2 million as of
December 31, 2020 ($108.6 million as of December 31, 2019), and are included in accrued expenses and
other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. The amount of revenue reclassified from the
December 31, 2019 contract liabilities balance during 2020 was approximately $80.5 million.

Nucor disaggregates its revenues by major source in the same manner as presented in the net
sales by product table in the segment footnote (see Note 22).

Steel Mills Segment

Sheet — For the majority of sheet products, we transfer control and recognize a sale when we ship
the product from the sheet mill to our customer. The amount of consideration we receive and revenue we
recognize for spot market sales are based upon prevailing prices at the time of sale. The amount of
consideration we receive and revenue we recognize for contract customers are based primarily on pricing
formulas that incorporate monthly or quarterly price adjustments which reflect changes in the current
market-based indices and/or raw material costs near the time of shipment.

The amount of tons sold to contract customers at any given time depends on a variety of factors,
including our consideration of current and future market conditions, our strategy to appropriately balance
spot and contract tons in a manner to meet our customers’ requirements while considering the expected
profitability, our desire to sustain a diversified customer base and our end-use customers’ perceptions
about future market conditions. These contracts are typically one year or less. Contract sales within the
steel mills segment are most notable in our sheet operations, as it is common for contract sales to
account for the majority of sheet sales in a given year.

Bar, Structural and Plate — For the majority of bar, structural and plate products, we transfer control
and recognize a sale when we ship the product from the mill to our customer. The significant majority of
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bar, structural and plate product sales are spot market sales, and the amount of consideration we receive
and revenue we recognize for those sales are based upon prevailing prices at the time of sale.

Steel Products Segment

Tubular Products — The tubular products businesses transfer control and recognize a sale when the
products are shipped from our operating locations to our customers. The significant majority of tubular
product sales are spot market sales, and the amount of consideration we receive and revenue we
recognize for those sales are based upon prevailing prices at the time of sale.

Rebar Fabrication — The majority of revenue relates to revenue from contracts with customers for
the supply of fabricated rebar. As the majority of contracts with customers are fixed price contracts to
complete a job, control transfers over time and revenue is recognized (if collection is reasonably assured)
over time using an input method, based on the amount of rebar shipped from the Company’s operating
locations relative to the total expected amount of rebar required to complete the job.

For contracts to supply fabricated rebar and install it at the customer’s job site, there are two
performance obligations: (1) the supply of the fabricated rebar and (2) the installation of the supplied
rebar at the customer’s job site. For the supply of fabricated rebar performance obligation, the transaction
price allocated to this performance obligation is determined at the start of the contract, based on the
awarded contract price for the supplied fabricated rebar and revenue is recognized over time based on
the amount of rebar shipped from the Company’s operating locations relative to the total expected
amount of rebar required to complete the job. For the installation of supplied rebar performance
obligation, the transaction price allocated to this performance obligation is determined at the start of the
contract, based on the awarded contract price for the installation of fabricated rebar and revenue is
recognized over time based on the amount of rebar installed relative to the total expected amount of rebar
required to be installed to complete the job.

While a majority of the contracts with customers are fixed price contracts to complete a job, variable
consideration can occur from contract modifications relating to change orders and price escalations
caused by changes in underlying material costs. In these situations, the additional variable consideration
is recognized cumulatively in the period in which the contract modification is approved, and collection is
reasonably assured unless the change order relates to additional distinct goods or services at standalone
selling prices in which case they are accounted for prospectively. Management reviews these situations
on a case-by-case basis and considers a variety of factors, including relevant experience with similar
types of performance obligations, the Company’s experience with the customer and collectability
considerations.

Other Steel Products — Other steel products include our joist, deck, cold finish, metal building
systems, piling and the other remaining businesses that comprise the steel products segment. Generally,
for these businesses, we transfer control and recognize a sale when we ship the product from our
operating locations to our customers. The amount of consideration we receive and revenue we recognize
for those sales are agreed upon with the customers before the product is shipped.

Raw Materials Segment

The maijority of the raw materials segment revenue from outside customers is generated by The
David J. Joseph Company and its affiliates. We transfer control and recognize a sale based on the terms
of the agreement with the customer, which is generally when the product has met the delivery
requirements. The amount of consideration we receive and revenue we recognize for those sales is
based on the contract with the customer, which generally reflects current market prices at the time the
contract is entered into.
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24. Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

As of December 31, 2020, restricted cash and cash equivalents totaled $115.3 million, and primarily
consisted of net proceeds from the issuance of $162.6 million in 40-year variable-rate Green Bonds in
July 2020. The restricted cash and cash equivalents related to the debt issuance are held in a trust
account and are to be used to partially fund the capital costs, in particular the expenditures associated
with pollution prevention and control including waste recycling, associated with the construction of
Nucor’s new plate mill located in Brandenburg, Kentucky. Funds are disbursed from the trust account as
qualified expenditures for the construction of the Brandenburg facility are made ($47.3 million during
2020). Interest earned on funds held in the trust account is subject to the same usage requirements as
the bond proceeds principle. Since the restricted cash and interest and dividends must be used for the
construction of the Brandenburg facility and relate to a long-term liability, the entire balance has been
classified as a non-current asset.

25. Quarterly Information (Unaudited)

(in thousands, except per share data)
Year Ended December 31, 2020

First Quarter Second Quarter  Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

Net sales $5,624,337 $§ 4,327,306 $4,927,960 $ 5,260,055
Gross margin 629,268 377,959 502,195 718,528
Net earnings () 54,379 133,153 222,630 425,866
Net earnings attributable to Nucor
stockholders () 20,331 108,881 193,415 398,843
Net earnings per share:
Basic $ 0.07 $ 0.36 $ 063 $ 1.31
Diluted $ 0.07 $ 0.36 $ 0.63 $ 1.30

(in thousands, except per share data)
Year Ended December 31, 2019

First Quarter Second Quarter  Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

Net sales $6,096,624 $ 5,895,986 $5,464,502 $ 5,131,746
Gross margin @ 895,892 775,494 572,511 435,188
Net earnings @ 530,793 412,277 293,587 134,253
Net earnings attributable to Nucor
stockholders ) 501,806 386,483 275,031 107,823
Net earnings per share:
Basic $ 1.63 $ 126 $ 0.90 $ 0.35
Diluted $ 163 § 1.26 $ 0.90 $ 0.35

(1) First quarter results include losses on assets of $287.8 million related to our investment in Duferdofin Nucor.
Third quarter results include a restructuring charge of $16.4 million related to the realignment of Nucor’'s metal
buildings business. Fourth quarter results include non-cash impairment charges totaling $130.2 million related to
impairments of certain inventory and long-lived assets in the steel mills segment ($103.2 million) and the write-
down of our unproved natural gas well assets in the raw materials segment ($27.0 million). Also included in
fourth quarter results were losses on assets of $184.0 million related to the Duferdofin Agreement, a $201.9
million tax benefit related to our investment in Duferdofin Nucor, a $39.7 million net benefit related to state tax
credits and a net benefit of $48.2 million for the CARES Act carryback provision.

(2) First quarter results include a benefit of $33.7 million related to the gain on the sale of an equity method
investment in the raw materials segment. Fourth quarter results include non-cash impairment charges totaling
$66.9 million related to an impairment of our proved producing natural gas well assets in the raw materials
segment ($35.0 million), certain property, plant and equipment in the steel mills segment ($20.0 million) and the
write-down of certain intangible assets in the steel products segment ($11.9 million).
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial
Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures — As of the end of the period covered by this
report, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the
Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of
the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures.
Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the evaluation date.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting — There were no changes in our internal
control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2020 that have materially affected,
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting — Management'’s report on internal control over
financial reporting required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the attestation report
of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, on the effectiveness
of Nucor’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 are included in “Item 8.
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” and incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART Ill

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item with respect to Nucor’s executive officers appears in Part | of
this report under the heading “Information About Our Executive Officers” and is incorporated herein by
reference. The other information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from Nucor’'s
definitive proxy statement for our 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”) under the
headings Election of Directors; Information Concerning Experience, Qualifications, Attributes and Skills of
the Nominees; and Corporate Governance and Board of Directors.

Nucor has adopted a Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Professionals (the “Code of Ethics”), which
is intended to qualify as a “code of ethics” within the meaning of Iltem 406 of Regulation S-K of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The Code of Ethics applies to our principal executive
officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, and persons performing similar
functions. The Code of Ethics is available on our website, www.nucor.com.

We will disclose information pertaining to any amendment to, or waiver from, the provisions of the
Code of Ethics that apply to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting
officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions and that relate to any element of the Code of
Ethics enumerated in the SEC rules and regulations by posting this information on our website,
www.nucor.com. The information contained on our website or available by hyperlink from our website is
not a part of this report and is not incorporated into this report or any other documents we file with, or
furnish to, the SEC.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from the Proxy Statement
under the headings Executive Officer Compensation; Director Compensation; Report of the
Compensation and Executive Development Committee; and Board’s Role in Risk Oversight.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from the Proxy Statement
under the headings Security Ownership of Management and Certain Beneficial Owners and Equity
Compensation Plan Information.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from the Proxy Statement
under the heading Corporate Governance and Board of Directors.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from the Proxy Statement
under the heading Fees Paid to Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
Financial Statements:

The following consolidated financial statements and notes thereto, management’s report on internal
control over financial reporting and the report of independent registered public accounting firm are
included in “ltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”:

e Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

e Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

e Consolidated Balance Sheets—December 31, 2020 and 2019

e Consolidated Statements of Earnings—Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018

¢ Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income—Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019
and 2018

e Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity—Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and
2018

e Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows—Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018
¢ Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Schedule Il is not presented as all applicable information is presented in the consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto.

Exhibits:

3 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Nucor Corporation (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 14, 2010 (File No. 001-04119))

3(i) Bylaws of Nucor Corporation as amended and restated February 22, 2021 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 24, 2021 (File
No. 001-04119))

4* Description of Securities of Nucor Corporation

4(i) Indenture, dated as of January 12, 1999, between Nucor Corporation and The Bank of New
York Mellon (formerly known as The Bank of New York), as trustee (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed December 13, 2002 (File
No. 333-101852))

4(ii) Indenture, dated as of August 19, 2014, between Nucor Corporation and U.S. Bank National
Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registration Statement
on Form S-3 filed August 20, 2014 (File No. 333-198263))

4(iii) Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 3, 2007, between Nucor Corporation
and The Bank of New York Mellon (formerly known as The Bank of New York), as trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 4,
2007 (File No. 001-04119))

4(iv) Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 21, 2010, between Nucor Corporation
and The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 21, 2010 (File No. 001-04119))

4(v) Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 29, 2013, between Nucor Corporation and U.S.
Bank National Association, as successor trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
the Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 29, 2013 (File No. 001-04119))

4(vi) Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 10, 2014, among Nucor Corporation,
The Bank of New York Mellon, as prior trustee, and U.S. Bank National Association, as
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4(vii)

4(viii)

4(ix)

4(xi)
4(xii)
4(xiii)
4(xiv)
4(xv)
4(xvi)
4(xvii)
4(xviii)

4(xix)

10

10(i)

10(ii)

10(iii)

10(iv)

successor trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed December 11, 2014 (File No. 001-04119))

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 26, 2018, between Nucor Corporation and U.S.
Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed April 26, 2018 (File No. 001-04119))

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 22, 2020, between Nucor Corporation and
U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 22, 2020 (File No. 001-04119))

Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 7, 2020, between Nucor Corporation
and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 7, 2020 (File No. 001-04119))

Form of 6.400% Notes due 2037 (included in Exhibit 4(iii) above) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.4 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 4, 2007 (File No. 001-04119))

Form of 4.125% Notes due 2022 (included in Exhibit 4(iv) above) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 21, 2010 (File No. 001-04119))

Form of 4.000% Notes due 2023 (included in Exhibit 4(v) above) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 29, 2013 (File No. 001-04119))

Form of 5.200% Notes due 2043 (included in Exhibit 4(v) above) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 29, 2013 (File No. 001-04119))

Form of 3.950% Notes due 2028 (included in Exhibit 4(vii) above) (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 26, 2018 (File No. 001-04119))

Form of 4.400% Notes due 2048 (included in Exhibit 4(vii) above) (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 26, 2018 (File No. 001-04119))

Form of 2.000% Notes due 2025 (included in Exhibit 4(viii) above) (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 22, 2020 (File No. 001-04119))

Form of 2.700% Notes due 2030 (included in Exhibit 4(viii) above) (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 22, 2020 (File No. 001-04119))

Form of 2.979% Notes due 2055 (included in Exhibit 4(ix) above) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 7, 2020 (File No. 001-04119))

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 7, 2020, among Nucor Corporation,
BofA Securities, Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, as lead
dealer managers, and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., RBC Capital Markets, LLC, U.S.
Bancorp Investments, Inc., Siebert Williams Shank & Co., LLC, Fifth Third Securities, Inc.,
PNC Capital Markets LLC and MUFG Securities Americas Inc., as co-dealer managers
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 7,
2020 (File No. 001-04119))

2005 Stock Option and Award Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed May 17, 2005 (File No. 001-04119)) (#)

Amendment No. 1 to 2005 Stock Option and Award Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 29, 2007 (File
No. 001-04119)) (#)

2010 Stock Option and Award Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 3, 2010 (File No. 001-04119)) (#)

2014 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended and restated effective February 17,
2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed May
18, 2020 (File No. 001-04119)) (#)

Senior Officers Annual Incentive Plan (Supplement to 2014 Omnibus Incentive Compensation
Plan) for awards granted after December 31, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(iv)
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10(v)

10(vi)

10(vii)

10(viii)

10(ix)

10(x)

10(xi)

10(xii)

10(xiii)

10(xiv)

10(xv)

10(xvi)

to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 (File No. 001-
04119)) (#)

Amendment No. 1 to Senior Officers Annual Incentive Plan (Supplement to 2014 Omnibus
Incentive Compensation Plan) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(v) to the Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 (File No. 001-04119)) (#)

Senior Officers Long-Term Incentive Plan (Supplement to 2014 Omnibus Incentive
Compensation Plan) for awards granted after December 31, 2017 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10(v) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017
(File No. 001-04119)) (#)

Amendment No. 1 to Senior Officers Long-Term Incentive Plan (Supplement to 2014 Omnibus
Incentive Compensation Plan) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(vii) to the Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 (File No. 001-04119)) (#)

Senior Officers Annual Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2013, for
awards granted prior to January 1, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the
Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed March 27, 2013 (File No. 001-04119)) (#)

Senior Officers Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1,
2013, for awards granted prior to January 1, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Appendix B to
the Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed March 27, 2013 (File No. 001-04119))

(#)

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement — time-vested awards (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10(iv) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2005 (File No. 001-04119)) (#)

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement — retirement-vested awards (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10(v) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2005 (File No. 001-04119)) (#)

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 1,
2006 (File No. 001-04119)) (#)

Form of Award Agreement for Annual Stock Option Grants used for awards granted prior to
May 8, 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2012 (File No. 001-04119)) (#)

Form of Award Agreement for Annual Stock Option Grants used for awards granted after
May 7, 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended July 5, 2014 (File No. 001-04119)) (#)

Employment Agreement of John J. Ferriola (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(vii) to the
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (File No. 001-04119)) (#)

Amendment to Employment Agreement of John J. Ferriola (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10(xix) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 (File
No. 001-04119)) (#)
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10(xvii)
10(xviii)
10(xix)

10(xx)
10(xxi)
10(xxii)

10(xxiii)
10(xxiv)

10(xxv)
10(xxvi)
10(xxvii)

10(xxviii)

10(xxix)

XxXx)*

XXXi)*

XXXiii)*

10(
10(
10(xxxii)*
10(
10(xxxiv)
21*
23*

24>
31*

31(i)*

Retirement, Separation, Waiver and Release Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2019, by
and between Nucor Corporation and John J. Ferriola (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed January 3, 2020 (File No. 001-04119)) (#)

Employment Agreement of R. Joseph Stratman (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 29, 2007 (File No. 001-
04119)) (#)

Retirement, Separation, Waiver and Release Agreement of R. Joseph Stratman (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed June 5, 2019 (File
No. 001-04119)) (#)

Executive Employment Agreement of Craig A. Feldman (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 19, 2020 (File No. 001-04119)) (#)

Executive Employment Agreement of James D. Frias (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.4 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 19, 2020 (File No. 001-04119)) (#)

Executive Employment Agreement of Ladd R. Hall (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5
to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 19, 2020 (File No. 001-04119)) (#)

Retirement, Separation, Waiver and Release Agreement, dated as of June 17, 2020, by and
between Nucor Corporation and Ladd R. Hall (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed June 17, 2020 (File No. 001-04119)) (#)

Executive Employment Agreement of Raymond S. Napolitan, Jr. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.6 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 19, 2020 (File No. 001-04119))

(#)

Executive Employment Agreement of MaryEmily Slate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.7 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 19, 2020 (File No. 001-04119)) (#)

Executive Employment Agreement of Leon J. Topalian (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.9 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 19, 2020 (File No. 001-04119)) (#)

Executive Employment Agreement of D. Chad Utermark (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.10 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 19, 2020 (File No. 001-04119)) (#)

Executive Employment Agreement of Allen C. Behr (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 4, 2020 (File No. 001-04119))

(#)

Executive Employment Agreement of David A. Sumoski (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed January 5, 2021 (File No. 001-04119)) (#)

Executive Employment Agreement of Douglas J. Jellison (#)
Executive Employment Agreement of Gregory J. Murphy (#)
Executive Employment Agreement of Daniel R. Needham (#)
Executive Employment Agreement of K. Rex Query (#)

Nucor Corporation Supplemental Retirement Plan for Executive Officers (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 19, 2020 (File
No. 001-04119)) (#)

Subsidiaries
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Power of Attorney (included on signature page)

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as Adopted
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32**

32(i)**

101*

104*

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Financial Statements from the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Nucor Corporation for the year
ended December 31, 2020, filed February 26, 2021, formatted in Inline XBRL.: (i) the
Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Earnings, (iii) the
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of
Stockholders’ Equity, (v) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and (vi) the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Cover Page from the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Nucor Corporation for the year ended
December 31, 2020, filed February 26, 2021, formatted in Inline XBRL (included in Exhibit
101).

*  Filed herewith.
**  Furnished (and not filed) herewith pursuant to Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of Regulation S-K.
(#) Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Item 16.

Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

NUCOR CORPORATION

By: /s/ Leon J. Topalian

Leon J. Topalian
President and Chief Executive Officer

Dated: February 26, 2021

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below
constitutes and appoints James D. Frias and A. Rae Eagle, or either of them, his or her attorney-in-fact,
with full power of substitution and resubstitution for such person in any and all capacities, to sign any
amendments to this report and to file the same, with exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that either of
said attorney-in-fact, or substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.

/s/ Leon J. Topalian /s/ Patrick J. Dempsey
Leon J. Topalian Patrick J. Dempsey
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
/sl James D. Frias /s/ Christopher J. Kearney
James D. Frias Christopher J. Kearney
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Director

Executive Vice President
(Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Michael D. Keller /s/ Laurette T. Koellner
Michael D. Keller Laurette T. Koellner
Vice President and Corporate Controller Director

(Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ Joseph D. Rupp

Joseph D. Rupp
Director

/s/ John H. Walker

John H. Walker
Non-Executive Chairman

/s/ Nadja Y. West

Nadja Y. West
Director

Dated: February 26, 2021
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MARK WILLIAM LUCY  ERIC LUDLOW  ADAM KAYIN LUDWIG DERRYKLUDWIG DONALD TLUDWIG DONALD ALUEBBENJR DONALDALUEBBEN KRISTY MLUEBBEN BRANDON LUELLEN JR BRANDON LUELLEN SR
JONATHAN LUELLMAN  JULIO LUERA  BRIAN LUIPPOLD MANNY LUIZ BERNADETTE LUJAN LEOBARDO LUJAN BRITTANY LASHAE LUKE DARREN ERIC LUKEAS CHARLES E LUKENS JOSHUARLUKER SEAN P LUKER
NICOLAS L LUMBRERAZ CARLLLUMMUS FELIXLUNA LUISALBERTOLUNA TYLERLUNA ANTHONY LUNA-EPPSJR AMANDA KLUND ANTHONY HALE LUND BRANDON LUND MARCILUND PHILLIP ALUND TRAVIS C LUND
JOHAN LUNDBERG RODNEY H LUNDBERG JOHN LUNDGREN TONY LUNG AARON E LUNING CHERYL KAY LUNING NOAH LUNING ROBERT E LUNING ALLAN LUNSFORD JAMES RYAN LUNSFORD TAMARA LEIGHANN LUNSFORD
TIMMIE J LUNSFORD BRETT M LUNZ BRIAND LUPO SAMUEL LUPTON BOBBIE M LUSCHEN ROBERTLUSH JAMES M LUSK KEITHLUSK CHRISTOPHER LUTCKEN KAREN LUTHER ALYSHA KLUTTRELL DASHAWN LUTTRELL
CHRISTOPHERA LUTZ  DAVID LUTZ MATTHEW LUTZ MEGHANALICIALUTZ PABLOLUTZ PETERBLUX MATTHEW LUYMES JESSELYALL JAKELYDDIATT NORMANLYELL RYANASHTONLYLE SHERRYALYLE
EDWARD DEAN LYLES OLIVERJLYLES AARONTLYNCH ANTHONY LYNCH AUSTIN JOSEPHLYNCH BILLY JLYNCH BRANDIJLYNCH BUDDYALYNCH GEORGEWLYNCH GREGNLYNCH JAMESTLYNCH JAMIELYNN LYNCH
JESSERLYNCH JIMMY RLYNCH JOSHUATILMAN LYNCH JUSTIN CARTERLYNCH KEVINW LYNCH KRISTOPHER MATTHEW LYNCH KRISTY ELYNCH LANCEELYNCH PAULVLYNCH REGGIELLYNCH RICHARD JLYNCH
RYAN J LYNCH SARAHHLYNCH TARRANTTLYNCH WENDELL KEVINLYNCH MARKLYNESS BARTELYNN MICHAELLYNN RYANLYNN TERRYDLYNN TIMOTHY WAYNELYNN ANDREW JLYON BRADJLYON AUSTINLYONS
CHRISTOPHER MICHAEL LYONS MATTHEW GEORGE LYONS MATTHEW JLYONS RUSSELLLYONS TERESAJLYONS KYLEJLYSITT CHRISTOPHERLYSY MICHELLELYTLE CHIDAMBARAM S M SUNDARRAJ WAYNE MA
XINZHIMA  AASA MAAFALA  HARSIMRANJEET S MAAN  PHILLIP M MABREY BRANDON MICHAEL MABRY  KELVIN LEDON MABRY  MICHAEL JAMES MABRY  WILLIE L MABRY  KALYEX MACANGER  RICKEY J MACARI Il
RYAN MACARTHUR STEPHEN MACBETH DAN A MACBRIDE JESSICA MACCONNELL KYLE MACDANIEL BRANDON MACDONALD CHRISTOPHER MACDONALD DAN MACDONALD DOUGLAS MACDONALD MATTHEW MACDONALD
MICHAEL MACDONALD PAUL MACDONALD ROBERT MACDONALD STEVEN L MACDONALD DARCY MACDOUGALL CODY AUSTIN MACE MARY JANE MACE EMANUEL P MACEDO PEDRO TMACEO MICHAEL J MACFARLANE
ROBERT MACHOWSKIJR  RICARDO MACHUCA  JUAN J MACHUCA-GARCIA  JOSE MANUEL MACIAS  HUGO SILVESTRE MACIAS MENDIETA  JOSE ALBERTO MACIAS RODRIGUEZ = THOMAS W MACIEJEWSKI  JAYMES MACIK
CHRISTOPHER MACINNIS MICHAEL MACINNIS JAMES M MACINTOSH STEPHEN MACISAAC HENRY C MACK JEFFREY J MACK MICHAEL L MACK ROBERT C MACK RONALD P MACKJR THOMAS W MACK RAYLEEN MACKAY
SELENA MACKAY BRIAN J MACKE JR SCOTT MACKEBEN ALPHONSE CLAUDE MACKEY Il SEAN ANTHONY MACKEY AARON L MACKIE PATRICIA A MACKIE ROBERT MACKIE MICHAEL MACKINTOSH VANETRA LAQUANA MACKLIN
JOHN MACLELLAN  WILLIAM MACLUCKIE RUSSELL F MACMANNIS JUSTIN MACMILLAN  NEIL MACMILLAN WALLACE MACMURRAY JOHN MACNEIL BRAD MACPHERSON BRANDON MACPHERSON BRIAN MACPHERSON
SKIPPER MACRAE JOHN H MACZAK CYNTHIA MADDEN DALTON G MADDEN GARY D MADDEN MICHAEL J MADDEN PAUL WATSON MADDEN Il WILLIAM G MADDEN CHESTER MADDOX CHRISTOPHER MADDOX DAVID W MADDOX
EMMANUEL T MADDOX HAMPTON TAYLOR MADDOX JEREMY L MADDOX JIMMY MADDOX JORDAN MADDOX JUSTIN MADDOX NICOLAS WANYE MADDOX RICHARD A MADDOX SAMUEL R MADDOX JR TERRY MADDOX
TRAVIS A MADDOX RYAN MADDY AIRES MADEIRA LARISSA D MADEWELL SEAN MADIGAN CLINTON N MADISON WESLEY R MADISON EVARISTO MADRIGAL MARCO ANGEL MADRIGAL MARK MADRIGAL JORGE MADRIGAL GUZMAN
JORGE MADRIGAL SALAS BENJAMIN MADRY  CORDARRYL MADRY  DALLIN DAVID MADSEN  MAKESSA MADSEN  ZACHARY MADSEN  ZACHARY J MADSEN FERRER MADUCDOC  ISSAH MADUGU  KATHERINE M MAES
MANUEL MAES JAMES MAEWEATHER JR  LOU H MAGALDI KARL MAGALLANES  SILVIA MAGALLANEZ SANCHEZ JAVIER O MAGALLON JESUS MAGALLON ARTURO MAGANA OMAR MAGANA  LUIS FELIPE MAGANA RUIZ
SHADAKSHARAPPA RAMANATHAPPA MAGANAHALLI RICHARD F MAGARGLE ARCA PAULO MAGBUHAT JASON MAGERAN RANDY MAGERAN JACOB LYNN MAGGARD MICHAEL E MAGINN JORDAN MAGLINTI WAYNE MAGLINTI
JOHN W MAGNAN  CHARLIE MAGNAYE MARK JOSEPH MAGNO DONALD J MAGUIRE SANDRA JEANNE MAGUIRE ARUNDHATI MAGULURI  SHASTRI MAHABIR AMANDA MAHAFFEY SETH A MAHAFFEY TIMOTHY P MAHAN
BAZZARD MAHARAJ  CANDACE MAHARAJ  CHRISTOPHER MAHARAJ  WAYNE MAHARAJ  DENNIS R MAHARREY  MAHSA MAHDAVIAN  OLIVER MAHER ROGERIO MAHL  CHRISTOPHER LEE MAHLER  BRIAN F MAHONE
WILLIAM M MAHONE BRIAN K MAHONEY DALE A MAHONEY EDWARD KENT MAHONEY GRANT MAHONEY JOSEPH A MAHONEY MATTHEW D MAHONY TRACIW MAHONY JOHN D MAHRENHOLZ HOWARD MAI JACKIE MAI
STACEY MAI  LANCE H MAIDEN  JACOB MAILLOUX PETER P MAILMAN  KATELYN MAINOR JACOB MAIR DAVID MAJANO ENRIQUE MAJANO HOWARD L MAJETTE LUCAS MAJEWSKI BRYANT T MAJOR RYAN P MAJOR
VICTOR C MAJOR ALONZO MAJORS ROBERT S MAJORS SIN MAK PRATIK MAKARAND HARMALKAR LUCAS N MAKELIN JEREMY MAKIN CHANCE MAKU IKAIKAKAMANAOLA MAKUE ERNEST MAKURU MARY ALICE MALACK
ROBERT MALAKISMAIL MARISA MALATESTA NANTHAKUMAR MALAVIYA BRADLEY W MALAYER CASEY KEITH MALCOLM NICK MALCOLM ANTONIO MALDONADO DANNY O MALDONADO JEY MALDONADO
JUAN CARLOS MALDONADO RUBEN MALDONADO VICTOR MALDONADO AURELIO MALDONADO LARA LUIS MALDONADO RODRIGUEZ JOSE MALDONADO ROJAS RYAN MALEY GAURAV MALHOTRA KRISTEN MALINOWSKI
RYAN MALINOWSKI GERRICK MALLARD MICHAEL S MALLARD TREVOR MALLARD CASEY MALLET DYLAN MALLETT ROBERT JORDAN MALLETT Il VINAYAK MALLIKARJUN KORE ANDREW MALLON DENNIS F MALLON II
DENNIS F MALLON NATHAN SCOTT MALLON SHELBY MALLON JASON ZACHARY MALLORY MACK W MALLORY SHAWNTAY MALLORY JAY MALMBERG TIM MALMBERG HEATHER L MALO RONNY MALO AUSTIN CARL MALONE
BRENT ALAN MALONE BRITISH S MALONE BRYAN MALONE CARL DONOVAN MALONE CARLA E MALONE CODY RYAN MALONE ERNEST MALONE Il JASON R MALONE JONATHAN D MALONE MATT R MALONE MICHAEL MALONE
MICHAEL W MALONE SAWYER T MALONE  WILLIAM CHARLES MALONE = JEFF MALONEY RICHARD T MAMAJEK BUMBA MAMPUYA  WILLIAM G MANAHAN NIZAM MANALAL RONEL MANARANG MOISES MANCERA GARCIA
CHASEN T MANCHESTER  DAVID A MANCHESTER  ANGEL MANCILLAJR  ADRIAN MANCINAS  JOHN MANCINI LAKSHMANA RAO MANDALA  JOHN M MANDEL  TIMOTHY MANDL  MATTHEW C MANELLI PARKER MANERS
RANDHIR SINGH MANGAT L A MANGHAM BRANT MANGRUM CRYSTAL N MANGUAL GERALD MANGUNE SELVAKUMAR MANI ANTUAN MANICA MIKEL T MANION RAJKUMAR MANISEKAR JONATHAN K MANLEY KATIE MANLEY
ANTHONY MANN AVERY PHILLIP MANN CHRISTOPHER RICHARD MANN CRAIG D MANN DON R MANN DON RENA MANN FRANCOIS J MANN JACOB R MANN JAMES L MANN JASPAL MANN KULBINDER MANN LESTER W MANN
MAJOR MANN MICHAEL MANN SEAN TYLER MANN TODD MANNERING AMANDA L MANNING BRYAN EARL MANNING CLINTON C MANNING ELBERT T MANNING JOHN E MANNING MATTHEW DREW MANNING
NICHOLAS CHANCE MANNING TROY MANNY LUCAS R MANON PATRICK L MANON GARETH MANORE RYAN K MANSFIELD TYLER MANSFIELD DEREK MANSON JOHN MANZ CHRISTOPHER MANZO KHEY MAO DENNY MAODUS
COLIN MAPLE QUINCY O MAPLE LUCAS MAPLES BRANDON MAPLETOFT TENDAI MAPOSA ISAAC MARACLE RYAN MARALDO GEORGE MARASCO DARRIN CADE MARBLE TRAVIS MARBLE ANNA R MARBRY NATHAN L MARBURG
KENNETH RODNEY MARBUT MICHAEL MARCELLUS MARTIN MARCH MARTIN MARCH ROBIN MARCHAND DARRELL MARCHELL ANTHONY MARCHESIN LOUIS MARCOLLA JOEL T MARCOTTE ALEC MARCUM DUSTIN K MARCUM
ERIC M MARCUS KELLEY MARCUS SHANE OKELLEY MARCUS CHRISTOPHER MARDON CRISTIAN HUMBERTO MARES DE LA PAZ ZACHARY FREDRICK MARESH JOHN STEPHEN MARIA JOSEPH ESAKKIAPPAN MARIAPPAN
MATHAVAN MARIAPPAN FISHER MARIETTA KENNETH MARIGLIA ARUN KUMAR MARIKANNAN VIDESH MARIMOOTOO ARMANDO MARIN SERRANO ANDREW MARINIG NICOLA MARINO ROBERT C MARINOS WAYNE MARION
JONATHAN MARIONCU CRISTIAN ZAIN MARISCAL AGUAYO CESAR OCTAVIO MARISCAL CONTRERAS ALEJANDRO MARISCAL RUIZ ALAN MARISCAL SANCHEZ SREERAM C MARISETTY ARUNKUMAR MARIYAPPAN
NAVANEETHAN MARIYAPPAN STEVE MARK JUSTIN A MARKEL SHANE MARKER ILEY MARKHAM IAN STUART MARKON DALEDA MARKOS CHRISTOPHER MARKOV TONY MARKOWITZ ANDREW T MARKS BYRON DEAN MARKS
DONOVAN E MARKS  FREDERICK E MARKS  JOHN MARKS  MATTHEW J MARKS  MEGAN L MARKS  STEVEN D MARKS THOMAS M MARKS  DAVID M MARKSBERRY  MELVIN MARKSBERRY Ill  DAVID ANDREW MARKUS
KYLE W MARKWARDT KEITH AMARLAR ANDREW DAVID MARLER KEVIN MARLEY LAGACE SEAN-MICHAEL MARLIN-ZIEGLER ABBY NICHOLE MARLOW AUBREY A MARLOWE JR DOMENICK J MAROCCO ASLAN MARPLES
GILBERTO MARQUEZ GIOVANNY MARQUEZ RODRIGO MARQUEZ Ill GILBERTO MARQUEZ CHAVARRIA JOSE MARQUEZ CORTES LUIS RAMON MARQUEZ MORENO  GILBERTO A MARQUEZ RAMIREZ RODDY A MARRACCINI
JORGE MARRERO  RONALD E MARRIER  REGINALDO MARROQUIN  VICTOR E MARROQUIN  CHRISTINA MARRUJO  BILLY MARSH BRANDON MARSH BRYON S MARSH  RICHARD WESLEY MARSH  RODNEY D MARSH
RONALD L MARSH ANTONIO R MARSHALL BRENT MARSHALL DAVID L MARSHALL DOUG ALAN MARSHALL EARL J MARSHALL GREGORY J MARSHALL JEFFERY L MARSHALL JESS P MARSHALL KENNETH MARSHALL
LOUISE MARSHALL  NATHAN P MARSHALL  NICHOLAS P MARSHALL PAUL J MARSHALL SCOTT MARSHALL SEAN MARSHALL TERRY L MARSHALL VELON D MARSHALL VINCENT D MARSHALL  WILLIAM J MARSHALL
ZACK MARSHALL CHRISTOPHER WADE MARSHBURN  RANDALL SCOTT MARSHBURN JASON MARSON TANYA MARSON FALLON MARSTON CARSON MARTELL JOSH MARTELL CHASE S MARTENS ERIK MARTENSSON
JORDAN MARTI KIM R MARTI AARON MARTIN ANTHONY MARTIN ANTONIO MARTIN BRANDON MARTIN BRANDON MARTIN BRUCE D MARTIN Il BRUCE D MARTIN CAMERON J MARTIN CARL M MARTIN CHARLES C MARTIN
CHRISTOPHER D MARTIN CHRISTOPHER P MARTIN CHRISTOPHER W MARTIN CLIFFORD MARTIN CYNTHIA MARTIN DAVID A MARTIN DAVID R MARTIN DEAN MARTIN DENNIS L MARTIN DONALD E MARTIN JR DONNA B MARTIN
EDWARD MARTIN ELISA MARTIN ERIC MARTIN GEORGE MARTIN GLENN EDWARD MARTIN GRANT W MARTIN JACOB WILLIAM MARTIN JAMES MARTIN JAMES AUBREY MARTIN Il JAMES B MARTIN JAMES D MARTIN JR
JASON L MARTIN  JEFFERY W MARTIN  JEFFREY RMARTIN  JOEY E MARTIN  JOHN AARON MARTIN  JOHN C MARTIN  JOHNATHON MARTIN  JONATHAN AUSTIN MARTIN  JORDAN MARTIN  JOSHUA ANDREW MARTIN



JUDY LYLE MARTIN  JUSTIN S MARTIN KAYDEN BRENT MARTIN KENDRA MICHELLE MARTIN KENTRELLE LAVELLE MARTIN KIONNA MARTIN KOREY W MARTIN LEROY MARTIN LESLIE MIKELLE MARTIN MARVIN MARTIN
MATTHEW CHRISTOPHER MARTIN MERRILL T MARTIN MICHAEL MARTIN MICHAEL MARTIN MICHAEL S MARTIN MITCHELL MARTIN NICKOLAS PW MARTIN NOAH MARTIN RICHARD L MARTIN RICHARD V MARTIN
RYAN MARTIN SCOTT W MARTIN SEAN LAMAR MARTIN SHERRIE MARTIN STEPHEN MARTIN STEVEN M MARTIN THOMAS L MARTIN ZACHARY TAYLOR MARTIN ALEJANDRO MARTIN DEL CAMPO PATINO  JED MARTINAT
ADAM BLAKE MARTINDALE DEBBIE MARTINEAU LEIGH-ANNE MARTINELLO ADAM MARTINEZ AGUSTIN H MARTINEZ ALEXIX A MARTINEZ ALVARO MARTINEZ ANGELICA MARTINEZ ANTONIO R MARTINEZ ANTONY MARTINEZ
ARMANDO MARTINEZ  CHARLES D MARTINEZ CONOR THOMAS MARTINEZ  DANIEL MARTINEZ  DAVID ALEJANDRO MARTINEZ EDGAR AMAYA MARTINEZ EDWIN MARTINEZ  EZEQUIEL T MARTINEZ  GABRIEL MARTINEZ
GABRIEL MARTINEZ HUGO O MARTINEZ JESSICA M MARTINEZ JOEY MARTINEZ JOSE MARTINEZ JOSE CHRISTIAN MARTINEZ JOSE E MARTINEZ JOSE R MARTINEZ JUAN MARTINEZ JUAN PABLO MARTINEZ KARYNA MARTINEZ
KC M MARTINEZ KENNY M MARTINEZ KIMBERLY MARTINEZ MAGDALENO MARTINEZ JR MARIO ANTONIO MARTINEZ MARIO R MARTINEZ MICHAEL M MARTINEZ MIGUEL MARTINEZ NICHOLAS MARTINEZ NOE MARTINEZ
OSCAR MARTINEZ PETER A MARTINEZ PRESTON M MARTINEZ RAQUEL MARTINEZ RENE A MARTINEZ SAUL MARTINEZ TOMMY MURRAY MARTINEZ = YOLANDA KARINA MARTINEZ  JOSE MANUEL MARTINEZ BARAJAS
JESUS ALEJANDRO MARTINEZ DE LA CRUZ OSVALDO MARTINEZ ESPARZA JUAN PABLO MARTINEZ GONZALEZ ARTURO MARTINEZ HERNANDEZ SALVADOR MARTINEZ JARA J REYES MARTINEZ ORTEGA
ADRIAN GUADALUPE MARTINEZ PADILLA LIAM MARTINEZ PANIAGUA ERNESTO MARTINEZ PEREZ CESAR FERNANDO MARTINEZ PLASCENCIA MASSIEL MARTINEZ REYES JORGE MARTINEZ RODRIGUEZ
JOSE FRANCISCO MARTINEZ SERVIN JORGE MARTINEZ VARONA DIEGO MARTINEZ ZARRASOLA JOSE MARTINEZ-BELTRAN GUSTAVO MARTINEZ-CHAVIRA JOHN MARTINI MICHAEL R MARTINI ANTONIO MARTINS PAUL MARTINS
ERIC L MARTINSON IAN MARTYNA ALINA MARUNTELU BRADY L MARUSKA TODD M MARUSKA ANDREW N MARVIN TRAVIS MARVIN MATTHEW D MARX CHRISTIAN R MARYOTT FRANCESCO MARZANO
STEPHANIE LATISHA MARZETTE = FA'ASISINA MASALOSALO SPENCER M MASAT JOSEPH A MASCARO  RICHARD AUGUST MASCHKE =~ ANTHONY MASCORRO  JOHN BRITTO MASILAMANI  RICKY D MASK  BRADEN J MASON
BRANDON SHAYNE MASON CARRIE MASON COREY MASON DEAN MASON JOSEPH D MASON KIM M MASON LATASHA M MASON REESE MASON ROGER MASON SANTONIO MASON STEPHEN W MASON TONY C MASON
ALFRED LEONARD MASSAAR KURTIS MASSE ASHLEY LAUREN MASSEY BRADLEY MASSEY CHRISTOPHER A MASSEY CHRISTOPHER L MASSEY COREY S MASSEY ELIZABETH A MASSEY FLETA MASSEY JAMES MASSEY
JUSTIN KYLE MASSEY KATY MARIE MASSEY ROBERT MASSEY Il TOMMY L MASSEY ZACHARY DANIEL MASSIE MARK C MASSIER CODY M MAST DAVID M MAST DEREK MASTERMAN BRETT MASTERS SHERRY MASTERS
TODD A MASTERS ZACHARY TAYLOR MASTERS BRIAN MASTON DAVID V MASTRANGELO MITCHELL R MASTRO NICOLE MASTROIENI YURELIS MATA PEDRO MATEO FERN MATERNO RAMCHARAN MATHAI RAJ MATHAIAH
YIORGO MATHEOS = DARREN A MATHES  ANTHONY E MATHEWS  BRADY MATHEWS  JEREMY SHAWN MATHEWS  SEBASTIEN MATHEWS  SHAWN ALLEN MATHEWS  KEVIN MATHIAS  CASEY MATHIESON  CODY MATHIS
DAVID WAYNE MATHIS DAWN MATHIS GARNEL E MATHIS GLEN ALLEN MATHIS GREG MATHIS GREGORY E MATHIS KENNETH MATHIS SR KENNETH J MATHIS SAMUEL MATHIS SAMUEL LIVINGSTON MATHIS Ill RUSSEL MATHYS
CARA MATIGIAN ~MICHAEL D MATIOSCHAT JUDD MATKIN DUSTY W MATLOCK SCOTT MATLOCK SCOTTIE D MATLOCK ADRIAN MATRAM JASON LEWIS MATSON MATTHEW MATSON PABLO A MATTEI BRENTON L MATTEO
MICHAEL A MATTEO SPENCER W MATTERS JASON P MATTHES JUSTIN MATTHES BILLY GENE MATTHEWS JR BLAIN MATTHEWS BOBBY N MATTHEWS BRANDON MATTHEWS BRIAN K MATTHEWS CHRISTOPHER SCOTT MATTHEWS
DAMON A MATTHEWS DAVID MATTHEWS EUGENE D MATTHEWS JOHN TREVER MATTHEWS JONATHAN H MATTHEWS KENNETH E MATTHEWS MARK R MATTHEWS MARLON MATTHEWS MICHAEL D MATTHEWS
MICHAEL E MATTHEWS RHONDA MATTHEWS ROBERT A MATTHEWS RYAN S MATTHEWS STEPHANIE R MATTHEWS TERESA A MATTHEWS TERRY MATTHEWS TRACY C MATTHEWS JOHNNY MATTICE MITCHELL D MATTINGLY
KYLE MATTINSON RICHARD D MATTISON JEFFERY ALLEN MATTOX Il NORMAN B MATTOX JOSHUA D MATTSON BASSIM MATUK JAMES JOSEPH MATURA JOSEPH J MATUSKA TAMMY MATUSZAK BRAYAN MATUTE PADILLA
JEREMY MATWYKO RANDY MATWYKO JOHN M MATYJA MARY BETH MAU ZACHARY S MAU COYAN C MAUGHAN GAYLEN C MAUGHAN JAYDEN MAUGHAN ANDREW FERRELL MAULDIN MICHAEL MAULDIN KEVIN MAULTRA
SAMUEL MAUNEY RANDY K MAURER TOBIAS MAURICE ANTHONY MAURITS DAVID L MAUSEHUND ANTHONY D MAXWELL BRANDON J MAXWELL COLTON D MAXWELL DAVIS MAXWELL ERIC L MAXWELL JAMES TONY MAXWELL
JASON HEATH MAXWELL LINDSAY MAXWELL MICHAEL W MAXWELL CORY GENE MAY CRAIG M MAY JAMES A MAY JEREMY M MAY JOSEPH CHRISTOPHER MAY JUSTIN MAY KELVIN MAY KENNETH D MAY MARK E MAY
MICHEAL T MAY NICOLE CHRISTINE MAY SCOTT A MAY VANESSAL MAY WILLIED MAY DONALD GENE MAYBERRY MARLON C MAYBERRY THOMAS C MAYBERRY BLAKE FREDRICK MAYER TROY MAYER JULIAN L MAYERS
MICHAEL W MAYFIELD MICHAEL M MAYHALL DAVID E MAYHEW CHRISTOPHER K MAYNARD ERIC T MAYNARD JOSHUA L MAYNE ELIJAH P MAYO JAKE MAYORCA ALAN RAY MAYOTTE ARTHUR MAYS CHRISTOPHER MAYS
GEORGE MICHAEL MAYS HERB MAYS JARED E MAYS JOHN MAYS KENNETH L MAYS PATRICK G MAYS ROBERT JOSEPH MAYS WILLIAM TODD MAYS CODY C MAYSE CORY ROBERT MAYSE MELANIE MAYSEY JOHN C MAYTON
KEVIN B MAYTUM DYLAN MAZUREN  VANESSA D MAZZA  JASON MCADAM TYLER MCADAM CONSTANCE L MCADAMS KEEGAN MCADOO  TANNER REID MCADOO ERIC D MCADORY  DANIEL CODY MCALLISTER
DENNIS MCALLISTER ~ JAMES D MCALLISTER ~ JEREMY T MCALLISTER  KAYLA MCALLISTER  TRACI MCALLISTER  VIVIAN H MCALLISTER  JAMES MCALPINE =~ KYLE MCALPINE = NOAH MCALPINE  KIM ELAINE MCANULTY
MICHAEL BRUCE MCARTHUR  RAYFORD J MCATEER ROY R MCATEER THOMAS M MCAULIFFEJR CHADWICK TYLER MCBAY ANTHONY GEORGE MCBRAYER GREG B MCBRAYER JERRY K MCBRAYER BRADY MCBRIDE
D BLAKE MCBRIDE JEFFREY D MCBRIDE JOHN MCBRIDE JOHN MCBRIDE JOHN MCBRIDE JON KENT MCBRIDE MATTHEW MCBRIDE MICA L MCBRIDE ROGER BRENT MCBRIDE STEPHANIE MCBRIDE WESLEY LANE MCBRIDE
WILLIAM MCBRIDE ~ZANE WADE MCBRIDE  KIARRI B MCBROOM TREVOR DALE MCBROOM PAMELA K MCBROOME JAMES J MCCABE KASON LUTHER MCCAFFERTY REGINALD E MCCAFFERTY  ELIZABETH MCCAFFREY
MATTHEW JOSHUA MCCAFFREY BRADY RMCCAIN JOHN L MCCAIN SHANG JAMAR MCCAIN WESLEY MCCAIN HUNTER MCCALEB KEVIN E MCCALEB CHRISTOPHER MCCALL JAMAAL ATIBA MCCALL JAMES T MCCALL SR
JORDAN MCCALL  MARCUS MCCALL  ROBERT SHERMAN MCCALL  ROSWELL MCCALL  EDWARD A MCCALLIE  SALLY AMCCALLUM  JOHN CHADWICK MCCALPIN  DONNIE W MCCAMMON JR  DARRIN J MCCANDLESS
LOGAN MICHAEL MCCANDLESS TYLER J MCCANDLESS WILLIAM R MCCANDLESS NICHOLAS MCCANN STEPHEN A MCCANN JAMES H MCCANTS JOEY S MCCANTS SETH A MCCANTS TIFFANY B MCCANTS TIMOTHY A MCCANTS
LARRY B MCCARDLE  KYLE MCCARRON  MATTHEW C MCCART  KYLE MCCARTHY THOMAS P MCCARTHY  TRAVIS MCCARTHY ASHTON MCCARTNEY  JAMES MCCARTNEY JAMES P MCCARTY ROBERT M MCCAULEY
TIMOTHY J MCCAVIT AIRIKA MCCLAFFERTY ERIC MCCLAIN HUNTER MCCLAIN ROBERT MCCLAIN RYAN A MCCLAIN CHARLES MCCLAMROCK SCOTT M MCCLANAHAN OLIVER MCCLEAN CASEY B MCCLELLAN
CURTIS MCCLELLAN JEREMY C MCCLELLAN KALEB MCCLELLAN KEVIN R MCCLELLAN KOLBY LAYTON MCCLELLAN TERRY L MCCLELLAN ANDREW MCCLELLAND JACOB MCCLELLEN KELVIN D MCCLENDON
MATTHEW MCCLOSKEY  JACKMCCLOUD  RANDALL J MCCLOUD  RICHARD L MCCLOUD JR  TIHALISH MCCLOUD  WILLIAM E MCCLUNG  JACOB W MCCLURE  JOSEPH MCCLURE = MARK L MCCLURE SEAN MCCLURE
WILLIAM B MCCLURE BILLY MMCCOIN BESS MCCOLLESTER JASON E MCCOLLUM JUSTIN KMCCOLLUM LISA SMELLEY MCCOLLUM MARK MCCOLLUM JAMES P MCCOMB ERIC M MCCONICO CHARLES R MCCONNELL JR
JOHN T MCCONNELL PATRICK MICHAEL MCCONNELL WILLIAM K MCCONNELL LYNN MCCORD MARK D MCCORD GARRETT MCCORKLE JASON MCCORKLE LEAHR MCCORKLE CONNOR MCCORMACK LEE MCCORMACK
JASON A MCCORMICK  JASON L MCCORMICK  JERRY MCCORMICK  MATTHEW MCCORMICK  RANDY R MCCORMICK REECE T MCCORMICK ROBERT KMCCORMICK GRANT MCCORRISTER = CHARLES DWIGHT MCCOY
DUSTIN MCCOY HENRY B MCCOY Il JAMES MCCOY JENNIFER MCCOY JOEY MCCOY JOSHUA A MCCOY LASHONDA RMCCOY LUKE MCCOY MARKN MCCOY NATHANIEL J MCCOY RENARDO LAVON MCCOY SHELDON MCCOY
STEPHEN MCCOY  TERRENCE MCCOY  WARREN RICK MCCOY  WILLIAM MCCOY  WILLIAM B MCCOY  KEITH MCCRACKEN KENNETH C MCCRACKEN MICHAEL MCCRACKIN DANIEL B MCCRARY  JARED MCCRARY
JORDAN R MCCRARY JOHN C MCCRATE JR MICHAEL S MCCRAVEY CHARLENE MCCRAY MICHAEL JUDSON MCCRAY CHRISTOPHER MCCREARY MEGAN MARIE MCCREERY ERNEST LEE MCCRELESS JAMES A MCCRELESS
ARTHUR JAMES MARK MCCRORY  SEAN MCCRORY  ERIC R MCCROSKEY KENNETHW MCCRUTER JAMES C MCCUBBIN  LLOYD L MCCUBBIN CHARLES ANDREW MCCUISTON  JAMES MCCULLOCH  KELLY MCCULLOCH
MYRON A MCCULLOCH RICHARD MCCULLOCH ALEX ALEXIS MCCULLOUGH ALICIA KRISTIN MCCULLOUGH BRADFORD L MCCULLOUGH DAVONTE MCCULLOUGH DUANE CHRISTIAN MCCULLOUGH EDWINA K MCCULLOUGH
FRANKIE L MCCULLOUGH JOSEPH TOBIAS MCCULLOUGH KEITH L MCCULLOUGH ROBERT D MCCULLOUGH ROBERTA MCCULLOUGH WARREN J MCCULLOUGH CRAIG | MCCULLY CHRISTOPHER J MCCURLEY
BEN THOMAS MCCURRY JONATHAN MCCURRY CHRISTOPHER E MCCUTCHEN ADAM J MCCUTCHEON JOHN W MCCUTCHEON MICHAEL JOHN MCDADE ALBERT D MCDANIEL ALBERT DEAN MCDANIEL JR ALEXANDER W MCDANIEL
CODY DEAN MCDANIEL QUINCY L MCDANIEL ROBBIE N MCDANIEL THOMAS M MCDANIEL TYNA MCDANIEL GLENN ERIC MCDAY KELLY KIERRA MCDAY CYNTHIA LEA MCDERMID CODY M MCDERMOTT STEVEN T MCDERMOTT
ABBY MCDONALD ALEXANDER JAMES MCDONALD BLAINE R MCDONALD BRENT S MCDONALD CHARLES L MCDONALD CODY MCDONALD DARCY MCDONALD DASHAWN MCDONALD GARY D MCDONALD JR
HUNTER MCDONALD IV JAMES K MCDONALD  JAMES P MCDONALD  JAMES R MCDONALD JR JEFFREY MCDONALD  JENNIFER MCDONALD  JENNIFER L MCDONALD  JOSHUA MCDONALD MALCOLM F MCDONALD
PAUL M MCDONALD PRISCILLA ROSE MCDONALD RYAN MCDONALD SEAN M MCDONALD JR SHAWN MCDONALD TANNER C MCDONALD TIMOTHY MCDONALD ROBERT F MCDONNELL THOMAS MCDONNELL
RYAN PATRICK MCDONOUGH CHRISTOPHER L MCDOUGAL FRANK MCDOUGAL BRIAN MCDOWELL KENNARD LEANDUS MCDOWELL JR TRACY L MCDUFFY JAMES R MCEACHERN ROBERT C MCEACHERN JONATHAN L MCEACHIN SR
JORDAN J MCEACHIN STEPHEN G MCELHANON MARK MCELHINNEY STEVEN L MCELROY DAWN C MCELVEEN MICHAEL T MCELVEEN TERRIIMCELVEEN WILLIAM R MCELVEEN JAMES J MCELYEA STEVE ARTHUR MCELYEA JR
ADRIEN MCFADDEN CLAUDE MCFADDEN ERNEST E MCFADDEN ROGER MCFADDEN CAMERON R MCFALL SHANNA M MCFALL  ANDREW MCFARLAND NICHOLAS MCFATRIDGE PHILLIP MCFEE = JOSHUA MCGAHAN
MACKINLEY MCGARRY MACKINLEY R MCGARRY GERALD A MCGAUGHEY NATHAN G MCGAUGHEY RYAN D MCGAUGHEY GRANT MCGAUGHY COURTNEY J MCGEE FREDRICK T MCGEE JAMES CASH MCGEE JUSTIN B MCGEE
LUCAS CAINE MCGEE STEPHEN C MCGEE TIMOTHY AMCGEE WALTERT MCGEE MICHAEL E MCGEORGE AUSTIN RMCGHEE CHRISTOPHER JAMES MCGHEE COURTNEY MCGHIE MONTY RMCGILL ZACHARY MCGILLIS
JACOB KOLE MCGINLEY DACIA D MCGINNESS ALEC MCGINNIS RICHARD L MCGINNIS SCOTT E MCGINNIS KENDERICK R MCGIRT  PAUL J MCGOLDRICK DANIEL L MCGOWAN JAMIE M MCGOWAN  JARED MCGOWAN
CLARENCE MCGRANAHAN CLAUDE MCGRANAHAN ANDREW MCGRAW ROBERT HOLLADAY MCGRAW RONALD A MCGRAW CHAD D MCGREGOR JENNIFER L MCGREGOR KENNY MCGREGOR MICKEY ALAN MCGREGOR
NATHAN MCGREGOR  JOHNNY F MCGRIFF ~ SEAN EDWARD MCGUIGGAN  DAVID MCGUINNESS AMANDA N MCGUIRE ANNE T MCGUIRE BRIAN AMCGUIRE BRUCE MCGUIRE RANDY W MCGUIRE = ROBERT MCGUIRE
SHANE P MCGUIRE STEPHEN E MCGUIRE TYLER FORREST MCGUIRE MICHAEL MCHALE JOHN H MCHALFFEY CLINTON A MCHAN ROBERT B MCHARGUE ANTHONY MCHUGH DONALD MCHUGH JOSH MCHUGH KEVIN MCHUGH
JOHN MCINALLY HART MCINERNEY BRODY MCINNES CORY P MCINTOSH LINDSAY A MCINTOSH MELINA MCINTOSH JANET L MCINTYRE BILLY MCINVILLE BRANDON MCINVILLE JOSEPH P MCINVILLE JUSTIN R MCINVILLE
RANDY W MCINVILLE  JIMMY RAY MCKASKLE COREY J MCKAY DAVID L MCKAY LIONEL MCKAY MARK STEVEN MCKAY RALPH E MCKAY RANDIN MCKAY JACK MCKAY-SCHUELER SCOTT T MCKEAN CLINTON MCKEE
JACOB MCKEE = JEREMY RMCKEE JERRY EMCKEE MALORIE NICOLE MCKEE  MICHAEL E MCKEEN  ROBERT MCKEEVER  CHRISTOPHER O MCKELVEY  KELLY F MCKENNEY  CRAIG MCKENZIE = GERALD R MCKENZIE
MATTHEW FOSTER MCKENZIE ORNIN L MCKENZIE JR PAUL J MCKENZIE RICHARD B MCKENZIE SHAWN MCKENZIE ADAM MCKEON THOMAS MCKEON JEREMY R MCKEOWN JOSEPH T MCKERNAN PATRICK D MCKERNAN
JENNIFER R MCKIBBEN  DAVID C MCKINLEY SCOTT D MCKINLEY CHAD R MCKINNEY JEREMY MCKINNEY JUDY MCKINNEY  JUSTIN MCKINNEY STEPHEN MCKINNEY THOMAS K MCKINNEY ROBERT BRIAN MCKINNON
CHRISTOPHER A MCKINSEY ~ WILLIAM E MCKINSEY ~ JOHN MCKINVEN ~ KYLE MCKINVEN  ENNIS A MCKNIGHT  JAMES V MCKNIGHT  JODY B MCKNIGHT =~ JOHNATHON THOMAS MCKNIGHT JR  LARRY ALAN MCKNIGHT JR
MICKEL T MCKNIGHT PEGGY MCKNIGHT RICHARD MCKNIGHT STEVEN W MCKNIGHT TONY E MCKNIGHT WILLIAM B MCKNIGHT TYLER MCKOWN SHAWN MCLACHLAN GAIL S MCLAIN TONY L MCLAIN JAMES E MCLAMB
JAMES H MCLAMB JEFFREY W MCLAMB BETH A MCLAUGHLAN-SEAVER BRANDON L MCLAUGHLIN CHRISTOPHER J MCLAUGHLIN CORY MCLAUGHLIN DUSTIN K MCLAUGHLIN EARNEST J MCLAUGHLIN JIMMY DEAN MCLAUGHLIN
MATTHEW SEAN MCLAUGHLIN  NATHANIEL R MCLAUGHLIN PAUL A MCLAUGHLIN RICKY D MCLAUGHLIN JOHN MCLAURIN ALASDAIR R MCLEAN ALEX MCLEAN FLINT MCLEAN JOSEPH G MCLEAN JR MATHEW MCLEAN
MELISSA S MCLEAN OTIS MCLEARY MEGAN A MCLEES SAMUEL M MCLELLAN CARTER GAYNOM MCLEMORE JOHNNY L MCLEOD JR MICHAEL EDWARD MCLEOD STEPHEN G MCLEOD NICHOLAS G MCLEROY COREY A MCMAHAN
TYREL MCMAHAN  GAVIN C MCMAHON  JAMIE J MCMAHON  SEAN THOMAS MCMAHON  TYLER MCMAIN  JESSICA A MCMANIGAL EUGENE MCMANUS  MITCHELL MCMANUS  ROBERT MCMANUS  SCOTT MCMANUS
TAMRON EUGENE MCMANUS  ROBERT MCMASTERS  DAVID C MCMEANS ADAM K MCMELLON  JOSHUA FRANKLIN MCMILLAN  PAXTON MCMILLAN  JARRED R MCMILLEN  NANCY LEE MCMILLEN CARMELA Y MCMILLIAN
COREY D MCMILLIN ALLEN SCOTT MCMILLON HALEY MCMINN KEIWAUN J MCMORRIS MARC JOSEPH MCMULLEN DAVID L MCMURRIAN DALE A MCMURRY DAVID W MCMURRY NATHAN RICHARD MCMURTRIE MITCHELL MCNAB
JASON MCNABB  KELLY S MCNABB  ADRIAN MCNAIR  JAMES CHRISTOPHER MCNAIR  KIRBY G MCNAIR  SEAN C MCNAIR  STEVEN W MCNAIR  JAIME MCNALL THERESA MCNALL  HARRY J MCNALLY  SHEA MCNALLY
CHRISTOPHER P MCNAMARA KENNETH R MCNATT DAVID M MCNEAL JEARL MCNEAL THEODORE R MCNEAL Il RICHARD MCNEAR BRUCE MCNEELY LISA C MCNEELY ELIZABETH MCNEESE DARIEN MCNEIL EDWARD MCNEIL
MARK W MCNEIL SHATERRIA MCNEIL ANTONIA D MCNEISH MATHEW MCNICHOL MARISA LYNN MCNUTT TIMOTHY TYLER MCNUTT PATRICK J MCPEAK ANGELA MCPETERS BRET MCPHERSON JACOB DOUGLAS MCPHERSON
LANDON MCPHERSON  STANLEY C MCPHERSON = SARAH M MCQUADE  JACOB S MCQUAIN  GREGORY MCQUEEN  JAMES C MCQUEEN  GARY MCQUILLIS JOHN MCRAE RODNEY P MCRAE  ZAKIYA MOROWA MCRAE
JEREMY MCROBERTS GLEN MCSHANE GARNER T MCSORLEY GARY L MCSORLEY JEFFREY MCSWAIN JACOB ALDEN MCSWANE RUSSELL D MCSWANE JACLYN MCTHIAS ANDREW MCVEY GUY MCWATT CYRIL MCWEENEY
MATTHEW D MCWHIRTER TERRY MCWHORTER WAYNE MCWILLIAM DEBRA KAY MCWILLIAMS EVAN FRANCIS MCWILLIAMS LARRY DEAN MCWILLIAMS JR DAVID CHASE MEACHAM ANTHONY BRUCE MEAD JR DESIREE M MEADE
KEVIN MEADE MICHAEL K MEADE JAMES D MEADOR JEFFREY L MEADOR PHILLIP G MEADOR ROBERT JOSEPH MEADOR CHRISTOPHER BRIAN MEADOWS JAMES MEADOWS JASON S MEADOWS JOSHUA C MEADOWS
JOSHUA W MEADOWS LAWRENCE RANDAL MEADOWS ISRAEL | MEAGHER CAMRON C MEANS TROY J MEANS STAN L MEARS DUSTY MECHAM JOSEPH MECHAM MITCHELL MEDAK DUSTIN DAKOTA MEDCKIE ANN M MEDDINGS
JEFFREY N MEDDINGS RANDY MEDEIROS ROGERIO W MEDEIROS SIMON S MEDEL COURTNEY MEDFORD JEFFREY D MEDFORD CESAR MEDINA CHRIS MEDINA CINDY MEDINA DARLENE MEDINA ESTEBAN MEDINA
HEBERTH MEDINA KELLY MEDINA MANUEL MEDINA MATHEW MEDINA MICHAEL L MEDINA RICARDO MEDINA CINTHIA NOEMI MEDINA ALMANZA LUIS MEDINA CABALLERO MARK MEDLER CORY J MEDLEY
DANA CLAYTON MEDLEY ERIC AMEDLEY JAMES CURTIS MEDLIN JAMES W MEDLIN JONATHAN MEDLIN SARAH MEDLIN WILLIAM CLAY MEDLIN SEAN MEDNIKOW IVAN MEDRANO BROCK W MEECE JERRAD LOUIS MEECE
TODD AMEEHAN  KEITHHMEEK  DUSTIN MEEKS  MUTHUKUMAR MEENAKSHISUNDARAM  SYED ALI BATHUS MEERAN MOHIDEEN  CASEY J MEFFORD  KERRY L MEFFORD  LANDON M MEFFORD  LONNIE D MEFFORD
STEPHANIE D MEFFORD LEON M MEGGETT LATONYA MEGGINSON STEVEN C MEGGS BRADEN MEGUINES MATTHEW S MEGYESE TODD P MEHL KEVIN MEHLE DANIEL J MEHLENBACHER ANA ADORA MEHRHOFF
BRAD MEHRHOFF BLAKE MEIER EDDIE MEIER MATTHEW J MEIER SHAWN MEIER MARY ASHLEY MEINERT BARTELJ MEIS CLINTTMEIS NICHOLAS MEISBERGER JEFF A MEIXSELL JOSEPHINE MEJIA NOCAR MEJIA
TOBY N MEJIA ERICK MEJIA SALAS JONATHAN MELAGA MEGAN MELANCON CHRISTOPHER MELCHER KEEGAN R MELCHER RILEY JOSEPH MELCHER JENNIFER MARIE MELCHOR DANIEL MELENDEZ MANUEL MELENDEZ
DIANA MELENDEZ ALVARADO ALFONSO MELENDEZ SANCHEZ KURT MELERO DIANE M MELESIO JOHN S MELITOS MICHAEL A MELKUS DEBORAH J MELLAS CHRISTOPHER L MELLER KENT AMELLO REBECCA L MELLO
JOSEPH M MELLODY RONALD J MELLOTT MARKJ MELNICK CELERINO C MELO GABRIEL MELOCHE ANTHONY W MELTON  BILLY ANDREW MELTON JR  JAMES DAVID MELTON Il JASON T MELTON  MATTHEW MELTON
MICHAEL M MELTON NICHOLAS MELTON TERESA MELTON DANIEL MELVIN MARKF MENASCO MITCHELL MENDEL CHRISTOPHER MENDENHALL HEITOR MENDES AL MENDEZ BENJAMIN MENDEZ EDWARD G MENDEZ
ELVIN R MENDEZ HUGO ANTONIO MENDEZ MAGDALENO MENDEZ NICOLE MENDEZ VICTORIA MENDEZ JUAN MENDEZ CONTRERAS JORGE ALEJANDRO MENDEZ MARTINEZ JOSEPH MENDOLA  BELIZARIO MENDOZA
DANNY MENDOZA HARVING MENDOZA JESUS JAVIER MENDOZA JORGE MENDOZA JOSE D MENDOZA NOLBERTO MENDOZA ORLANDO MENDOZA OSWALDO MENDOZA YOEL MENDOZA MARCO ANTONIO MENDOZA ARAIZA
LUIS MENDOZA LEON JOSE IGNACIO MENDOZA MURILLO LUIS MARTIN MENDOZA SANCHEZ AARON J MENEFEE LORA MENEGAZZO WILLIAM MENENDEZ COLLAZO CHRIS J MENEZES RICARDO MENEZES ROBERTO MENEZES
VICTOR MENEZES YONATAN MENGHIS DEAN A MENIGOZ AARON C MENKE CORY B MENLOVE MATTHEW D MENSCER TRAVIS JAMES MENTER MITCHELL G MENTZEL EDMERSON MERCADO  JOSE ANIBAL MERCADO
LOUISSE MERCADO GILBERTO MERCADO CERVANTES JONATHAN MERCADO CRUZ RICARDO MERCADO RODRIGUEZ KESHIA | MERCADO SAMUEL  LINDA MERCANTE JOSHUA A MERCEDE DOMINGO MERCEDES-ROSARIO
BARRY MERCER  CHRISTOPHER M MERCER  JAMES MERCER  CHAD E MERCHANT  CODY T MERCHANT  RYAN MERCIER  DERREL J MEREDITH  JAMES THOMAS MEREDITH  JAYNE CAROL MEREDITH  LEVI MEREDITH
MATTHEW JAMES MEREDITH  SCOTT G MEREDITH  STACEY MEREDITH TRACEY MEREDITH TRENTON MERICLE = CHRISTIAN ALBERTO MERINO  TYLER MERLIN GERD MERLING CORY T MERRILL  RICKY LEE MERRILL
SAMANTHA M MERRILL JOHN W MERRIMAN JEFFERY L MERRIWEATHER FINLEY H MERRY HUDSON H MERRY BILLY L MERRYMAN BRUCE MERSBERG ROBERT MERSHON STEPHEN MERSMANN ERIC M MERTES
JEREMY F MERTINK  DONALD MESMAN  HALEY MESSENGER  SCOTT P MESSENGER  MICHAEL ZACHARY HMIDT  STEPHEN MESSIER ~ GABRIELE A MESSINA  ETHAN MEST  STEVEN MESZAROS
ADAM NICHOLAS METCALF  DIANA K METCALF  DYLAN K METCALF  FREDRICK METCALF  FREDRICK C METCALF  JARED METCALF  ROBERT ELDIN METCALF  ROY C METCALFJR  DONALD METHVIN  LARRY R METHVIN
ALAN T METSKER JENNIFER METTER MCDAVID SULLIVAN METTS DANNY METZ JOSHUA METZ MICHAEL METZGER JOSEPH M MEURET ANDREW MEWBORN KODY W MEWIS ABRAHAM J MEYER ADAM MICHAEL MEYER
BRADY MICHAEL MEYER BRIAN LYNN MEYER CAMERON J MEYER CEVYNJMEYER CLINTON G MEYER ERICLMEYER JERRY EMEYERII KEITHTMEYER KENDALL MARIEMEYER KEVIN EUGENE MEYER LEE D MEYER
LISAL MEYER MATTHEW MEYER MICHAEL O MEYER PATRICK KENNETH MEYER STEVEN QUINN MEYERER BLAKE MEYERS BENJAMIN M MEYETTE ARMANDO MEZA CHRISTIAN MEZA CHRISTIAN MEZA ISSAC MEZA
JACOB MEZA MILTON MEZA GABRIEL ALEJANDRO MEZA MORA MICHAEL MEZEY ROBERT J MEZICK BOBBY MHOON DAVID MICHAEL MARCUS T MICHAEL GWENDOLYN MICHAELIS JARED D MICHAELS AMBER MICHAELSON
JOCELYN MICHAUD JULIE MICHEL PATRICK MICHEL TROY MICHEL GARY R MICHELFELDER NICHOLAS A MICHELIN LORI K MICKELSON BLAKE M MICKEY KEVIN M MICKEY DONALD R MICKINS CHRISTOPHER DEWAYNE MICKLE
WILLIAM W MICKLE ANDREW M MIDDLETON BARRY L MIDDLETON CHRISTOPHER L MIDDLETON GREGORY MIDDLETON JAMIE LEE MIDDLETON JOE MIDDLETON PERRY MIDDLETON SETH MIDDLETON STACY W MIDDLETON
TRENT MIDDLETON KENNETH ARNOLD MIDKIFF TERRY MIDKIFF RANDY L MIECZKOWSKI WIKTOR MIELCZAREK ANDREW MIELER ANDREW EDWIN MIERS STEVEN ANDREW MIFFLIN STEVEN J MIGLIORE CORY D MIHAVICS
OSCAR MIJARES BRENT JOSEPH MIKELSON LANDON DAVID MIKESELL KEVIN L MIKETTA MICHAEL MIKULIC BRADLEY TODD MILBURN SEAN MILBURN ALFONSO MILES BOYD B MILES DEXTER LAMAR MILES GRANT MILES
JAMES AMILES JASON MILES JASON S MILES JAY SMILES JOHNE MILES JONATHAN AMILES JONATHAN MAX MILES KYLE PRESLEY MILES LARRY TODD MILES LORNE MILES MARKD MILES MICHAEL E MILES
MICHAEL R MILES SHANE O MILES SHAWN ISAAC MILES STEVEN MILES TINAJ MILES WAYNE MILES WILLIAM B MILES DANIELLE N MILES-SCHWABEROW MICHAEL S MILFORD RUSSELL LEE MILFORD SAMMY A MILHOAN
RICARDO MILIAN  DYLAN MILISITS GEORGE P MILJUS  TIMOTHY MILLAGE  WILLIAM MILLAN DEREK MILLAR  WAYNE MILLAY ADAMJMILLER ANDRA MILLER ANTHONY MILLER ANTONIO MILLER  AUSTIN L MILLER
BEAUMILLER BERNHARD AMILLER Il BETHAMILLER BRADFORD MILLER BRADLEY D MILLER BRANDON MILLER BRANDON JMILLER BRENNAN ZMILLER BRIAN MILLERJR BRIAN AMILLER BRITTANY MILLER
BRUCE L MILLER CASEY MILLER CHARLES MILLERJR  CHRISTOPHER E MILLER CHRISTOPHER MMILLER CODY MILLER COLINMILLER COLLIERD MILLER COREYDMILLER DANIELAMILLER DANIEL E MILLER
DANIEL LEE MILLER DANIEL TMILLER DANNY MILLER DANNY T MILLER DAVID AMILLER DEBORAHR MILLER DEBRA M MILLER DENNIS MILLER DENNIS MILLER DERYL MILLER DIANA MILLER DONALD LANCE MILLER
DUSTIN MILLER DUSTIN J MILLER DYLAN MILLER ERIC C MILLER GREGG DUANE MILLER GREGORY MILLER HARLEN EUGENE MILLER JACOB M MILLER JAMES MILLER JAMES MILLER JAMES A MILLER JAMES L MILLER
JAMES L MILLER JAMES MICHAEL MILLER JARED CONLEY MILLER JARED LEE MILLER JAY RICHARD MILLER JEFF RMILLER JEFFERY MILLER JEFFERY AMILLER JEFFREY MILLER JEFFREY L MILLER JEREMY J MILLER
JESSEW MILLER JIMMY MILLER JOEY J MILLER JON MILLER JONHMILLERJR JONATHAN MILLER JONATHAN AMILLER JORDAN RMILLER JOSEPH D MILLER JOSEPHD MILLER JOSH KMILLER JOSHUA L MILLER
JUSTIN MILLER KARIV MILLER KARSEN MILLER KENNETH MILLER KENNETH L MILLER KRISTY AMILLER LANCE W MILLER LESLIEJ MILLER LISA MAY MILLER MACKENZIE ALEXANDRA MILLER MARK MILLER MARK MILLER
MARK J MILLER MEGAN RMILLER MICHAEL AMILLER MICHAEL AMILLER MICHAEL D MILLER MICHAEL DUANE MILLER MICHAEL EMILLER MICHAEL L MILLER MICHAEL R MILLER MITCHELL MILLER NATHAN P MILLER
NATHAN RMILLER NEILW MILLER RACHEL MILLER RAEGAN NICOLE MILLER RANDALL L MILLER RANDELL MILLER RAYMON L MILLER RAYMOND E MILLERJR REGINALD MILLER  RENEE DESILVA KAMINSKY MILLER
RICHARD C MILLER ROBERT DALE MILLER ROBERT JAKE MILLER ROBERT RMILLER RODNEY MILLER RYAN MILLER SHARIMILLER SHAUN MILLER SHAWN M MILLER SUSAN MILLER TAYLOR S MILLER THOMAS C MILLER
TIMOTHY CRAIG MILLER  TIMOTHY ROBERT MILLER TOMAS AMILLER TRAVIS W MILLER TROY MILLER VINCENT D MILLER WADE MILLER WARREN A MILLER Il WAYNE P MILLER ~ WILLIAM MILLER ZACHARY T MILLER
ZACKERY COLE MILLER  JEFF MILLIGAN JUSTIN DANIEL MILLIGAN MADISON J MILLIGAN MALLORY MILLIGAN PETER A MILLIGAN THOMAS D MILLIGAN JIMMY D MILLIKAN CHRISTOPHER MILLION ALEXANDER MILLIRON
BRIAN MILLS BRIAND MILLS BRUCEAMILLS CHRISTOPHER MARTIN MILLS GLENN M MILLS LARRY MILLS NANCY MILLS NICHOLED MILLS RICHARD D MILLS ROBERTAMILLS BRETT MILLSAP  JOHN D MILLSAP
JOSHUA D MILLSAP ANTHONY MILLWATER JENNIFER MILNE DWANA N MILNER MARCUS MILONS MELISSA MILTEER HUNTER MILTON JORDAN RILEY MIMS NIRUPA MINASANDRAM MARK MINCEY Il CHRISTIAN A MINER




MICHAEL MINER MICHAEL S MINER ANWAT MINEX TROY L MINGLE WILLIAM S MINICK FIDENCIO MINJARES  JAIME MINJARES MICHAEL MINK HOWARD MINKLER JARED MINNIE RICHARD J MINNITI Il JACOB MINOR
JOSHUA A MINOR KENNETH R MINOR RANDAL W MINOR ROBERT D MINOR STEVE MINOR WILLIAM MINT RICKY LEE MINTER STEPHEN C MINTON LOGAN MINTY ROBERT W MINYARD JR GARY DAVID MIRACLE
JUSTIN MIRACLE ADAM MIRANDA  CESAR MIRANDA  RODRIGO MIRANDA HERRERA JOHN G MIRE NOE A MIRELES  MITRA MISAGHIHESARI ANNA MISAIL  CRAIG S MISDOM  JOHN WAYNE MISHOE  KISHLAY MISHRA
BILLY WAYNE MISNER MARK ALAN MISNER DOUGLAS L MISRASI NICHOLAS MISRASI RYAN PETE MISRASI CHRIS MISSION ANTHONY MISSOURI ALEC MITCHELL ANNA K MITCHELL ANTONIO J MITCHELL AUSTIN B MITCHELL
BARBARA MITCHELL BOBBY WAYNE MITCHELL BRYSON MITCHELL CARLEEN MITCHELL CHARDRICK L MITCHELL CHRISTOPHER MITCHELL CHRISTOPHER TYRONE MITCHELL CLAYTON MITCHELL DARREN MITCHELL
DUSTIN H MITCHELL ERIC J MITCHELL EVAN MITCHELL GARY R MITCHELL GREGORY L MITCHELL JAMES M MITCHELL JAMES M MITCHELL JASON L MITCHELL JEFFERY MITCHELL JEROME MITCHELL
JOHNATHAN ZACCHAEUS MITCHELL JR JONATHAN D MITCHELL JOSHUA CAIN MITCHELL KENT L MITCHELL KEVIN MITCHELL KYLE BRADFORD MITCHELL MARK TWAIN MITCHELL MATTHEW D MITCHELL
MATTHEW MCGHAY MITCHELL MICHAEL SEAN MITCHELL PAUL D MITCHELL PAUL G MITCHELL PAUL MICHAEL MITCHELL RANDALL W MITCHELL RANDLE LANE MITCHELL REYNOLD LEROY MITCHELL Ill ROGER D MITCHELL
RON AMITCHELL  RONNELL MITCHELL  RYAN MITCHELL  SOPHIA MITCHELL ~ STEPHEN M MITCHELL  THOMAS E MITCHELL ~ TIMOTHY D MITCHELL  TRENT ALLEN MITCHELL ~ WALTER MITCHELL ~ WALTER E MITCHELL
WILLIAM M MITCHELL  NICHOLAS MITCHELL KNISLEY JOSHUA MITCHEM SARAH MITSCH PETER MITSIKAS GREG MITTENDORF DONALD MITTER BRAYDN MITTON  CURTIS MITTON  KEVIN M MIXON  DARRIN G MIZE
MARILYN B MIZE RICHARD MIZE JR KEMMY MIZINGA BRIAN MLNARIK ADAM MNICH KAICHEONG MO DALIA MOAWAD CHARLES MOBBS DANIEL MOBLEY STEFAN S MOCANU LAWRENCE JMOCHJR JAMES M MOCK
JESUS MODESTO  NICHOLAS ALEXANDER MODISETTE  JACK C MOEHRING  CASEY L MOELLER MATTHEW L MOELLER = GREGORY EMOEN  APRILN MOERBE JOSHUA M MOERBE JOHN C MOESSNER  ROUT MOEUY
JENNIFER MOFFATT JASON A MOFFET JIMMY RAY MOFFETT JR DUSTE MOFFITT JEREMIAH MOFFITT JOSHUA MOFFITT DANIEL MOHAMED VICTORIA MOHAMED MOHAMMED T MOHAMED MOHIDEEN
MOHAMMED T MOHAMED MOHIDEEN A AFRAZ MOHAMMED AKEEF MOHAMMED AZAM MOHAMMED CHRYSAN MOHAMMED IMRAN MOHAMMED KEVIN MOHAMMED TEVIN MOHAMMED SELVA RAJ MOHAN RAJ YOGESH MOHITE
JULIAN MOJICA  RICARDO MOJICA RONALD P MOLANDES DANIEL C MOLDOVAN  NICHOLAS MOLE JESUS MOLINA  JUAN MOLINA  MARIEL ALEJANDRA MOLINA OMAR MOLINA  RICARDO MOLINA THOMAS A MOLINA
JOSE MOLINA GARCIA XIOMARA LISBETH MOLINA VELASCO CHRISTA L MOLITOR JONATHON M MOLITOR ERICH DIETER MOLLER FLORES BRANT ELLIOTT MOLLERS TRACEY MOLLNER DEREK E MOLNAR
JULIO P MONAGO ESPIRITU ALEJANDRO CALDERON MONARREZ ERNESTO JAVIER GARZA MONCADA CESAR ALONZO MONCADA GALVAN EXON A MONCADA GALVAN GERARDO E MONDACA DARREN MONDESIRE
GREG E MONDESIRE ANDY MONEY JASON E MONEY WILLIAM MONEY MARK E MONINGER JOSE MONIZ NICHOLAS J MONK JOSHUA D MONKS ALAN C MONROE LATRICIA B MONROE MARY E MONROE GABRIEL MONROY
GARTH MONSSON  TREVOR MONTAGUE  NICOLE MARIE MONTALTO  EDWIN MONTALVO  HECTOR D MONTALVO  JAVIER MONTALVO  SHAKIRA MONTAN  SANDRA MONTANEZ  ISAAC MONTANO  STEPHEN MONTANO
NORBERTO MONTEALEGRE KEVIN MONTEITH DANIEL MONTERO ADOLFO MONTES RUIZ LUIS ANGEL MONTES SOLIS WILLIAM F MONTEZ IIl ANTHONY E MONTGOMERY AUSTIN LUCAS MONTGOMERY
BREANNE YVETTE MONTGOMERY BRUCE MONTGOMERY CHRISTOPHER T MONTGOMERY CODY A MONTGOMERY COLTON JAKE MONTGOMERY CORY MONTGOMERY DAVID KEITH MONTGOMERY DEANNA MONTGOMERY
DUKE D MONTGOMERY EDGARDO MONTGOMERY ERIC D MONTGOMERY EVERETT L MONTGOMERY Il FLOYD MONTGOMERY GREGORY MONTGOMERY HAYDON F MONTGOMERY HUNTER D MONTGOMERY JACK H MONTGOMERY
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ALIJAH J ROOT ALDRIDGE DWIGHT ROPER DALLAS C ROPER GARLAND DWAYNE ROPER GREGORY B ROPER GREGORY L ROPER JUAN ROQUE ESTRELLA GREGORIO DANIEL ROQUE RIVERA ANIBAL ROSA JR ANTHONY ROSA JR
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AMY E RUTLAND  WILBERT ERUTLAND  ASHLEY M RUTLEDGE = GREGORY A RUTLEDGE  NICKIE J RUTLEDGE = STEPHEN MICHAEL RUTLEDGE = LARRY KOLE GREYSON RUTSCHMAN  JAVIER IZCOATL RUVALCABA ALCALA
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